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TRIAL OF SPECIAL CRIMES 

Soma Chakravarty vs. State through CBI1  

Hon’ble Judge: Markandey Katju 

Facts of the Case: 

In this case appeal has been filed against the judgment and order of the Delhi High Court 

dated in Criminal Revision Petition. 

The Criminal Revision Petition was filed in the High Court challenging the order of the 

Special Judge, Delhi in CBI vs. Priya Uppal & Ors., by which the appellant and two others had 

been charged for offences under Section 420 read with Sections 120-B, 429, 468 and 471 of 

Indian Penal Code as well as under various provisions of the Prevention of Corruption Act. The 

appellant along with the other accused in this case allegedly entered into a criminal conspiracy 

and by misusing their official position caused undue pecuniary advantage to themselves to the 

tune of Rs.30,30,057/- and caused a corresponding loss to the Indian Trade Promotion 

Organization (ITPO) which is a wing of the Central Government, from whose account money 

was released against bogus receipts of advertisements which had actually never been carried by 

any newspaper or other publication. 

On these facts, the CBI concluded that there was sufficient evidence of conspiracy to 

cheat along with the other evidence of forgery, cheating and corruption. Accordingly a charge 

sheet was filed. The trial court after examining the allegations and evidence collected by the 

investigation framed the impugned charges against the appellant Ms. Soma Chakravarty & Mr. 

P.K. Jindal. Against the framing of charges a criminal revision was filed in the High Court which 

dismissed the same by the impugned judgment. 

Held: 

On the point of conviction it was held by the Hon’ble Supreme Court that: 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
! "*#++(,"&"-.."%+$"
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ÒIt may be mentioned that the settled legal position, as mentioned in the above decisions, 

is that if on the basis of material on record the Court could form an opinion that the accused 

might have committed offence it can frame the charge, though for conviction the conclusion is 

required to be proved beyond reasonable doubt that the accused has committed the offence. At 

the time of framing of the charges the probative value of the material on record cannot be gone 

into, and the material brought on record by the prosecution has to be accepted as true at that 

stage. Before framing a charge the court must apply its judicial mind on the material placed on 

record and must be satisfied that the commitment of offence by the accused was possible. 

Whether, in fact, the accused committed the offence, can only be decided in the trialÓ 

Bhanwari Devi Murder Case 

Indira Solanki & Ors. vs. State of Rajasthan & Anr2 

Hon’ble Judges: T. S. Thakur and F. M. Ibrahim Kalifulla 

Facts of the Case: 

This is the famous murder trial in which Jat leader and former Rajasthan minister 

Mahipal Maderna, Congress MLA Malkhan Singh and Bhanwari's husband Amarchand were all 

part of the conspiracy to abduct and eliminate Bhanwari. While Maderna wanted the sleaze CD 

featuring him and Bhanwari at any cost, Malkhan Singh who allegedly fathered one of 

Bhanwari's daughters wanted to save his reputation. Bhanwari had threatened to expose 

Malkhan's relationship with her at the Bishnoi mahapanchayat. Bhanwari Devi's husband, 

Amarchand, was aware of the plans to abduct and kill her and was allegedly paid Rs.10 lakh by 

Malkhan Singh. Malkhan had instructed Amarchand to ensure that Bhanwari travelled to Bilwara 

, the scene of crime , alone. Amarchand did exactly as told - he faked a malfunction in the family 

car and sent Bhanawri with Sahi Ram to Bilwara. It was here that Sahi Ram and Shahabuddin 

allegedly killed Bhanwari and handed over her body to Bishna Ram's gang. The missing link was 

Bhanwari's body but CBI believes confessions of one of the accused will help it nail the case. 

Kailash Jhakhar, memeber of the gang which disposed Bhanwari's body has allegedly confessed 

that Bhanwari was murdered, her body burnt and her remains disposed off in a Rajasthan canal. 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
#"T.P.(CRL.) NO(s). 227 OF 2012 
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A gold locket belonging to Bhanwari has also been recovered at the instance of the accused and 

now with Bishnaram's arrest CBI is hopeful of cracking the case soon. Four months after she 

went missing, CBI claims to have finally joined the dots in the Bhanwari Devi murder case. 

The agency is likely to file a supplementary chargesheet in the case now with charges of 

murder slapped on both Maderna and Malkhan - giving more fodder to Opposition parties which 

have attacked the Gehlot government over this issue. Earlier, Amarchand had claimed that his 

youngest daughter had been fathered by the Luni MLA Malkhan Singh. 

Present Position: 

Maderna, Malkhan, the three kidnappers and Sahiram along with Amarchand have been arrested 

by the CBI. Amarchand is presently under judicial custody. 

Aarushi Talwar Murder Case 

Nupur Talwar vs. Cbi & Anr3 

Hon’ble Judges: A.K. Patnaik, Jagdish Singh Khehar 

Facts of the Case: 

The instant controversy emerges out of a double murder, committed on the night 

intervening 15-16.5.2008. On having found the body of Aarushi Talwar in her bedroom in the 

house in Noida, her father Dr. Rajesh Talwar got a first information report registered at Police 

Station in Noida, In the first information report Dr. Rajesh Talwar pointed the needle of 

suspicion at Hemraj, a domestic help in the household of the Talwars. On 17.5.2008 the dead 

body of Hemraj was recovered from the terrace of the same house in Noida, where Aarushi’s 

murder had also allegedly been committed. 

The initial investigation into the double murder was carried out by the U.P. Police. On 

29.5.2008 the State of Uttar Pradesh handed over the investigation to the Central Bureau of 

Investigation (hereinafter referred to as, the CBI), thereupon investigation was conducted by the 

CBI. 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
$"Review Petition (Crl.) No. 85 of 2012 in Criminal Appeal No. 68 of 2012"
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Held: 

The evidence based on which the conviction was made is quoted below - 

"From the evidence as tendered by the prosecution in form of oral and  documentary evidence 

this court reaches to the irresistible and  impeccable conclusion that only the accused persons are 

responsible for  committing this ghastly crime as the following circumstances unerringly  point 

towards the hypothesis of guilt of the accused," the 210-page  order said while pointing out 26 

circumstances leading to the  conviction. 

1. That on the fateful night of May 15 and 16, 2008 both the  accused were last seen with both 

the deceased in Flat No. L-32, Jalvayu  Vihar at about 9.30 P.M. By Umesh Sharma, the driver 

of Rajesh Talwar; 

2. That on the morning of May 16, 2008 at about 6.00 A.M. Aarushi  was found murdered in her 

bed-room which was adjacent to the bedroom of  the accused and there was only partition wall 

between two bed-rooms; 

3. That the dead body of the servant Hemraj was found lying in  the pool of blood on the terrace 

of flat no. L-32, Jalvayu Vihar on May  17, 2008 and the door of terrace was found locked from 

inside; 

4. That there is a close proximity between the point of time when  both the accused and the 

deceased persons were last seen together alive  and the deceased were murdered in the 

intervening night of May 15 and  16, 2008 and as such the time is so small that possibility of any 

other  person(s) other than the accused being the authors of the crime becomes  impossible; 

5. That the door of Aarushi's bed-room was fitted with automatic click-shut lock. Mahesh Kumar 

Mishra, the then S.P. (City), NOIDA has  deposed that when he talked to Rajesh Talwar on May 

16, 2008 in the  morning, he had told him that in the preceding night at about 11.30 P.M.  he had 

gone to sleep with the key after locking the door of Aarushi's  bed-room from outside. Both the 

accused have admitted that door of  Aarushi's bed-room was having automatic-clickshut lock like 

that of a  hotel, which could not be opened from outside without key but could be  opened from 

inside without key. No explanation has been offered by the  accused as to how the lock of  

Aarushi's room was opened and by whom.  
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6. That the internet remained active in the night of the gory  incident suggesting that at least one 

of the accused remained awake; 

7. That there is nothing to show that an outsider(s) came inside the house in the said night after 

9.30 P.M.; 

8. That there was no disruption in the supply of electricity in that night; 

9. That no person was seen loitering near the flats in suspicious circumstances during that night; 

10. That there is no evidence of forcible entry of any outsider(s) in the flat in the night of 

occurrence; 

11. That there is no evidence of any larcenous act in the flat; 

12. That in the morning of May 16, 2008 when the maid came to the  flat for the purpose of 

cleaning and mopping, a false pretext was made  by Nupur Talwar that door might have been 

locked from outside by the  servant Hemraj although it was not locked or latched from outside; 

13. That the house maid Bharti Mandal has nowhere stated that when she came inside the flat 

both the accused were found weeping; 

14. That from the testimony of Bharti Mandal it is manifestly  clear that when she reached the 

flat and talked to Nupur Talwar then at  that time she had not complained about the murder of 

her daughter and  rather she told the maid deliberately that Hemraj might have gone to  fetch 

milk from Mother dairy after locking the wooden door from outside.  This lack of spontaneity is 

relevant under section 8 of the Evidence  Act; 

15. That the clothes of both the accused were not found soaked  with blood. It is highly unnatural 

that parents of deceased Aarushi will  not cling to and hug her on seeing her murdered; 

16. That no outsider(s) will dare to take Hemraj to the terrace  in severely injured condition and 

thereafter search out a lock to be  placed in the door of the terrace; 

17. That it is not possible that an outsider(s) after committing  the murders will muster courage to 

take Scotch whisky knowing that the  parents of the deceased Aarushi are in the nearby room and 

his top  priority will be to run away from the crime scene immediately.  
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18. That no outsider will bother to take the body of Hemraj to  the terrace. Moreover, a single 

person cannot take the body to the  terrace; 

19. That the door of the terrace was never locked prior to the  occurrence but it was found locked 

in the morning of May 16, 2008 and  the accused did not give the key of the lock to the police 

despite being  asked to give the same; 

20. That the accused have taken plea in the statements under  section 313 Cr.P.C. that about 8-10 

days before the occurrence painting  of cluster had started and the navvies used to take water 

from water  tank placed on the terrace of the flat and then Hemraj had started  locking the door of 

the terrace and the key of that lock remained with  him. If it was so then it was not easily 

possible for an outsider to  find out the key of the lock of terrace door; 

21. That if an outsider(s) may have committed the crime in  question after locking the door of 

terrace and had gone out of the flat  then the outer most mesh door or middle mesh door must 

have been found  latched from outside; 

22. That the motive of commission of the crime has been established; 

23. That it is not possible that after commission of the crime an outsider(s) will dress-up the 

crime scene; 

24. That golf-club no.5 was thrown in the loft after commission of the crime and the same was 

produced after many months by the accused  Rajesh Talwar; 

25. That pattern of head and neck injuries of both the accused persons are almost similar in 

nature and can be caused by golf-club and  scalpel respectively; 

26. That the accused Rajesh Talwar was a member of the Golf-Club NOIDA and golfclubs were 

produced by him before the CBI and scalpel is  used by the dentists and both the accused are 

dentists by profession; 

Santosh Kumar Singh vs. State through CBI4 

Priyadarshini Mattoo Murder Case 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
%"( 2010)9SCC747 
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Hon’ble Judges: Harjit Singh Bedi, Chandramauli Kr. Prasad 

Facts of the case: 

Priyadarshini Mattoo was a 25 year old law student, who was found raped and murdered 

at her house in New Delhi on 23 January, 1996. Priyadarshini finished her school from Srinagar 

thereafter her family migrated to Jammu. After completing her B Com from Jammu she joined 

Delhi University for her LL.B. course. She had lodged several complaints of harassment, 

intimidation and stalking against the accused Santosh Kumar Singh who was also a student of 

LL.B. in campus Law Centre, Faculty of Law, University of Delhi. The accused had passed 

LL.B. from University of Delhi from the said Campus Law Centre in December, 1994. 

Repetitive complaints made by the deceased turned out to be completely futile in as much 

as it failed to deter the accused who continued to harass her. Despite the earlier two undertakings 

given by the accused subsequent to the complaints registered against him by the deceased at the 

R.K. Puram and Vasant Kunj Police Station on 25 February,1995 and 16 August.,1995 

respectively, on 06 November.,1995, he again tried to harass the deceased at the Campus Law 

Centre. After this an FIR under section 354 of Indian Penal Code (IPC), 1860 was lodged against 

him at the Maurice Nagar Police Station for which he was arrested and subsequently released on 

personal bond. The deceased had also filed a complaint dated 27 October, 1995 to the Dean, 

Faculty of Law, and Campus Law Centre stating harassment. The accused was advised to desist 

from such activities .Infact the gravity of the matter was such that the deceased was advised to 

meet the Deputy Commissioner of Police (South West) to whom she complained against the 

accused upon which, a Personal Security Officer was provided to the deceased. 

As a result of these, on 30 October ,1995 the anguished accused out of vindictiveness 

made frivolous complaints to the authorities at the Delhi University against the deceased that she 

was concurrently pursuing two courses at the same time. Because of this, the result of the 

deceased was withheld by the university which issued show cause notice to which she was to 

reply at the earliest. The accused followed the matter against the deceased in his personal 

capacity. In her explanation, the deceased claimed that she had completed her M.Com in 1991 

and was yet to appear in her LL.B. III year exam, thereby refuting the charges levied against her. 

She also reiterated harassment by the accused for the past one and a half years from then. On the 
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fateful day of the murder when the deceased was alone at her residence at B-10/7098, Vasant 

Kunj the accused came at her house. On the arrival of the security guard Rajinder Singh at the 

deceased’s residence it was found that Priyadarshini Mattoo was lying under the double bed and 

there was no movement of her body. Thus an FIR under Section 302 of Indian Penal Code (IPC) 

was lodged at his instance at the Vasant Kunj Police Station. In the statement recorded under 

Section 161 of Cr.P.C. Rajeshwari Mattoo, the mother of the deceased had suspected the accused 

and therefore he was joined in the investigation. 

In the Trial Court: 

The matter was taken up by the Delhi Police but there after on a request placed by C.L. 

Mattoo; the deceased’s father the case was handed over to Central Bureau of Investigation (CBI) 

on 25 January, 1996. After a thorough investigation made by CBI into the matter, on 11 April, 

1996, the Central Agency filed charge sheet against Santosh Kumar Singh. The accused was 

challaned in accordance with law. Thereafter the case came up for hearing and the then 

Additional Sessions Judge, S.C.Mittal was pleased to frame charges under Sections 302 and 376 

of IPC. The accused pleaded not guilty to the charges and claimed trial. On 11 August, 1997 the 

trial began. On 3 January, 1998 in all; as many as fifty witnesses were examined in the court. 

After taking into account all the circumstantial and documentary evidence produced by the 

prosecution, the trial court on 3 December, 1999 acquitted the accused giving him a benefit of 

doubt stating that the CBI had failed to correctly produce the evidence and had acted in an unfair 

manner. Furthermore, it was pointed out that the DNA report presented by the CBI was 

fabricated sand therefore, inadmissible in the eyes of law in view of Section 45 of the Indian 

Evidence Act, 1872. 

In the High Court: 

The trial court judgement took everyone by surprise more so when the trial court was 

convinced that there was no doubt in the prosecution case. The judgement was erroneous on the 

face of it in as much as the trial court had itself observed that, “the DNA finger printing report 

conclusively establishes the guilt of the accused.” Therefore, in view of the fallacious decision 

followed by subsequent huge public outcry, on 29 February, 2000 the CBI filed an appeal in the 
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Delhi High Court. It was only after six years that the High Court heard the matter on a day to day 

basis. 

The High Court too shuddered at G.P. Thareja’s verdict, it said, “By acquitting the 

respondent despite being convinced that there was no doubt in the prosecution case, the trial 

court has mauled justice, and its decision has shocked the judicial conscience of the court.”  

On 17 October, 2006 the High Court overturned the trial court verdict of seven years ago 

and Justice R.S. Sodhi and P.K. Bhasin patted CBI, the same agency that had lost its case in the 

lower court, for proving Santosh Kumar Singh’s guilt “beyond any doubt by unimpeachable 

evidence.”On 30 October, 2006 the Delhi High Court convicted the accused for the commission 

of offences punishable under Sections 302 and 376 of Indian Penal Code and sentenced him to 

death. 

In the Supreme Court: 

On 19 February, 2007 the accused Santosh Kumar Singh preferred an appeal in the 

Supreme Court against the award of death sentence by the Delhi High Court. On 6 October, 2010 

the Bench comprising Justices H.S. Bedi and C.K. Prasad upheld the conviction of Santosh 

Kumar Singh in the fourteen year old Priyadarshini Mattoo rape and murder case. It, however, 

reduced the punishment of death sentence to life imprisonment saying that certain things were in 

favour of the appellant. The Bench opined that, “the balance sheet was in favour of Santosh 

Kumar Singh and the ends of justice would be met if Santosh Kumar Singh’s death penalty is 

commuted to life imprisonment.” 

Balance sheet of aggravating and mitigating factors has been elucidated both in Bachan 

Singh’s (Bachan Singh Vs. State of Punjab 1980)5 and Machhi Singh’s (Machhi Singh Vs. 

State of Punjab)6 case. Guidelines have been indicated by the Supreme Court as to when this 

extreme sentence should be awarded and when not. In short, a balance-sheet of aggravating and 

mitigating circumstances has to be drawn up and in doing so, the mitigating circumstances have 

to be accorded full weightage and a just balance has to be struck between the aggravating and 

mitigating circumstances before the option is exercised to award one sentence or the other. The 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
5  AIR 1980 SC 898 
6  MANU/SC/0111/1980 
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“rarest of the rare doctrine” was laid down in these cases which provide that life imprisonment is 

the rule and death sentence constitutes an exception to the rule. 

(Kerala Naxal Encounter Case) 

P.Vijayan v. State Of Kerala & Anr7  

Hon’ble Judges: P. Sathasivam, H.L. Dattu 

Held: 

In this case Hon’ble Supreme Court held that, Section 227 in the new Code confers 

special power on the Judge to discharge an accused at the threshold if upon consideration of the 

records and documents, he find that "there is not sufficient ground" for proceeding against the 

accused. In other words, his consideration of the record and document at that stage is for the 

limited purpose of ascertaining whether or not there is sufficient ground for proceeding against 

the accused. If the Judge comes to a conclusion that there is sufficient ground to proceed, he will 

frame a charge under Section 228, if not, he will discharge the accused. This provision was 

introduced in the Code to avoid wastage of public time which did not disclose a prima facie case 

and to save the accused from avoidable harassment and expenditure. 

In the case on hand, though, the learned Trial Judge has not assigned detailed reasons for 

dismissing the discharge petition filed under Section 227, it is clear from his order that after 

consideration of the relevant materials charge had been framed for offence under Section 302 

read with Section 34 IPC and because of the same, he dismissed the discharge petition. After 

evaluating the materials produced by the prosecution and after considering the probability of the 

case, the Judge being satisfied by the existence of sufficient grounds against the appellant and 

another accused framed a charge. Whether the materials at the hands of the prosecution are 

sufficient or not are matters for trial. At this stage, it cannot be claimed that there is no sufficient 

ground for proceeding against the appellant and discharge is the only remedy. Further, whether 

the trial will end in conviction or acquittal is also immaterial. All these relevant aspects have 

been carefully considered by the High Court and it rightly affirmed the order passed by the Trial 

Judge dismissing the discharge petition filed by A3-appellant herein. We fully agree with the 

said conclusion. 
"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
( ""Criminal Appeal No. 192 OF 2010 (Arising out of S.L.P. (Crl.) No. 4708 of 2007) 
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It is made clear that we have not expressed anything on the merits of the claim made by 

both the parties and the conclusion of the High Court as well as this Court are confined only for 

disposal of the discharge petition filed by the appellant under Section 227 of the Code. It is for 

the prosecution to establish its charge and the Trial Judge is at liberty to analyze and to arrive at 

an appropriate conclusion, one way or the other, in accordance with law. 
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FRAMING OF CHARGES BY CBI COURTS: PROVISIONS UNDER CR.P.C 

Introduction: 

There is some criticism in some trial courts that the important task of framing charge is 

being entrusted to stenos by the trial judges. A fortiori, inasmuch as the Supreme Court laid 

down that the purpose of framing a charge is to give intimation to the accused of clear, 

unambiguous and precise notice of the nature of accusation that the accused is called upon to 

meet in the course of a trial.8 

The purpose of framing a charge is to give intimation to the accused of clear, 

unambiguous and precise notice of the nature of accusation that the accused is called upon to 

meet in the course of a trial.9 Either it is a warrant case or a summons case, the point is that a 

prima facie case must be made out before a charge can be framed. Basically, there are three pairs 

of sections in the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973. Those are Sections 227 and 228 which 

relating to sessions trial; Sections 239 and 240 relatable to trial of warrant cases; and Sections 

245(1) and (2) qua trial of summons cases. The Hon’ble Supreme Court, in Mohan Singh v. 

State of Bihar10, has examined the law relating to charge while highlighting the purpose of 

framing a charge against the accused in criminal cases. 

Strict Comply Of Section 226 Of Cr.P.C: 

Trial Judge must insist the prosecution to comply with section 226 of Cr.P.C. if this be 

done, accused can be discharged in case of there is no prima facie case. Thus, arrears of cases 

can be cleared quickly. 

Before invoking provisions of Sections 227 and 228 dealing with trials before the Court 

of Session, Courts shall take note of Section 226 which obliges the prosecution to describe the 

charge brought against the accused and state by what evidence the guilt of the accused would be 

proved. 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
8Y.Srinivasa Rao, “Framing of Charge In Criminal Cases”. 
9 See V.C. Shukla v. State Through C.B.I.,1980 Supplementary SCC 92 at page 150 and paragraph 110 of the report 
10( Criminal Appeal No.663 of 2010) 
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In Satish Mehra v. Delhi Administration and Another11, a two judge Bench judgment, it 

was observed that if the accused succeeds in producing any reliable material at the stage of 

taking cognizance or framing of charge which might fatally affect even the very sustainability of 

the case, it is unjust to suggest that no such material should be looked into by the court at that 

stage. It was held that the object of providing an opportunity to the accused of making 

submissions as envisaged in Section 227 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973 (for short, 'the 

Code') is to enable the court to decide whether it is necessary to proceed to conduct the trial. If 

the materials produced by the accused even at that early stage would clinch the issue, why should 

the court shut it out saying that such documents need be produced only after wasting a lot more 

time in the name of trial proceedings. It was further observed that there is nothing in the Code 

which shrinks the scope of such audience to oral arguments and, therefore, the trial court would 

be within its power to consider even material which the accused may produce at the stage 

contemplated in Section 227 of the Code. 

The Hon’ble Supreme Court in the above case 12essayed on the rationale of Section 226 and 

section 227 thus: 

Section 226 of the Code obliges the prosecution to describe the charge brought against 

the accused and to state by what evidence the guilt of the accused would be proved. The Next 

provisions enjoins on the Session Judge to decide whether there is sufficient ground to proceed 

against the accused. In so deciding the Judge has to consider (1) the record of the case and (2) the 

documents produced therewith. He has then to hear the submissions of the accused as well as the 

prosecution on the limited question whether there is sufficient ground to proceed. 

The object of providing such an opportunity as is envisaged in Section 227 of the code is 

to enable the Court to decide whether it is necessary to proceed to conduct the trial. If the case 

ends there it gains a lot of time of the Court and saves much human efforts and cost. If the 

materials produced by the accused even at that early stage would clinch the issue, why should the 

Court shut it out saying that such documents need be produced only after wasting a lot more time 

in the name of trial proceedings. Hence, we are of the view that Sessions Judge would be within 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
11 (1996) 9 SCC 766"
!# "Supra, at Note 4."
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his powers to consider even material which the accused may produce at the stage contemplated 

in Section 227 of the Code. 

The Hon’ble Apex Court, in the same ruling examined the purpose of Section 239 and 

observed: 

Similar situation arise under Section 239 of the Code (which deals with trial of warrant 

cases on police report). In that situation the Magistrate has to afford the prosecution and the 

accused an opportunity of being heard besides considering the police report and the documents 

sent therewith. At these two State the Code enjoins on the Court to give audience to the accused 

for deciding whether it is necessary to proceed to the next State. It is a matter of exercise of 

judicial mind. There is nothing in the code which shrinks the scope of such audience to oral 

arguments. If the accused succeeds in producing any reliable material at that stage which might 

fatally affect even the very sustainability of the case, it is unjust to suggest that no such material 

shall be looked into by the Court at that stage. Here the "ground" may be any valid ground 

including insufficiency of evidence to prove charge. 

Reasons For Charge: 

It is seminal to refer the ruling State of Maharashtra vs. Som Nath Thapa,13 In this 

ruling, it was observed as: ‘before adverting to what was stated in Antulay's case, let the view 

expressed in State of Karnataka vs. L. Muniswamy),14be noted. Therein, Chandrachud, J. 

speaking for a three Judge Bench stated that at the stage of framing charge the Court has to apply 

its mind to the question whether or not there is any ground for presuming the commission of the 

offence by the accused. As framing of charge affects a person's liberty substantially, need for 

proper consideration of material warranting such order was emphasised.’ In one of the case 

under TADA, the Hon’ble Apex Court held that the Designated Court should give reasons for 

framing charges because framing of charges substantially affects the liberty of the person 

concerned. 

Relevant cases: 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
13 (1996) 4 SCC 659 
14 1977 (3) SCR 113, pg 119. 



##"
"

V.C. Shukla v. State Through C.B.I15 

Hon’ble Judges: A.N. Sen, D.A. Desai, P.N. Singhal and S. Murtaza Fazal Ali, JJ. 

In the ruling of a four-Judge Bench of The Hon’ble Supreme Court in V.C. Shukla v. 

State Through C.B.I, Justice Desai delivering a concurring opinion, opined that ‘the purpose of 

framing a charge is to give intimation to the accused of clear, unambiguous and precise notice of 

the nature of accusation that the accused is called upon to meet in the course of a trial’. 

Issues: 

1. How To Interpret The Words In A Charge? 

2. What To Be Done, If There Is Any Error In The Framing Of The Charge? 

Held: 

In this Case Hon’ble Supreme Court referred to the provision of Section 214 of the Code. 

Section 214 of the Code is set out below: 

Section 214- Words in charge taken in sense of law under which offence is punishable. In 

every charge words used in describing an offence shall be deemed to have been used in the sense 

attached to them respectively by the law under which such offence is punishable." 

The other relevant provisions relating to charge may be noticed as under: 

Section 211 - Contents of charge.-  

(1) Every charge under this Code shall state the offence with which the accused is   

charged.  

(2) If the law which creates the offence gives it any specific name, the offence may be 

described in the charge by that name only. 

(3) If the law which creates the offence does not give it any specific name, so much of the 

definition of the offence must be stated as to give the accused notice of the matter with which he 

is charged. 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
15 1980 Suppl SCC 92"
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(4) The law and section of the law against which the offence is said to have been 

committed shall be mentioned in the charge. 

 

(5) The fact that the charge is made is equivalent to a statement that every legal condition 

required by law to constitute the offence charged was fulfilled in the particular case. 

(6) The charge shall be written in the language of the Court. 

(7) If the accused, having been previously convicted of any offence, is liable, by reason 

of such previous conviction, to enhanced punishment, or to punishment of a different 

kind, for a subsequent offence, and it is intended to prove such previous conviction for 

the purpose of affecting the punishment which the Court may think fit to award for the 

subsequent offence, the fact date and place of the previous conviction shall be stated in 

the charge; and if such statement has been omitted, the Court may add it at any time 

before sentence is passed. 

Section- 215. Effect of errors. No error in stating either the offence or the particulars 

required to be stated in the charge, and no omission to state the offence or those particulars, shall 

be regarded at any stage of the case as material, unless the accused was in fact misled by such 

error or omission, and it has occasioned a failure of justice. 

Section- 464. Effect of omission to frame, or absence of, or error in, charge. (1) No 

finding sentence or order by a Court of competent jurisdiction shall be deemed invalid merely on 

the ground that no charge was framed or on the ground of any error, omission or irregularity in 

the charge including any misjoinder of charges, unless, in the opinion of the Court of appeal, 

confirmation or revision, a failure of justice has in fact been occasioned thereby. 

(2) If the Court of appeal, confirmation or revision is of opinion that a failure of justice has in 

fact been occasioned, it may- 

(a) in the case of an omission to frame a charge, order that a charge be framed and that the trial 

be recommenced from the point immediately after the framing of the charge; 

(b) in the case of an error, omission or irregularity in the charge, direct a new trial to be had upon 

a charge framed in whatever manner it thinks fit: 
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Provided that if the Court is of opinion that the facts of the case are such that no valid 

charge could be preferred against the accused in respect of the facts proved, it shall quash the 

conviction; 

While examining the aforesaid provisions, we may keep in mind the principles laid down 

by Justice Vivian Bose in Willie (William) Slaney v. State of Madhya Pradesh 16the learned 

judge observed:- ;We see no reason for straining at the meaning of these plain and emphatic 

provisions unless ritual and form are to be regarded as of the essence in criminal trials. We are 

unable to find any magic or charm in the ritual of a charge. It is the substance of these provisions 

that count and not their outward form. To hold otherwise is only to provide avenues of escape for 

the guilty and afford no protection to the innocent."17 

The aforesaid observation of Justice Vivian Bose in William Slaney has been expressly 

approved subsequently by this Court in V.C. Shukla. 

Reference in this connection may be made to the decision of this Court in the case of 

Tulsi Ram and others v. State of Uttar Pradesh18. In that case in paragraph 12 this Court was 

considering these aspects of the matter and made it clear that a complaint about the charge was 

never raised at any earlier stage and the learned Judges came to the conclusion that the charge 

was fully understood by the appellants in that case and they never complained at the appropriate 

stage that they were confused or bewildered by the charge. The said thing is true here. Therefore, 

the Court refused to accept any grievance relating to error in the framing of the charge. 

Subsequently, in the case of State of Andhra Pradesh v. Cheemalapati Ganeswara Rao 

and another, 19 this Court also had to consider a similar grievance. Both in the case of Tulsi Ram 

as also in the case of Cheemalapati the charges were of conspiracy. The same is also a charge in 

the instant case. Repelling the said grievance, the learned Judges held that the object in saying 

what has been set out in the first charge was only to give notice to the accused as to the ambit of 

the conspiracy to which they will have to answer and nothing more. This Court held that even 

assuming for a moment that the charge is cumbersome but in the absence of any objection at the 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
16 (1955) 2 SCR 1140. page 1165  
17 Supra, at Note 8, para 17-19. 
18 AIR 1963 SC 666 
19 AIR 1963 SC 1850"
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proper time and in the absence of any material from which the Court can infer prejudice, such 

grievances are precluded by reason of provision of Section 225 of the Cr.P.C. Under the present 

Code it is Section 215 which has been quoted above. 

Reference in this connection may also be made in the decision of this Court in 

Rawalpenta Venkalu and another v. The State of Hyderabad20. The learned Judges came to the 

conclusion that although Section 34 is not added to Section 302, the accused had clear notice that 

they were being charged with the offence of committing murder in pursuance of their common 

intention. Therefore, the omission to mention Section 34 in the charge has only an academic 

significance and has not in any way misled the accused. In the instant case the omission of 

charge of Section 302 has not in any way misled the accused inasmuch as it is made very clear 

that in the charge that he agreed with the others to commit the murder of Anil Jha. Following the 

aforesaid ratio there is no doubt that in the instant case from the evidence led by the prosecution 

the charge of murder has been brought home against the appellant. 

In K. Prema S. Rao and another v. Yadla Srinivasa Rao and others21 this Court held 

that though the charge specifically under Section 306 IPC was not framed but all the ingredients 

constituting the offence were mentioned in the statement of charges and in paragraph 22 at page 

226 of the report, a three-Judge Bench of this Court held that mere omission or defect in framing 

of charge does not disable the criminal court from convicting the accused for the offence which 

is found to have been proved on the evidence on record. The learned Judges held that provisions 

of Section 221 Cr.P.C. takes care of such a situation and safeguards the powers of the criminal 

court to convict an accused for an offence with which he is not charged although on facts found 

in evidence he could have been charged with such offence. The learned Judges have also referred 

to Section 215 of the Cr.P.C., set out above, in support of their contention. 

Sajjan Kumar v. C.B.I22 

Hon’ble Judges: P. Sathasivam, Anil R. Dave 

Facts of the Case: 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
20 AIR 1956 SC 171 
21 (2003) 1 SCC 217 
22 MANU/DE/1708/2010"
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The present case arises out of 1984 anti-Sikh Riot cases in which thousands of Sikhs 

were killed. Delhi Police has made this case a part of FIR No. 416 of 1984 registered at Police 

Station Delhi Cantt. In this FIR, 24 complaints were investigated pertaining to more than 60 

deaths in the area. As many as 5 charge-sheets were filed by Delhi Police relating to 5 deaths 

which resulted in acquittals. One supplementary charge-sheet about robbery, rioting etc. was also 

filed which also ended in acquittal. The investigation pertaining to the death of family members 

of Smt. Jagdish Kaur PW-1, was reopened by the anti-Riot Cell of Delhi Police in the year 2002 

and after investigation, a Closure Report was filed in the Court on 15/22.12.2005. 

After filing of the Closure Report in the present case, on 31.07.2008, a Status Report was 

filed by the Delhi Police before the Metropolitan Magistrate, Patiala House Court, New Delhi. 

Pursuant to the recommendation of Justice Nanavati Commission, the Government of India 

entrusted the investigation to the Central Bureau of Investigation (hereinafter referred to as 

"CBI") on 24.10.2005. On receipt of the said communication, the respondent-CBI registered a 

formal FIR on 22.11.2005. The Closure Report was filed by Delhi Police on 

15.12.2005/22.12.2005, when a case had already been registered by the CBI on 22.11.2005 and 

the documents had already been transferred to the respondent-CBI. 

After fresh investigation, CBI filed charge-sheet bearing No. 1/2010 in the present case 

on 13.01.2010. After committal, charges were framed on 15.05.2010. At the same time, the 

appellant has also filed a petition for discharge raising various grounds in support of his claim. 

Since he was not successful before the Special Court, he filed a revision before the High Court 

and by the impugned order dated 19.07.2010, after finding no merit in the case of the appellant, 

the High Court dismissed his criminal revision and directed the Trial Court for early completion 

of the trial since the same is pending from 1984.. 

Held: 

The scope of the enquiry that the Court is required to undertake at the stage of 

consideration of the aspect of framing of charge and the approach that the Court should adopt is 

well settled by a catena of decisions of the Supreme Court. At the stage of framing the charge, 

the Court has to prima facie consider whether there is sufficient ground for proceeding against 

the accused. The Court is not required to appreciate the evidence for arriving at a conclusion that 
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the materials produced are sufficient or not for convicting the accused. If the Court is satisfied 

that a prima facie case is made out for proceeding further, then the charge has to be framed. The 

charge can be quashed if the evidence which the prosecutor proposes to adduce to prove the guilt 

of the accused, even if fully accepted before it is challenged by the cross examination or rebutted 

by defence evidence, if any, cannot show that the accused committed a particular offence. In 

such a case, there would be no sufficient ground for proceeding with the trial. At the stage of 

framing of charge, the enquiry must necessarily be limited to decide if the facts emerging from 

the materials on record constitute the offence with which the accused could be charged. The 

Court may peruse the record for that limited purpose, but it is not required to martial it with a 

view to decide the reliability thereof. The Court is required to evaluate the material and 

documents on record with a view to find out the if the facts emerging there from taken at their 

face value disclosed the existence of all the ingredients Constituting the alleged offence. For this 

limited purpose, the Court may sift the evidence as it cannot be expected even at the initial stage 

to accept all that the prosecution states as the gospel truth, even if it is opposed to common sense 

or the broad probabilities of the case.23 

Consequently, if on the basis of the material on record, the Court could form an 

opinion that the accused might have committed the offence, it can frame the charge. Though 

for conviction, the conclusion is required to be proved beyond reasonable doubt that the 

accused has committed the offence. 

At the time of framing of the charge, the probative value of the material on record 

cannot be gone into and the material brought on record by the prosecution has to be accepted 

as true at that stage. Before framing the charge, the Court must apply its judicial mind to the 

material placed on record and must be satisfied that the commitment of offence by the accused 

was possible. Whether, in fact, the accused committed the offence, can only be decided at the 

trial.24 

State of M.P Vs. S.B. Johari and others25 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
23 Supra, at Note 15. Para 15. 
24 Supra, at Note 15, Para 17. 
25 2000 SCC(Cri) 311)"
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Hon’ble Judges: K.T.Thomas, M.B.Shah 

In a significant judgement, the Supreme Court has held that at the stage of framing the charge, 

the court has to prima facie consider whether there was sufficient ground for proceeding 

against the accused. It cannnot appreciate evidence to arrive at a conclusion in the matter. 

Facts of the Case: 

The prosecution alleged that the Dean, the Superintendent, the Medical–Officer-in-

Charge of the Stores, and the Accountant of S.G. Cancer Hospital, Indore, in criminal 

conspiracy with M/s. Allied Medicine Agency, Indore, purchased medicines for the hospital 

by misusing their official position and using forged documents and caused wrongful loss to the 

Government. It was further alleged that on the basis of bogus vouchers, payments were made 

for even those items which were not actually purchased. On the basis of material on record, it 

was pointed out that some medicines were purchased at Jabalpur at roughly half the price. 

The Sessions Judge framed the charge after considering the material on record. 

However, that charge was quashed by the High Court by accepting the contention raised by the 

respondents and considering the details of the material produced. According to the High Court, 

the role of the Medical Officer-in-Charge was limited to the preparation of comparative 

statements of tenders and the other two persons were members of the Purchase Committee. 

They arrived at a conclusion that comparison of variation in prices at different places at 

different periods on the basis of separate transactions between different persons could not 

straight away be made the basis for alleging corruption charges against the accused.  

Held: 

The Court held that as the medicines were purchased from two places at different 

periods, there would be a possibility of price difference. With regard to the Dean and the 

Superintendent, the Court observed that they were not shown to have any control over the 

purchase of the items and, therefore, they could not be saddled with the criminal prosecution. 

The quotations given by the accused firm were genuine. With regard to the Accountant, the 

High Court observed that he prepared the bills for making payment to the company as per the 
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instructions of his superiors. He was neither empowered to place orders nor competent to 

make payment thereof, unless the same was approved by the doctors who were actually 

incharge of the hospital. Therefore, the High Court allowed the appeal as according to them, 

there was no sufficient material available for framing the charge. 

The Supreme Court held that the entire approach of the High Court was illegal and 

erroneous and it appeared as if the Court was deciding the case as to whether the accused were 

guilty or not. It was done without considering the allegations of conspiracy relating to the charge 

under section 120B. In most of the cases, it was only from the available circumstantial evidence 

that an inference of conspiracy was to be drawn. Further, the High Court failed to consider that 

the medicines were normally sold at a fixed price and in any set of circumstances, it was for the 

prosecution to lead necessary evidence at the time of trial to establish its case that purchase of 

medicines for the Cancer Hospital at Indore was at a much higher price than the prevailing 

market rate. Moreover, non-joining of two remaining members to the purchase committee could 

not be a ground for quashing the charge. They further observed that the High Court erroneously 

considered the alleged statement of the manufacturing company that quotations given by them 

were genuine without there being any cross examination. The High Court ignored the allegation 

that many of the items were purchased and the amount was paid on bogus vouchers. The 

Supreme Court observed that the High Court instead of considering the prima facie case, 

appreciated and weighed the material on record for coming to the conclusion that charge against 

the respondent could not have been framed. It is a settled law that at the stage of framing charge, 

the Court has to prima facie consider whether there is sufficient ground for proceeding against 

the accused. The court was not required to appreciate the evidence and arrive at the conclusion 

that the materials produced were sufficient or not for convicting the accused. Therefore, the 

Supreme Court held that there was no justifiable reason for the High Court to quash the charge 

framed by the trial court 

 

Union Of India vs Prafulla Kumar Samal & Anr26 

Hon’ble Judges: Fazalali, Syed Murtaza 

Facts of the Case: 
"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
#' "1979 AIR 366"
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The facts of the case lie within a narrow compass and centre round an alleged conspiracy 

said to have been entered into between respondents No. 1 and 2 in order to commit offences 

under sections 5(2) and 5(1)(d) of the Prevention of Corruption Act (hereinafter referred to as the 

Act) read with section 120-B I.P.C. The main charge against the respondents was that between 

19-2-1972 to 30-3-1972 the respondent entered into an agreement For the purpose of obtaining 

pecuniary advantage for respondent No. 1 P. K. Samal and in pursuance of the said conspiracy 

the second respondent Debi Prasad Jena, who was the Land Acquisition officer aided and abetted 

the first respondent in getting a huge sum of money for a land acquired by the Government 

which in fact belonged to the Government itself and respondent No. 1 was a skew thereof. It is 

averred in the chargesheet that respondent No. 1 by abusing his official position concealed the 

fact that the land which was the subject matter of acquisition and was situated in Cuttack 

Cantonment was really Khasmahal land belonging to the Government and having made it appear 

that he was the undisputed owner of the same, got a compensation of Rs. 4,18,642.55. The 

charge-sheet contains a number of circumstances from which the inference of the conspiracy is 

sought to be drawn by the police. After the charge-sheet was submitted before the Special Judge, 

the prosecution ousted him to frame a charge against the respondents.  

The Special Judge, Puri after having gone through the charge-sheet and statements made 

by the witnesses before the police as also other documents came to the conclusion that there was 

no sufficient ground for framing a charge against the respondents and he accordingly discharged 

them under section 227 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973 The Special Judge has given 

cogent reasons for passing the order of discharge. The appellant went up to the High Court in 

revision against the order of the Special Judge refusing to frame the charge, but the High Court 

dismissed the revision petition filed by the appellant and maintained the order of discharge 

passed by the Special Judge. Thereafter the appellant moved this Court by application for special 

leave which having been granted to the appellant, the appeal is now set for hearing before us. 

Held: 

Before interpreting and analysing the provisions of section 227 of the Code so far as pure 

sessions trials are concerned, two important facts may be mentioned. In the first place, the Code 

has introduced substantial and far reaching changes in the Code of 1898 as amended in 1955 in 
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order to cut out delays and simplify the procedure, has dispersed with the procedure for 

commitment enquiries referred to m section 206 to 213 of the Code, of 1898 and has made 

commitment more or less a legal formality. Under the previous Code of 1898 the Magistrate was 

enjoined to take evidence of the prosecution witnesses after giving opportunity to the accused to 

cross-examine the witnesses 2nd was then required to hear the parties and to commit the acceded 

to the Court of Session unless he chose to act under section 209 and found that there was no 

sufficient ground for committing the accused person for trial. Under the Code the Committing 

Magistrate has been authorised to peruse the evidence and the documents produced by the police 

and commit the case straightaway to the Sessions Court if the case is one which is exclusively 

triable by the Sessions Court. Thus, it would appear that the legislature while dispensing with the 

procedure for commitment enquiry under the Code of 1898 has conferred a dual responsibility on 

the Trial Judge who has first to examine the case on the basis of the statement of witnesses 

recorded by the police and the documents filed with a view to find out whether a prima facie case 

for trial has been made out and then if such a case is made out to proceed to try the same.  

In our view the legislature has adopted this course in order to avoid frivolous 

prosecutions and prevent the accused from being tried of an offence on materials which do not 

furnish a reasonable probability of conviction. In the instant case, as the offences alleged to have 

been committed by the respondents fall within the provisions of the Act, the Special Judge has 

been substituted for the Sessions Judge, the procedure of the Sessions Court having been applied 

fully to the trial of such cases. Thus, it is manifest that the accused has not only one opportunity 

and that too before the Sessions Judge for showing that no case for trial had been made out. This 

was obviously done to expedite the disposal of the criminal cases. 

Secondly, it would appear that under section 209 of the Code of 1898 the question of 

discharge was to be considered by a Magistrate. This power has now been entrusted to a senior 

Judge, namely, the Sessions Judge who is to conduct the trial himself and who has to decide 

before commencing the trial as to whether or not charges should be framed in a particular case 

against the respondents The discretion, therefore, is to be exercised by a senior and more 

experienced Judge so as to exclude any abuse of power. In this view of the matter, it is manifest 

that if the Sessions Judge exercises his discretion in discharging the accused for reasons recorded 

by him, his discretion should not normally be disturbed by the High Court or by this Court. 
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Section 227 of the Code runs thus:- 

"If, upon consideration of the record of the case and the documents submitted therewith, 

and after hearing the submissions of the accused and the prosecution in this behalf, the Judge 

considers that there is not sufficient ground for proceeding against the accused, he shall 

discharge the accused and record his reasons for so doing." 

The words 'not sufficient ground for proceeding against the accused' clearly show that the 

Judge is not a mere post office to frame the charge at the behest of the prosecution, but has to 

exercise his judicial mind to the facts of the case in order to determine whether a case for 

trial has been made out by the prosecution. In assessing this fact, it is not necessary for the court 

to enter into the pros and cons of the matter or into a weighing and balancing of evidence and 

probabilities which is really his function after the trial starts. At the stage of section 227, the 

Judge has merely to sift the evidence in order to find out whether or not there is sufficient ground 

for proceeding against the accused. The sufficiency of ground would take within its fold the 

nature of the evidence recorded by the police or the documents produced before the court which 

ex facie disclose that there are suspicious circumstances against the accused so as to frame a 

charge against him. 
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COLLECTION OF EVIDENCE BY CBI: PRIMARY V SECONDARY EVIDENCE 

Priyadarshini Mootto Murder Trial 

Santosh Kumar Singh vs. State through CBI27 

Hon’ble Judges: Harjit Singh Bedi, Chandramauli Kr. Prasad 

On the point of scrutiny and evaluation of evidence certain points may be raised: 

The shoddy investigation and tampering of evidence was the major hurdle faced by the 

prosecution in the trial. The clincher was that the DNA test proved rape. The broken visor of the 

helmet of Santosh and fracture in his hand besides the 19 injuries on Mattoo’s body was 

something that conclusively settled the controversy in favour of the prosecution; so also the 

several complaints by Mattoo to the police established motive and eye witness accounts proved 

that Santosh was seen outside Mattoo’s house minutes before the murder. 

The Trial Court in the course of delivering its judgment had noted that the accused had a 

motive for the crimes alleged to have been committed by him as was evident from the continuous 

harassment and the personal undertakings and apologies rendered by him in this regard more 

than once. Moreover, the accused was seen outside the premises of the Faculty of Law, Campus 

Law Centre on the forenoon of the day of the murder by Head Constable Rajinder Singh. The 

Trial Judge had also arrived at a categorical conclusion that on 23 January, 1996 in the evening 

at about 4.50 p.m. the accused was seen standing outside the flat of the deceased by her 

immediate neighbor Kuppuswamy. Vikas Sharma was the witness who had sold some plastic 

containers on the day of incident to the deceased around 4.20 p.m. just before the accused was 

noticed outside the flat of the deceased which showed that the deceased was in her flat around 

that time. It had been found to be so by the Trial Court. Shri Jaideep Singh Ahluwalia, the 

Security Supervisor had also seen the accused at about 5.30 p.m. near the residence of the 

deceased. The accused was also noticed by Shri O.P. Singh, Advocate, on his bullet motor cycle 

getting out of the parking area of B-10, Vasant Kunj and proceeding towards Vasant Kunj area 

around 5.30 p.m. There was no material on record to establish that the witnesses had any 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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perverse intention so as to advance the case of the prosecution in any way by resorting to 

tampering. 

It had also been accepted by the Trial Court that at that time the accused was having a 

helmet with a visor and later on when the police recovered that helmet of the accused it was not 

having the visor but there were some broken pieces of the visor sticking to the helmet which 

pieces later on were found to be having some blood on it. When examined by the Centre 

Forensic Science Laboratory (CFSL), the helmet was in a bad shape at that time presumably 

because of the accused having assaulted the deceased with it with massive force suggested by the 

19 injuries on the person of the deceased coupled with her three broken ribs. At about 5.40 p.m. 

the deceased was found dead in her flat. In the wake of these findings in favour of the 

prosecution there was hardly any scope for the acquittal of the accused. 

Moreover, during the investigation when the accused was medically examined, his 

reports revealed injuries on his right hand which he claimed to have sustained on 14 January, 

1996. In regard to this when the expert opinion of Dr .G.K .Choubey of Safdurjung Hospital was 

sought for, he said that the injuries appeared to be fresh in nature thereby contradicting the false 

plea taken by Santosh Singh earlier. As per the principles of Law of Evidence the onus lay upon 

the accused to rebut the findings of the Prosecution obtained by expert evidence that the injuries 

on the person of the accused were not more than 48 hours old and the respondent having failed to 

do so, the inference of the prosecution in regard to the injury had to find favour with the Trial 

Court which was not the case. 

The Trial Court came down heavily on the role of Centre for Cellular and Molecular 

Biology (CCMB), Hyderabad alleging attempt by their senior scientists to “suppress the 

unfairness of the CBI which was glittering like gold from the records.” The trial court also 

attacked the role played by the Delhi Police in its attempt to assist the accused during 

investigation and also during the trial. It further observed that, “the approach and the working of 

the subordinate staff of Delhi Police suggest that the rule of law is not meant for those who 

enforce the law nor for their near relatives.” This view of the Trial Court suggests that there was 

deliberate inaction by the police by virtue of the influential position held by the accused’s father 

in the Delhi Police which encouraged Santosh Kumar Singh to commit the crime with impunity. 
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Despite so many circumstances in favour of the Prosecution, the Trial Court acquitted the 

accused stating that the CBI had failed on several counts namely concealing from the court the 

evidence collected by it, fabricating documentary evidence on behalf of the accused, not 

following official procedure in conducting the DNA test, depriving the court of an opportunity to 

review it judicially. Coming to think of it, there was infact no room for doubt in the prosecution 

case. 

Finally after a span of seven years, the Delhi High Court did a commendable job of 

awarding death sentence to Santosh Kumar Singh thereby restoring the confidence of the general 

masses in the judiciary. The Delhi High Court remarked that the findings of the Trial Court were 

perverse in nature. The view of the Trial Court as regards the inadmissibility of the DNA test 

was not tenable in the eyes of law in as much as the court ought to have accorded due and fair 

consideration to the reports procured by the expert evidence at the instance of the CBI. The Delhi 

High Court ruled out the reason given by the Trial Court holding the CBI responsible for having 

acted in an unjust and unfair manner. There was no effort whatsoever on the part of the CBI to 

conceal any material evidence from the court. Hence, the Delhi High Court removed the accused 

from the umbrella rule of “benefit of doubt” extended by the Trial Court. 

Held: 

After a careful examination of the facts of the case it is clearly evident that the murder 

had taken place in very sordid circumstances and nothing short of death punishment would have 

met the ends of justice. Reverting to the facts of the case it is observed that the accused had 

mercilessly strangulated the victim with the heat convector wire. The ghastliness of the murder is 

obvious from the post mortem report so also the marks of scratches on the mouth, neck and the 

chest of the deceased coupled with the blood which was oozing out from her as observed by 

Inspector Lalit Mohan as on the day of the incident. 

There were no mitigating circumstances indeed in favour of the accused and in our 

opinion it is strongly felt that death sentence was warranted and the Supreme Court has clearly 

erred by way of commuting the death sentence awarded by the High Court into a sentence of 

imprisonment for life. The Apex Court judgement may now set a precedent for future cases 
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where rape and murder convicts will now serve a life term.The cruel manner of killing 

Priyadarshini justifies the award of death sentence to Santosh Kumar Singh. In Nirmal Singh 

(State of Haryana Vs. Nirmal Singh)28 , it was held that the case fell within the rarest category 

and, therefore death sentence was proper. The injuries showed that they must have been men of 

high depravity and brutality denuded of all human feelings. 

In the case of Lalrinawas (State of Mizoram Vs. Lalrinawms) , the accused confessed his 

crime and remained firm on his confession throughout; therefore the death penalty was 

commuted to sentence of life imprisonment. In the instant case, there is no such act on the part of 

Santosh Kumar Singh which is indicative of any repentance. On the contrary, he consistently 

gave false pleas and faked innocence which only adds to the aggravation side of the balance 

sheet. 

In addition to these there are a couple of other aggravating circumstances to be 

considered in the balance sheet. The first and foremost being the incessant harassment of the 

victim by Santosh Kumar Singh and his criminal conduct which was brought to the notice of the 

police authorities several times. Keeping in mind his father’s influential position, he fearlessly 

landed up in killing the victim and his conduct thereafter also admits of no mitigation. (Singh 

2010) 

To quote the Supreme Court, “Undoubtedly, the appellant would have had time for 

reflection over the events of the last fifteen years, and to ponder over the predicament that he 

now faces, the reality that his father died a year after his conviction and the prospect of a 

dismal future for his young family, on the contrary there is nothing to suggest that he would 

not be capable of reform.” In the light of the above observation and in the absence of any 

overt action on the part of the accused relatable to such brooding, the only reasonable 

presumption that follows is that of course a period of fifteen years is a long time to reflect 

upon one’s wrong doings. But only that much can be presumed and nothing else. Is the 

commutation of death sentence by the Supreme Court justified? Isn’t it nothing more than an 

abuse of the power vested in the highest court of the country which the court has most 

vehemently exercised in an unreasonable and unjust manner? 
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Mohd. Arif @ Ashfaq Vs.State of NCT of Delhi29 

Hon’ble Judge: Justive V.S Sirpurkar 

Held:  

There can be no dispute that in a case entirely dependent on the circumstantial evidence, 

the responsibility of the prosecution is more as compared to the case where the ocular testimony 

or the direct evidence, as the case may be, is available. The Court, before relying on the 

circumstantial evidence and convicting the accused thereby has to satisfy itself completely that 

there is no other inference consistent with the innocence of the accused possible nor is there any 

plausible explanation. The Court must, therefore, make up its mind about the inferences to be 

drawn from each proved circumstance and should also consider the cumulative effect thereof. In 

doing this, the Court has to satisfy its conscience that it is not proceeding on the imaginary 

inferences or its. prejudices and that there could be no other inference possible excepting the 

guilt on the part of the accused. The Court respectfully agree with the principles drawn in the 

mentioned cases and hold that the prosecution was successful in establishing the mentioned 

circumstances against the appellant, individually, as well as, cumulatively. 

 There indeed cannot be a universal test applicable commonly to all the situations for 

reaching an inference that the accused is guilty on the basis of the proved circumstances against 

him nor could there be any quantitative test made applicable. At times, there may be only a few 

circumstances available to reach a conclusion of the guilt on the part of the accused and at times, 

even if there are large numbers of circumstances proved, they may not be enough to reach the 

conclusion of guilt on the part of the accused. It is the quality of each individual circumstance 

that is material and that would essentially depend upon the quality of evidence. Fanciful 

imagination in such cases has no place. Clear and irrefutable logic would be an essential factor in 

arriving at the verdict of guilt on the basis of the proved circumstances. Therefore, the present 

case is such, as would pass all the tests so far devised by the Supreme Court in the realm of 

criminal jurisprudence. 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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In State (Nct Of Delhi) vs. Navjot Sandhu30  

Hon’ble Judges: P. Venkatarama Reddi and P.P. Naolekar 

Facts:  

On 13th December, 2001, five heavily armed persons practically stormed the Parliament 

House complex and inflicted heavy casualties on the security men on duty. In the gun battle that 

lasted for 30 minutes or so, these five terrorists who tried to gain entry into the Parliament when 

it was in session, were killed. Nine persons including eight security personnel and one gardener 

succumbed to the bullets of the terrorists and 16 persons including 13 security men received 

injuries. The five terrorists were ultimately killed and their abortive attempt to lay a seize of the 

Parliament House thus came to an end. Extensive and effective investigations spread over a short 

span of 17 days which revealed the possible involvement of the four accused persons who are 

either appellants or respondents herein and some other proclaimed offenders said to be the 

leaders of the banned militant organization known as "Jaish-E-Mohammed". After the 

conclusion of investigation, the investigating agency filed the report under Section 173 Cr.P.C. 

against the four accused persons on 14.5.2002. Charges were framed under various sections of 

Indian Penal Code (for short 'IPC'), the Prevention of Terrorism Act, 2002 (hereinafter referred 

to as 'POTA') and the Explosive Substances Act by the designated Court. 

Decision of the Special Court 

The three accused, namely, Mohd. Afzal, Shaukat Hussain Guru and S.A.R. Gilani were 

convicted for the offences under Sections 121, 121A, 122, Section 120B read with Sections 302 

& 307 read with Section 120- B IPC, sub-Sections (2), (3) & (5) of Section 3 and Section 4(b) of 

POTA and Sections 3 & 4 of Explosive Substances Act. The accused 1 & 2 were also convicted 

under Section 3(4) of POTA. Accused No.4 namely Navjot Sandhu @ Afsan Guru was acquitted 

of all the charges except the one under Section 123 IPC for which she was convicted and 

sentenced to undergo R.I. for five years and to pay fine. Death sentences were imposed on the 

other three accused for the offence under Section 302 read with Section 120-B IPC and Section 

3(2) of POTA. The amount of Rs.10 lakhs, which was recovered from the possession of two of 
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the accused, namely, Mohd. Afzal and Shaukat Hussain, was forfeited to the State under Section 

6 of the POTA. 

Confirmation of the High Court: 

Appeals by the parties 

1. Each of the four accused filed appeals against the verdict of the learned designated Judge. 

2. The State also filed an appeal against the judgment of the designated Judge of the Special 

Court seeking enhancement of life sentence to the sentence of death in relation to their 

convictions under Sections 121, 121A and 302 IPC. 

3. In addition, the State filed an appeal against the acquittal of the 4th accused on all the 

charges other than the one under Section 123 IPC. 

Decision of the Division Bench of High Court 

1. The High Court dismissed the appeals of Mohd. Afzal and Shaukat Hussain Guru and 

confirmed the death sentence imposed on them. 

2. The High Court allowed the appeal of the State in regard to sentence under Section 121 

IPC and awarded them death sentence under that Section also. 

3. The High Court allowed the appeals of S.A.R. Gilani and Navjot Sandhu @ Afsan Guru 

and acquitted them of all charges. 

4. This judgment of the High Court has given rise to these seven appeals-two appeals 

preferred by Shaukat Hussain Guru and one appeal preferred by Mohd. Afzal and four 

appeals preferred by the State/Government of National Capital Territory of Delhi against 

the acquittal of S.A.R. Gilani and Navjot Sandhu. 

Issues:  

Proof and admissibility of mobile telephone call records 

Call records and its authenticity 

1. This case dealt with the proof and admissibility of mobile telephone call records. While 

considering the appeal against the accused for attacking Parliament, a submission was 

made on behalf of the accused that no reliance could be placed on the mobile telephone 
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call records, because the prosecution had failed to produce the relevant certificate under 

Section 65B(4) of the Evidence Act. 

2. It is the contention of the learned counsel that in the absence of a certificate issued under 

sub-Section (2) of Section 65B of the Evidence Act with the particulars enumerated in 

clauses (a) to (e), the information contained in the electronic record cannot be adduced in 

evidence and in any case in the absence of examination of a competent witness 

acquainted with the functioning of the computers during the relevant time and the manner 

in which the printouts were taken, even secondary evidence under Section 63 is not 

admissible. 

3. The Supreme Court concluded that a cross-examination of the competent witness 

acquainted with the functioning of the computer during the relevant time and the manner 

in which the printouts of the call records were taken was sufficient to prove the call 

records. 

Held: 

According to Section 63, secondary evidence means and includes, among other things, 

"copies made from the original by mechanical processes which in themselves ensure the 

accuracy of the copy, and copies compared with such copies" - Section 65 enables secondary 

evidence of the contents of a document to be adduced if the original is of such a nature as not to 

be easily movable. 

Anvar P.V. Vs. P.K. Basheer and Others31 

Hon’ble Judges: R.M. Lodha, C.J.I., Kurian Joseph and Rohinton Fali Nariman 

Facts:  

In 2011, the First respondent was a candidate of Indian Union Muslim League who was 

declared elected to 034 Eranad Legislative Assembly Constituency with 58,698 votes as against 

47452 votes secured by the petitioner, who contested as an independent candidate, allegedly 

supported by the Left Democratic Front. It was alleged that the first respondent disseminated 

false information/ statement regarding involvement of the petitioner in the murder of one Manaf 
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by using various promotional tactics with the intention to deliberately raked up to prejudice the 

prospects of the petitioner. Thereafter, the petitioner sought for a declaration before the High 

Court of Kerala to set aside the election of the first respondent void for use of corrupt practice of 

undue influence under section 100(1)(b) read with section 123(2)(ii) and (4) of Representation of 

People Act, 1951 and also to declare the petitioner as the duly elected candidate from 034 Eranad 

Assembly Constituency. The electronic records involved were Video CDs containing the election 

propaganda announcements, interviews, and public meetings alleged to have been made by the 

respondent’s side, which were originally recorded in mobile phones and movie cameras, and the 

same were transferred to computers, and by using the said computers as devices for data 

transferring, the CDs were produced. The CDs so produced were marked before the court as 

evidence, without being produced the originals.  

 

Issue:  

Whether any documentary evidence in the form of an electronic record can be proved 

only in accordance with the procedure prescribed under Section 65B of the Evidence Act? 

 

High Court: 

High Court dismissed election petition holding that corrupt practices pleaded in petition 

were not proved and, hence, election could not be set aside under Section 100(1)(b) of 

Representation of People Act, 1951. Aggrieved by the order of High Court, the Petitioner 

approached Supreme Court. 

 

Supreme Court: 

Proof of electronic record is a special provision introduced by the IT Act amending 

various provisions under the Evidence Act. The very caption of Section 65A of the Evidence 

Act, read with Sections 59 and 65B is sufficient to hold that the special provisions on evidence 

relating to electronic record shall be governed by the procedure prescribed under Section 65B of 

the Evidence Act. Generalia special bus non derogant, special law will always prevail over the 

general law. It appears, the court omitted to take note of Sections 59 and 65A dealing with the 

admissibility of electronic record. Sections 63 and 65 have no application in the case of 



%#"
"

secondary evidence by way of electronic record; the same is wholly governed by Sections 65A 

and 65B. To that extent, the statement of law on admissibility of secondary evidence pertaining 

to electronic record, as stated by this Court in State (NCT of Delhi) v. Navjot Sandhu alias 

Afsan Guru32, does not lay down the correct legal position and is required to be overruled. An 

electronic record by way of secondary evidence shall not be admitted in evidence unless the 

requirements under Section 65B are satisfied. Thus, in the case of CD, VCD, chip, etc., the same 

shall be accompanied by the certificate in terms of Section 65B obtained at the time of taking the 

document, without which, the secondary evidence pertaining to that electronic record, is 

inadmissible. In absence of such a certificate, the oral evidence to prove existence of such 

electronic evidence and the expert view under section 45A Evidence Act cannot be availed to 

prove authenticity thereof. 

Summary: 

i. In the Judgment, the Hon’ble Supreme Court has held that Section 65B of the Evidence 

Act being a ‘not obstante clause’ would override the general law on secondary evidence 

under Section 63 and 65 of the Evidence Act. The section 63 and section 65 of the 

Evidence Act have no application to the secondary evidence of the electronic evidence 

and same shall be wholly governed by the Section 65A and 65B of the Evidence Act. 

ii. The only alternative to prove the electronic record/evidence is by producing the original 

electronic media as Primary Evidence to the court or it’s copy by way secondary 

evidence u/s 65A/65B of Evidence Act. Thus, in the case of CD, VCD, chip, etc., the 

same shall be accompanied by the certificate in terms of Section 65B obtained at the time 

of taking the document, without which, the secondary evidence pertaining to that 

electronic record, is inadmissible. In the present case, the court observed that: 

iii. “The appellant admittedly has not produced any certificate in terms of Section 65B in 

respect of the CDs, Exhibits-P4, P8, P9, P10, P12, P13, P15, P20 and P22. Therefore, the 

same cannot be admitted in evidence. Thus, the whole case set up regarding the corrupt 

practice using songs, announcements and speeches fall to the ground.” 

iv. This judgment will have severe implications in all the cases where the prosecution relies 

heavily on the electronic data specially those cases where the audio-video recordings are 
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produced in the form of CD/DVD before the court. The anticorruption cases are generally 

based on a lot of electronic / digital evidence and the CD/DVD forwarded to the courts 

are without a certificate and shall therefore not be admissible as evidence u/s 65B 

Evidence Act, which makes it mandatory to produce a certificate u/s 65 B(4). The failure 

to provide the certificate u/s 65 B(4) further occludes the judicial process as the expert 

view in that matter cannot be availed of till the preceding condition is fulfilled. It has 

been specified in the judgment that Genuineness, Veracity or Reliability of the evidence 

is looked into by the court subsequently only after the relevance and admissibility is 

fulfilled. The requirement to ensure the source and authenticity, pertaining to electronic 

records is because it is more vulnerable to tampering, alteration, transposition, excision, 

etc. without such safeguards, the whole trial based on proof of electronic records can lead 

to mockery of justice. 

34 The original recording in Digital Voice Recorders/mobile phones need to be preserved as 

they may get destroyed, in such a case the issuance of certificate under section 65B(4) of 

the Evidence Act cannot be given. Therefore such CD/DVD is inadmissible and cannot 

be exhibited as evidence, the oral testimony or expert opinion is also barred and the 

recording/data in the CD/DVD’s do not serve any purpose for the conviction."

 

On Circumstantial Evidence  

Ramreddy Rajesh Khanna Reddy vs. State Of A.P33 

Hon’ble Judges: S.B. Sinha and P.P. Naolekar 

 

The Court again considered the case of conviction based on circumstantial evidence and 

held as under: 

 It is now well settled that with a view to base a conviction on circumstantial evidence, 

the prosecution must establish all the pieces of incriminating circumstances by reliable and 

clinching evidence and the circumstances so proved must form such a chain of events as would 

permit no conclusion other than one of guilt of the Accused. The circumstances cannot be on any 

other hypothesis. It is also well settled that suspicion, however grave it may be, cannot be a 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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substitute for a proof and the courts shall take utmost precaution in finding an Accused guilty 

only on the basis of the circumstantial evidence. 

 

Sattatiya vs. State of Maharashtra34  

Hon’ble Judges: G.P. Mathur and G.S. Singhvi 

 

The Court held as under: 

We have thoughtfully considered the entire matter. It is settled law that an offence can be 

proved not only by direct evidence but also by circumstantial evidence where there is no direct 

evidence. The court can draw an inference of guilt when all the incriminating facts and 

circumstances are found to be totally incompatible with the innocence of the Accused. Of course, 

the circumstances from which an inference as to the guilt is drawn have to be proved beyond 

reasonable doubt and have to be shown to be closely connected with the principal fact sought to 

be inferred from those circumstances. 

 

This Court further observed in the aforesaid decision that: 

 

At this stage, we also deem it proper to observe that in exercise of power under 

Article 136 of the Constitution, this Court will be extremely loath to upset the judgment of 

conviction which is confirmed in appeal. However, if it is found that the appreciation of evidence 

in a case, which is entirely based on circumstantial evidence, is vitiated by serious errors and on 

that account miscarriage of justice has been occasioned, then the Court will certainly interfere 

even with the concurrent findings recorded by the trial court and the High Court. In the light of 

the above, we shall now consider whether in the present case the prosecution succeeded in 

establishing the chain of circumstances leading to an inescapable conclusion that the Appellant 

had committed the crime. 

 

State of Goa vs. Pandurang Mohite35 

Hon’ble Judges: Dr. Arijit Pasayat and Mukundakam Sharma 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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The Court reiterated:  

The settled law that where a conviction rests squarely on circumstantial evidence, the 

inference of guilt can be justified only when all the incriminating facts and circumstances are 

found to be incompatible with the innocence of the Accused or the guilt of any person. The 

circumstances from which an inference as to the guilt of the Accused is drawn have to be proved 

beyond reasonable doubt and have to be shown to be closely connected with the principal fact 

sought to be inferred from those circumstances. 

 It would be appropriate to consider some of the recent decisions of this Court in cases 

where conviction was based on the circumstantial evidence.  

 

G. Parshwanath vs. State of karnataka36  

Hon’ble Judges: H.S. Bedi and J.M. Panchal 

 

The Court elaborately dealt with the subject and held as under: 

 

In cases where evidence is of a circumstantial nature, the circumstances from which the 

conclusion of guilt is to be drawn should, in the first instance, be fully established. Each fact 

sought to be relied upon must be proved individually. However, in applying this principle a 

distinction must be made between facts called primary or basic on the one hand and inference of 

facts to be drawn from them on the other. In regard to proof of primary facts, the court has to 

judge the evidence and decide whether that evidence proves a particular fact and if that fact is 

proved, the question whether that fact leads to an inference of guilt of the Accused person should 

be considered. In dealing with this aspect of the problem, the doctrine of benefit of doubt applies. 

Although there should not be any missing links in the case, yet it is not essential that each of the 

links must appear on the surface of the evidence adduced and some of these links may have to be 

inferred from the proved facts. In drawing these inferences, the court must have regard to the 

common course of natural events and to human conduct and their relations to the facts of the 

particular case. The court thereafter has to consider the effect of proved facts. 
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In deciding the sufficiency of the circumstantial evidence for the purpose of conviction, 

the court has to consider the total cumulative effect of all the proved facts, each one of which 

reinforces the conclusion of guilt and if the combined effect of all these facts taken together is 

conclusive in establishing the guilt of the Accused, the conviction would be justified even though 

it may be that one or more of these facts by itself or themselves is/are not decisive. The facts 

established should be consistent only with the hypothesis of the guilt of the Accused and should 

exclude every hypothesis except the one sought to be proved. But this does not mean that before 

the prosecution can succeed in a case resting upon circumstantial evidence alone, it must 

exclude each and every hypothesis suggested by the Accused, howsoever, extravagant and 

fanciful it might be. There must be a chain of evidence so complete as not to leave any 

reasonable ground for the conclusion consistent with the innocence of the Accused and must 

show that in all human probability the act must have been done by the Accused, where various 

links in chain are in themselves complete, then the false plea or false defence may be called into 

aid only to lend assurance to the court. 

 

Rajendra Pralhadrao Wasnik vs. State of Maharashtra37  

Hon’ble Judges: A.K. Patnaik and Swatanter Kumar, JJ. 

 

While dealing with the case based on circumstantial evidence, this Court observed as 

under: 

 There is no doubt that it is not a case of direct evidence but the conviction of the Accused 

is founded on circumstantial evidence. It is a settled principle of law that the prosecution has to 

satisfy certain conditions before a conviction based on circumstantial evidence can be sustained. 

The circumstances from which the conclusion of guilt is to be drawn should be fully established 

and should also be consistent with only one hypothesis i.e. the guilt of the Accused. The 

circumstances should be conclusive and proved by the prosecution. There must be a chain of 

events so complete as not to leave any substantial doubt in the mind of the court. Irresistibly, the 

evidence should lead to the conclusion which is inconsistent with the innocence of the Accused 

and the only possibility is that the Accused has committed the crime. 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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To put it simply, the circumstances forming the chain of events should be proved and they 

should cumulatively point towards the guilt of the Accused alone. In such circumstances, the 

inference of guilt can be justified only when all the incriminating facts and circumstances are 

found to be incompatible with the innocence of the Accused or the guilt of any other person. 

 

Brajendra Singh vs. State of M.P.38 

Hon’ble Judges: A.K. Patnaik and Swatanter Kumar, JJ. 
 

The Court while reiterating the above principles further added that: 

 Furthermore, the rule which needs to be observed by the court while dealing with the 

cases of circumstantial evidence is that the best evidence must be adduced which the nature of 

the case admits. The circumstances have to be examined cumulatively. The court has to examine 

the complete chain of events and then see whether all the material facts sought to be established 

by the prosecution to bring home the guilt of the Accused, have been proved beyond reasonable 

doubt. It has to be kept in mind that all these principles are based upon one basic cannon of our 

criminal jurisprudence that the Accused is innocent till proven guilty and that the Accused is 

entitled to a just and fair trial.  
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SCRUTINY AND EVALUATION OF EVIDENCES BY CBI COURTS 

Dharambir vs. Central Bureau Of Investigation39  

Hon’ble Judge: Dr. S. Muralidhar, J. 

Facts:  

The petitioners in this case were persons accused of offences under Section 120B IPC 

and under Sections 7 to 12, 13(2) read with 13(1)(d) of the Prevention of Corruption Act, 1988 

('PC Act') in four different cases. In the charge sheets filed in the four cases, the prosecution has 

stated that as part of the investigation, intercepted telephonic conversations between the accused 

persons were recorded on four hard discs (HDs) in the computer systems kept at the office of the 

Special Unit (SU) of the Central Bureau of Investigation (CBI) in New Delhi. The charge sheets 

further state that these conversations took place on fifteen mobile phones and land lines, 

belonging to one of the accused, which were placed under electronic surveillance between 

December 2002 and March 2003 pursuant to statutory permissions obtained from time to time 

from the competent authority. After listening to and analyzing the intercepted conversations 

recorded on the HDs, the CBI transferred to separate Compact Discs (CDs) such of those 

conversations which CBI considered to be relevant for each of the four cases. 

The four computer systems containing the HDs and the CDs were then sent to the Andhra 

Pradesh Forensic Sciences Laboratory (APFSL) for certification for two purposes. First, that the 

HDs were in working condition as required by Section 65B (2)(c) of Evidence Act and secondly, 

that the conversations transferred to the CDs were true copies of their original recording on the 

HDs. The CDs certified by the APFSL were thereafter forwarded to the learned Special Judge, 

New Delhi along with the charge sheets.  

Issue:  

Whether the hard discs can be considered as relevant document under Evidence Act?  

Proceedings before the Special judge: 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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After the charge sheets were filed, the learned Special judge took cognizance of the offences 

and issued process. Over a period of two years thereafter, the accused filed applications before 

the learned Special Judge under Section 207 seeking copies of documents and in particular the 

mirror image copies of the hard discs. The learned Special Judge by separate orders rejected each 

of the applications. The significant findings in the order passed by the Special Judge were as 

under: 

a. The certificate issued by the APFSL on examination of the hard discs was to the effect 

that the data in telephone calls tallied with the respective files in the hard discs. The 

certificate was therefore in compliance with Section 65B (4) of Evidence Act and had to 

be treated as evidence within the meaning of Section 3 Evidence Act. Therefore the CDs 

fell within the definition 'computer output' being an electronic record within the meaning 

of Section 65B (1) EA and had to be treated as an original document. 

b. The four hard discs recorded telephone calls between persons not connected with the 

present cases and handing over a copy of these hard discs to the accused persons would 

prejudice the case of the other co-accused and persons unconnected with these cases. In 

any event, since the CDs of the relevant telephone conversations which were computer 

output within the meaning of Section 65B EA had been handed over to the accused, the 

mandate of Section 207(v) read with 173(5) CrPC had been complied with. 

c. Since the prosecution was not relying upon telephone calls other than those copied on the 

CDs and therefore did not include the other calls in the list of documents appended with 

the charge sheet with 3 CDs, nothing more needed to be handed over to the accused. The 

request for supply of mirror image copies of the hard disc was rejected. 

d. As regards non-compliance with the requirement of Rule 419 of the Indian Telegraph 

Rules, those were matters of evidence which could not be gone into at the stage of 

framing of charge. 

e. The question whether the prosecution was, in the garb of indicating what evidence they 

proposed to rely upon, indulging in arbitrary picking and choosing of telephone calls, did 

not arise since the prosecution was not relying upon the four hard discs, copies of which 

were sought by the accused. There would be ample opportunity for the defense to cross-

examine the expert witnesses of the APFSL on their analysis of the call duration, time 

date and so on. 
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High Court:  

Aggrieved by the orders of Special Judge, some of the accused filed petitions, in which the 

prayer is for a direction that the 'entire recorded and intercepted messages be destroyed' on the 

ground that they have been illegally obtained in contravention of Section 5(2) of Indian 

Telegraph Act, 1885 and Rule 419A of the Indian Telegraph Rules, 1951. They further prayed 

for quashing the order passed by learned Special Judge, declining the request for the mirror 

images of the hard discs which was kept reserved and that 'in the meanwhile, the trial court may 

continue with hearing on charge but formal order be kept in reserve.' 

Aggrieved by this order the prosecution filed SLP in which the following order was passed by 

the Supreme Court: 

Since the parties are present, we request the High Court to take up the matter on 

04.03.2008. Without further notice, the parties shall appear before the learned Chief Justice of 

the High Court with a copy of our order so that an appropriate Bench can be fixed for hearing of 

the petition, i.e. Criminal Misc. Application No. 2845 of 2007 in Criminal M.C. No. 203 of 2007. 

The High Court is requested to dispose of the matter latest by 11.03.2008. The special leave 

petition is disposed of accordingly. 

Held:  

The judgment significantly notes that, “once a blank hard disc is written upon it is subject 

to a change and to that extent it becomes an electronic record. Even if the hard disc is restored to 

its original position of a blank hard disc by erasing what was recorded on it, it would still retain 

information which indicates that some text or file in any form was recorded on it at one time and 

subsequently removed. By use of software programmes it is possible to find out the precise time 

when such changes occurred in the hard disc. To that extent even a blank hard disc which has 

once been used in any manner, for any purpose will contain some information and will therefore 

be an electronic record.” 

The court arrived at the conclusion that when Section 65-B talks of an electronic record 

produced by a computer referred to as the computer output it would also include a hard disc in 

which information was stored or was earlier stored or continues to be stored. It distinguished as 
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there being two levels of an electronic record. One is the hard disc which once used itself 

becomes an electronic record in relation to the information regarding the changes the hard disc 

has been subject to and which information is retrievable from the hard disc by using a software 

program. The other level of electronic record is the active accessible information recorded in the 

hard disc in the form of a text file, or sound file or a video file etc. Such information that is 

accessible can be converted or copied as such to another magnetic or electronic device like a CD, 

pen drive etc. Even a blank hard disc which contains no information but was once used for 

recording information can also be copied by producing a cloned had or a mirror image. 

Rabindra Kumar Pal @ Dara Singh vs. Republic of India40  

Hon’ble Judges: P. Sathasivam and Balbir Singh Chauhan 

Facts:  

Graham Stuart Staines, a Christian Missionary from Australia, was working among the 

tribal people especially lepers of the State of Orissa. His two minor sons, namely, Philip Staines 

and Timothy Staines were burnt to death along with their father in the midnight of 

22.01.1999/23.01.1999. The deceased-Graham Staines was engaged in propagating and 

preaching Christianity in the tribal area of interior Orissa. In the mid-night of 22.01.1999, a mob 

of 60-70 people came to the spot and set fire to the vehicle in which Graham Staines was 

sleeping along with his two minor sons. The mob prevented the deceased to get themselves out 

of the vehicle as a result of which all the three persons got burnt in the vehicle. 

In a charge sheet filed by CBI, 14 accused persons were put to trial. Apart from these accused, 

one minor was tried by Juvenile Court.  By a common judgment and order Sessions Judge, 

Khurda convicted all the accused and sentenced them for offences punishable under various 

sections. The death sentence was passed against Dara Singh and others were awarded sentence of 

life imprisonment. 

Held:  

High Court  

The death reference and the appeals filed by the convicted persons were heard together 

by the High Court of Orissa and were disposed of by common judgment concluding that the 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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witnesses were not trustworthy and no credence should be given to their statements and 

confessional statements were procured by the investigating agency under threat and coercion. 

The High Court, by the impugned judgment, modified the death sentence awarded to Dara Singh 

into life imprisonment and confirmed the life imprisonment imposed on Mahendra Hembram and 

acquitted all the other accused persons. Special Leave Petitions were filed by Rabindra Kumar 

Pal @ Dara Singh, Mahendra Hembram challenging the sentences awarded by the High Court. 

Supreme Court  

After considering the various authorities on this aspect the Supreme Court in enunciated the 

following principles with regard to section 164 CrPC:  

i. The provisions of Section 164 Cr.P.C. must be complied with not only in form, but in 

essence. 

ii. Before proceeding to record the confessional statement, a searching enquiry must be 

made from the accused as to the custody from which he was produced and the treatment 

he had been receiving in such custody in order to ensure that there is no scope for doubt 

of any sort of extraneous influence proceeding from a source interested in the 

prosecution. 

iii. A Magistrate should ask the accused as to why he wants to make a statement which 

surely shall go against his interest in the trial. 

iv. The maker should be granted sufficient time for reflection. 

v. He should be assured of protection from any sort of apprehended torture or pressure from 

the police in case he declines to make a confessional statement. 

vi. A judicial confession not given voluntarily is unreliable, more so, when such a confession 

is retracted, the conviction cannot be based on such retracted judicial confession. 

vii. Non-compliance of Section 164 Cr.P.C. goes to the root of the Magistrate’s jurisdiction 

to record the confession and renders the confession unworthy of credence. 

viii. During the time of reflection, the accused should be completely out of police influence. 

The judicial officer, who is entrusted with the duty of recording confession, must apply 

his judicial mind to ascertain and satisfy his conscience that the statement of the accused 

is not on account of any extraneous influence on him. 

ix. At the time of recording the statement of the accused, no police or police official shall be 

present in the open court. 
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x. Confession of a co-accused is a weak type of evidence. 

xi. Usually the Court requires some corroboration from the confessional statement before 

convicting the accused person on such a statement.  

After considering relevant evidence and verifying statements and requirements in terms of 

Section 164 CrPC the Supreme Court observed that in the certificate, there was no specific 

reference about the nature of the custody from which these persons were produced nor about the 

assurance that they would not be remanded to police custody if they declined. Concurring with 

the High Court, it held that, no exceptional circumstances could be brought by the prosecution in 

respect of the appellants other than Rabindra Pal and Hembrum. The Supreme Court also held 

the procedure adopted by the investigating agency, analyzed and approved by the trial Court and 

confirmed by the High Court, could not be faulted with. 

 

Jagjit singh vs. State of haryana41 

Hon’ble Judges: Y.K. Sabharwal, C.J., C.K. Thakker and P.K. Balasubramanyan, JJ. 
 

Facts:  

The petitioner was a sole elected member of the National Congress Party ‘NCP’. The 

petitioner claimed that there was a split in the national unit of 'NCP' as a result whereof a 

political party named Democratic Dal of Haryana was formed. Thereafter, the petitioner 

intimated the Speaker about the split and formation of the new political party and requested the 

Speaker to accept the new legislature party and treat the petitioner as a member of the said party. 

On 31st December, 2003 respondent No. 3 filed a complaint before the Speaker - respondent No. 

2 alleging disqualification on the ground that the petitioner has incurred disqualification by 

voluntarily defecting from 'NCP' and founding/joining the Democratic Dal of Haryana. The 

Speaker issued notice to petitioner calling for his comments to the allegations made against him. 

But on 30th April, 2004 Democratic Dal of Haryana is said to have merged with the Indian 

National Congress in accordance with paragraph 4 of the Tenth Schedule. The petitioner, for a 

long time, could not be served with the notices issued by the Speaker on the complaint of 

respondent No. 3. The impugned order notices steps that had to be taken for effecting substituted 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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service on the petitioner. Thereafter, the petitioner has been repeatedly seeking adjournments in 

proceedings before the Speaker. The petitioner, however, filed an interim reply on 16th June, 

2004 and sought four weeks' time on the ground that due to summer vacation of the Court, senior 

advocates were not available. Petitioner has further alleged that he received a telephone call from 

the Speaker on 24th June, 2004 when the Speaker told him that if he abstains from voting in 

Rajya Sabha, the disqualification can be avoided. The impugned order disqualifying the 

petitioner on account of defection was passed on 25th June, 2004 under paragraph 2(1)(a) of the 

Tenth Schedule. 

Issues:  

Whether the Evidence recorded on CD admissible? 

Supreme Court: 

When hearing the matter, the Supreme Court considered the digital evidence in the form 

of interview transcripts from the Zee News television channel, the Aaj Tak television channel 

and the Haryana News of Punjab Today television channel. The court determined that the 

electronic evidence placed on record was admissible and upheld the reliance placed by the 

speaker on the recorded interview when reaching the conclusion that the voices recorded on the 

CD were those of the persons taking action. The Supreme Court found no infirmity in the 

speaker's reliance on the digital evidence and the conclusions reached in Paragraph 31 bear 

repeating in full: 

"Undoubtedly, the proceeding before the speaker, which is also a tribunal 

albeit of a different nature, has to be conducted in a fair manner and by 

complying with the principles of natural justice. However, the principles 

of natural justice cannot be placed in a strait-jacket. These are flexible 

rules. Their applicability is determined on the facts of each case. Here, 

we are concerned with a case where the petitioners had declined to avail 

of the opportunity to watch the recording on the compact disc. They had 

taken vague pleas in their replies. Even in respect of signatures on the 

[Congress Legislative Party] register their reply was utterly vague. It was 

not their case that the said proceedings had been forged. The speaker, in 
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law, was the only authority to decide whether the petitioners incurred or 

not disqualification under the Tenth Schedule to the Constitution in his 

capacity as speaker. He had obvious opportunity to see the petitioners 

and hear them and that is what has been stated by the speaker in his 

order. We are of the view that the speaker has not committed any 

illegality by stating that he had on various occasions seen and heard 

these [members of legislative assembly]. It is not a case where the 

speaker could transfer the case to some other tribunal. The doctrine of 

necessity under these circumstances would also be applicable. No 

illegality can be inferred merely on the speaker relying upon his personal 

knowledge of having seen and heard the petitioners for coming to the 

conclusion that the persons in the electronic evidence are the same as he 

has seen and so also are their voices. Thus, even if the affidavit of 

Ashwani Kumar is ignored in substance, it would have no effect on the 

questions involved." 
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SEARCH AND SEIZURE OF DIGITAL DATA 

Introduction 

The proliferation of computers and the influence of information technology in human 

lives and the storage of information in digital form required amendments to Indian law to include 

the provisions regarding the appreciation of digital evidence. In 2000, the Indian Parliament 

enacted the Information Technology Act, 2000 (IT Act), which brought in corresponding 

amendments to existing Indian statutes to make digital evidence admissible., apart from 

providing amendments to Indian Evidence Act, 1872 (Evidence Act), the Indian Penal Code, 

1860 and the Banker’s Book Evidence Act, 1891, mainly recognizes transactions that are carried 

out by means of electronic data interchange and other means of electronic communications. 

Provisions under Cr.P.C 

In the case of State Of Maharashtra v. Natwarlal Damodardas Soni42 relevant provisions of 

Cr.P.C realting to search and seizure were discussed.  

Section 93 of Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973, provides for the general procedure of 

search. Section 93 allows for a magistrate to issue a warrant for the search of any “document or 

thing”, including a warrant for general search of an area, where it believes it is required for the 

purpose of investigation. The particularity of the search warrant is not a requirement under S. 

93(2), and hence a warrant may be for general or roving search of a place. Section 100, which 

further provides for the search of a closed place, includes certain safeguards such as the presence 

of witnesses and the requirement of a warrant before a police officer may be allowed ingress into 

the closed place.  

However, under S. 165 and S. 51 of the code, the requirements of a search warrant are 

exempted. S. 165 dispenses with the warrant requirement and provides for an officer in charge of 

a police station, or any other officer duly authorized by him, to conduct the search of any place 

as long as he has reasonable grounds to believe that such search would be for the purpose of an 

investigation and a belief that a search warrant cannot be obtained without undue delay. Further, 

the officer conducting such search must as far as possible note down the reasons for such belief 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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in writing prior to conducting the search. Section 51 provides another express exception to the 

requirement of search warrants, by allowing the search of a person arrested lawfully provided 

that the arrested person may not or cannot be admitted to bail, and requires any such seized items 

to be written in a search memo. As long as these conditions are fulfilled, the police has an 

unqualified authority to search a person upon arrest. Therefore, where the arrestee can be 

admitted to bail as per the warrant, or, in cases of warrantless arrest, as per the law, the search 

and seizure of such person may not be regular, and the evidence so collected would be subject to 

greater scrutiny by the court.43 

It was held that the non-compliance with the procedural requirements of search would not 

by itself vitiate the proceedings or suppress the evidence so found, but would only amount to an 

irregularity which must be simply another factor considered in evaluating the evidence. 

Changes in the Evidence Act44 

Although the Evidence Act has been in force for many years, it has been amended from 

time to time to acknowledge important developments. Similarly, amendments have been made to 

the Evidence Act to introduce the admissibility of electronic records along with paper based 

documents. 

The definition of Admission 45is changed to include a statement, oral or documentary, or 

contained in electronic form, which suggests any inference as to any fact in issue or relevant fact. 

New section 22A has been inserted into the Evidence Act to provide for the relevancy of oral 

evidence as to the contents of electronic records. It provides that oral admissions as to the 

contents of electronic records are not relevant, unless the genuineness of the electronic records 

produced is in question. 

Evidence to be given when the statement forms part of electronic record  

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
%$"State Of Maharashtra v. Natwarlal Damodardas Soni, AIR 1980 SC 593; Radhakrishnan v State of UP, 1963 
Supp. 1 S.C.R. 408"
44 Dr. Karia Tejas, Digital Evidence: An Indian Perspective, ‘India’, in Stephen Mason, general editor, Electronic 
Evidence: Disclosure, Discovery & Admissibility, (LexisNexis Butterworths, 2007). 
45 (section 17, Evidence Act) 
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When any statement of which evidence is contained is part of electronic record46, 

evidence must be given of so much and no more of the electronic record as the court considers 

necessary in that particular case to the full understanding of the nature and effect of the statement 

and of the circumstances under which it was made. This provision deals with statements that 

form part of a longer statement or of a conversation or part of an isolated document, or is 

contained in a document that forms part of a book or series of letters or papers. 

Admissibility of digital evidence 

New sections 65A and 65B were introduced to the Evidence Act under the Second 

Schedule to the IT Act. Section 5 of the Evidence Act provides that evidence can be given only 

regarding facts that are in issue or where they are relevant, but no other facts, and section 136 

empowers a judge to decide as to the admissibility of the evidence. A new provision introduced 

to the Evidence Act, section 65A, provides that the contents of electronic records may be proved 

in accordance with the provisions of section 65B. Section 65B provides that notwithstanding 

anything contained in the Evidence Act, any information contained in an electronic record, 

whether it be the contents of a document or communication printed on a paper, or stored, 

recorded, copied in optical or magnetic media produced by a computer (also referred to as 

computer output in the Act), it is deemed to be a document and is admissible in evidence without 

further proof of the production of the original, providing the conditions set out in section 65B (2) 

– (5) are satisfied. 

Changes in Indian Penal Code, 1860 

A number of offences were introduced under the provisions of the First Schedule of the 

IT Act, amended the Indian Penal Code (IPC) with respect to offences for the production of 

documents that have been amended to include electronic records. The range of additional 

offences includes absconding to avoid the production of a document or electronic record in a 

court (section 172, IPC); intentionally preventing the service of summons, notice or proclamation 

to produce a document or electronic record in a court (section 173, IPC); intentionally omitting 

to produce or deliver up the document or electronic record to any public servant (section 175, 

IPC); fabricating false evidence by making a false entry in an electronic record or making any 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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electronic record containing a false statement, intending the false entry or statement to appear in 

evidence in judicial proceedings (sections 192 and 193, IPC); the destruction of an electronic 

record, where a person secrets or destroys an electronic record, or obliterates or renders illegible 

the whole or part of electronic record with an intention of preventing the record from being 

produced or used as evidence (section 204, IPC); making any false electronic record (section 463 

and 465, IPC). 

Recent rulings of Indian courts on digital evidence 

Search and seizure 

State of Punjab v. Amritsar Beverages Ltd.47 

Hon’ble Judges: S.B. Sinha, Dalveer Bhandari 

Facts of the Case: 

This case involved a search by the Sales Tax Department and the seizure of computer 

hard disks and documents from the dealer’s premises. The computer hard disk was seized under 

the provisions set out in section 14 of the Punjab General Sales Tax Act, 1948, which requires 

the authorities to return the seized documents within the stipulated period (section 14 (3)) 

provided the dealer or the person concerned is given a receipt for the property: 

14. Production and inspection of books, documents and accounts. 

(1) The commissioner or any person appointed to assist him under sub-section (1) of section 3 

not below the rank of an [Excise and Taxation Officer], may, for the purpose of the Act, require 

any dealer referred to in section 10 to produce before him any book, document or account 

relating to his business and may inspect, examine and copy then same and make such enquiry 

from such dealer relating to his business, as may be necessary. Provided that books, documents 

and accounts of a period more than five years prior to the year in which assessment is made shall 

not be so required. 

(2) Every registered dealer shall - 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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(a) maintain day to day accounts of his business; 

(b) maintain a list of his account books, display it along with his registration certificate and 

furnish a copy of such list to the Assessing Authority; 

(c) Produce, if so required, account books of his business before the Assessing Authority for 

authentication in the prescribed manner; 

(d) retain his account books at the place of his business, unless removed there from by an official 

for inspection, by any official agency, or by auditors or for any other reason which may be 

considered to be satisfactory by the assessing authority. 

(3) If any officer referred to in sub-section (1) has reasonable ground for believing that any 

dealer is trying to evade liability for tax or other dues under this Act, and that anything necessary 

for the purpose of an investigation into his liability may be found in any book, account, register 

or document, he may seize such book, account, register or document, as may be necessary. The 

officer seizing the book, account, register or document shall forthwith grant a receipt for the 

same and shall, - 

(a) in the case of book, account, register or document which was being used at the time of 

seizing, within a period of ten days from the date of seizure; and 

(b) in any otter case, within a period of sixty days from the date of seizure; Return it to the dealer 

or the person from whose custody it was seized after the examination or after having such copies 

or extracts taken there from as may be considered necessary, provided the dealer or the aforesaid 

person gives a receipt in writing for the book, account, register or document returned to him. The 

officer may, before returning the book account register or document affix his signature and his 

official seal at one or more places thereon, and in such case the dealer or the aforesaid person 

will be required to mention in the receipt given by him the number of places where the signature 

and seal of such officers have been affixed on each book, account, register or document. 

(4) For the purpose of sub-section (2) or sub-section (3), an officer referred to in sub-section (1) 

may enter and search any office, shop, godown, vessel, vehicle, or any other place of business of 

the dealer or any building or place except residential houses where such officer has reason to 
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believe that the dealer keeps or is, for the time being, keeping any book account, register, 

document or goods, relating to his business. 

(5) The power conferred by sub-section (4) shall include the power to open and search any box 

or receptacle in which any books, accounts, register or other relevant document of the dealer may 

be contained. 

(6) Any officer empowered to act under sub-section (3) or sub-section (4) shall have power to 

seize any goods which are found in any office shop, godown, vessel, vehicle or any other place 

of business or any building or place of the dealer, but not accounted for by the dealer in his 

books, accounts registers, records and other documents. 

Held: 

The section entitles the officer concerned to affix his signature and seal at one or more 

places on the document seized, and to include in the receipt the number of places where the 

signature and seal of the officer had been affixed. In this instance, the officers concerned called 

upon the dealer, but the dealer failed to pay heed to their requests. 

The Sales Tax Authority was required to return all the documents seized after 

examination within 60 days. However, the Authority failed to return the hard disk, claiming it is 

not a document. When the matter came before the Supreme Court, a creative interpretation was 

adopted, taking into account the fact that the Act was enacted in 1948, when information 

technology at that time was far from being developed. It was determined that the Constitution of 

India is a document that must be interpreted in the light of contemporary life. This mean a 

creative interpretation was necessary to enable the judiciary to respond to the development of 

technologies, and the court could use its own interpretative principles to achieve a balance in the 

absence of the failure of Parliament to respond to the need to amend the statute having regard to 

the developments in the field of science.  

The court stated that Òthe Evidence Act, which is part of the procedural laws, should be 

construed to be an ongoing statute, similar to the Constitution, which meant a creative 

interpretation was possible, in accordance with the circumstances. It was held that the proper 

course for the officers in such circumstances was to make out copies of the hard disk or to obtain 
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a hard copy and affix their signatures or official seal in physical form upon the hard copy and 

furnish a copy to the dealer or the person concernedÓ 

Admissibility Of Digital Evidence 

Jagjit Singh v. State of Haryana48 

Hon’ble Judges: C.K. Thakker, P.K. Balasubramanyan 

Facts of the Case: 

In the case of Jagjit Singh v. State of Haryana , the Speaker of the Legislative Assembly 

of the State of Haryana disqualified a Member for defection. The Supreme Court, whilst hearing 

the matter, also considered the appreciation of digital evidence in the form of transcripts of 

digital media including the Zee News television channel, the Aaj Tak television channel, and the 

Haryana News of Punjab Today television channel. Y.K. Sabharwal, CJ, indicated the extent of 

the relevant digital materials in paragraph 25.49  

The original C.D.s received from Zee Telefilms, true translation into English of the 

transcript of the interview conducted by the said channel and the original letter issued by Zee 

Telefilms and handed over to Ashwani Kumar on his request were filed on 23rd June, 2004. The 

original C.D.s received from Haryana News channel along with English translation as above 

and the original proceedings of the Congress legislative party in respect of proceedings dated 

16th June, 2004 at 11.30 a.m. in the Committee room of Haryana Vidhan Sabha containing the 

signatures of three out of four independent members were also filed. 

Held: 

The court determined that the electronic evidence placed on the record was admissible, 

and upheld the reliance placed by the Speaker on the interview recorded on the CDs for reaching 

the conclusion that the persons recorded on the CDs were the same as those taking action, and 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
48 (2006) 11 SCC 1 
49 Ibid, at Para 25-27. 
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their voices were identical. The Supreme Court found no infirmity in the reliance placed on 

digital evidence by the Speaker.50 

Cross jurisdictional Study on Search and Seizure51 

R v Governor of Brixton Prison52 

The case of Vladimir Levin, in which computer hackers in St. Petersburg, Russia hacked 

into Citibank computers in the USA and transferred substantial funds, illustrated the new reality 

of digital evidence. This was a modern day bank theft that required no physical attendance, 

weapons, masks or a get-away vehicle. The fact that Levin was able to use his computers via 

several intermediaries and transfer substantial funds, shows innovative solutions are demanded. 

A collection of all related computer information for a search encounters challenges. Evidence 

collection is frequently interrupted, as few ISP administrators maintain comprehensive log 

records and registers. Invariably, records considered routine are deleted, as storage space is 

critical to network speed and capacity. Fraudsters are known to target intermediary computers 

that maintain inadequate or no record. Such lax records retard investigations and prosecutions of 

cyber offending.  

In common law jurisdictions such as England and Wales, both prior to and after the 

passing of the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984, it has been trite law that the police may 

not ransack a person’s home to look generally for evidence against him. A lawful entry into 

premises for a search and seizure must always relate to a specified purpose, and the search must 

be consistent with the stated purpose.  

In the USA, the Fourth Amendment prohibits unreasonable searches and establishes a 

reasonable expectation of privacy in the conduct of all searches. The collection of digital 

evidence is paramount once the electronic trail leads to the offending computers. Digital 

evidence specialists have developed routine procedures on the seizure of an offenders’ computer. 

Usually the machine is taken away from the location for examination. The justification for off 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
50 Supra, at Note 5, Para 31."
51 Leacock Charles, “Search And Seizure Of Digital Evidence In Criminal Proceedings”, Digital Evidence and 
Electronic Signature Law Review, Vol 5 225, available at http://sas-space.sas.ac.uk/5426/1/1873-2609-1-SM.pdf , 
Last retrieved on 28th July 2015. 
52 Re [1997] A.C. 741."
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site inspection is based on practical considerations. Most computers have large hard drives of 20-

60 gigabytes. Even a routine examination would take considerable time, since most files may be 

suspicious or mislabeled to conceal their content. At the computer examination, forensic analysts 

could create a bit stream or mirror image of the hard drive. The bit stream copy is an exact 

duplicate and not mere files. Each bit and byte stored on the hard drive is duplicated for 

accuracy. The forensic examiner would use the copy for interrogation thereby preventing the 

original from damage. A broad range of techniques may be employed by the analyst. For 

example, a string search may be executed for particular extensions or phrases including text links 

to the search. Secondly, all files with similar characteristics may be opened or sampled for the 

object of the search. Any nexus to the suspect will be explored from the hard drive to incriminate 

or link the offence to the suspect.  

In United States v Grey53, child pornography was found during a search under a warrant. 

The items were held admissible although the defendant argued that the files marked with JPG 

extensions were presumptively pictures and not related to the subject of the search. The courts 

ruled that hackers frequently mislabel files and the FBI was not required to take file names at 

face value 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
53 78 F.Supp.2d 544. 
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CYBER CRIMES INVESTIGATION AND CYBER FORENSIC 

Avnish Bajaj v. State (N.C.T.) of Delhi54 

Hon’ble Judge: S.  Murlidhar 

Facts of the Case 

Baazee.com India Private Limited ('BIPL'), a wholly owned subsidiary of Ebay Inc. 

USA, and the owner of the website http://www.baazee.com, was during the relevant period in the 

process of being acquired by and consequently renamed as Ebay India Private Limited (EIPL). 

BIPL had its main office at Mumbai and another office in Delhi. During November to December 

2004 the petitioner Avnish Bajaj was the MD of BIPL (which later was renamed as EIPL). 

The website baazee.com provided an online platform or market where a seller and a 

buyer could interact. To be either a seller or buyer a person had to first register himself with 

baazee.com by filling out an online form giving details including the name, email id, date of 

birth (the age had to be 18 and above). The person registering had to choose an appropriate 

'baazee ID' and a password which would be used every time the person logged on to the website 

baazee.com to transact either as a seller or a buyer. 

Baazee.com receives commission from such sales and also generates revenue from 

advertisements carried on its web pages. An obscene MMS clipping was listed for sale on 

Baazee.com on 27th November, 2004 in the name of “DPS Girl having fun” by Ravi raj a fourth 

year IIT Kharagpur student. Some copies of the clipping were sold through Baazee.com and the 

seller received the money for the sale. 

Avnish Bajaj was arrested under section 67 of the Information Technology Act, 2000 and 

his bail application was rejected by the trial court. He then approached the Delhi High Court for 

bail. 

Issue: 

The question that first requires to be addressed is whether in the facts and circumstances 

of the case, as disclosed in the charge sheet, a prima facie case for offences under Sections 292 

and 294 IPC and Section 67 IT Act is made out. 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
&%"(2005)3CompLJ364 (Del)"
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Contentions of the petitioners 

According to the petitioner, the case against BIPL is not, and cannot possibly be, in 

relation to the video clip since the clip itself was not made available on baazee. com. The video 

clip was transferred directly between the seller and buyer without the intervention of the website. 

While no submission was made in regard to the video clip being obscene, the submission of the 

petitioner was that at the highest BIPL was concerned only with the listing placed on the website 

which by itself was not obscene and did not attract the offence under Section 292/294 IPC or 

Section 67 IT Act. 

It was then argued that in any event without BIPL (EIPL) being made an accused, no 

criminal liability attached to the petitioner for an IPC offence only because he happened to be the 

MD of BIPL (EIPL) at the relevant time. The revenue generated by the website was not profit as 

contemplated by Section 292 IPC and in any event such income was not generated by the 

petitioner but by BIPL which is not an accused in the case. Reasonable care was taken by the 

website to immediately remove the video clip once it was brought to its knowledge that it was 

objectionable. Therefore the website acted diligently and did not commit any illegality. The 

charge sheet when read as a whole does not make out even a prima facie case against the 

petitioner in his individual capacity for the offences under Sections 292/ 294 IPC. 

Contentions by the Counsel for State 

The sequence of events, the listing, video clip and the role attributed to the petitioner, 

fully make out a case against the petitioner for the offences under Section 292 IPC and Section 

67 IT Act. The offence under Section 292 IPC includes not only overt acts but illegal omissions 

within the meaning of Sections 32, 35 and 36 IPC. The failure to have adequate filter in a system 

which is entirely automated, entails serious consequences and a website cannot escape such legal 

consequences. 

It is further submitted by the learned Counsel for the State that the fact that website 

earned profits through the sale is evident from the bank statements which show that for each 

video clip it did earn a commission of Rs.3. The chain of events show that the website had a role 

to play in several of the stages before the video clip was sent by the seller to the buyer by an 

email attachment. The fact that payment was made to the seller even as on 27th December 2004 
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shows that no attempt was made to prevent or stop the commission of the illegality by the 

website. 

It was also submitted that the petitioner was the person in-charge of the affairs of the 

company that owned the website and was responsible for its policy and planning. There is 

adequate material set out in the charge sheet which shows that the petitioner had a direct role in 

the matter. Notwithstanding that the BIPL itself is not arraigned as an accused, the petitioner can 

nevertheless be proceeded against for the role played by him in the transaction. 

For the offence under Section 67 IT Act, it is not necessary that the company BIPL itself 

should be an accused. As explained in the judgments of the Supreme Court, what is relevant is 

whether at the trial a case for convicting the company for the offences had been made out. The 

present stage was premature to come to a conclusion either way. Even at a subsequent stage in 

the proceedings, the court can summon the company if sufficient material emerges against it. 

Finally it was submitted that the crime is of an extremely grave nature and cannot go 

unpunished on technicalities. Even if the charge sheet does not contain specific allegations, the 

matter can still proceed to the next stages. At this stage the court is only to examine if a prima 

facie case is made out and on that test no interference is called for. 

Findings of the court 

1. It has not been established from the evidence that any publication took place by the accused, 

directly or indirectly. 

2. The actual obscene recording/clip could not be viewed on the portal of Baazee.com. 

3. The sale consideration was not routed through the accused. 

4. Prima facie Baazee.com had endeavored to plug the loophole. 

5. The accused had actively participated in the investigations. 

6. The nature of the alleged offence is such that the evidence has already crystallized and may 

even be tamper proof. 

7. Even though the accused is a foreign citizen, he is of Indian origin with family roots in 

India. 

8. The evidence that has been collected indicates only that the obscene material may have been 

unwittingly offered for sale on the website. 
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9. The evidence that has been collected indicates that the heinous nature of the alleged crime 

may be attributable to some other person. 

Held: 

(a) The charge sheet when read as a whole brings out a prima facie case attracting the offences 

under Section 292(1) (a) and 292 (2) (d) IPC and Section 67 IT Act. However, not even a prima 

facie case for the offence under Section 294 IPC is made out. 

(b) A prima facie case for the offence under Section 292 (2) (a) and 292 (2) (d) IPC is made out 

against BIPL now named as EIPL both in respect of the listing and the video clip respectively. 

(c) However, as far as the petitioner Avnish Bajaj is concerned, since the IPC does not recognise 

the concept of an automatic criminal liability attaching to the director where the company is an 

accused, not even a prima facie case for the offence under Section 292 IPC is made out even 

when the charge sheet is read as a whole; it only seeks to implicate him in his designation as MD 

of BIPL and not in his individual capacity. 

(d) Therefore, the petitioner will stand discharged as far as the offences under Sections 292 and 

294 IPC are concerned. This will however not affect the case against the other accused. 

(e) A prima facie case for the offence under Section 67 read with Section 85 IT Act is made out 

against the petitioner since the law as explained by the decisions of the Supreme Court 

recognises the deemed criminal liability of the directors even where the company is not arraigned 

as an accused and particularly since it is possible that BIPL may be hereafter summoned to face 

trial. 

(f) Consequently, while the case against the petitioner of the offences under Sections 292 and 

294 IPC is quashed, the prosecution of the petitioner for the offence under Section 67 read with 

Section 85 IT Act will continue. 

State of Tamil Nadu Vs Suhas Katti55 

The Case of Suhas Katti is notable for the fact that the conviction was achieved 

successfully within a relatively quick time of 7 months from the filing of the FIR. Considering 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
&&"CC No. 4680/2004"
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that similar cases have been pending in other states for a much longer time, the efficient handling 

of the case which happened to be the first case of the Chennai Cyber Crime Cell going to trial 

deserves a special mention.  

Facts of the case: 

The case related to posting of obscene, defamatory and annoying message about a 

divorcee woman in the yahoo message group. E-Mails were also forwarded to the victim for 

information by the accused through a false e-mail account opened by him in the name of the 

victim. The posting of the message resulted in annoying phone calls to the lady in the belief that 

she was soliciting.  

Based on a complaint made by the victim in February 2004, the Police traced the accused 

to Mumbai and arrested him within the next few days. The accused was a known family friend of 

the victim and was reportedly interested in marrying her. She however married another person. 

This marriage later ended in divorce and the accused started contacting her once again. On her 

reluctance to marry him, the accused took up the harassment through the Internet.  

On 24-3-2004 Charge Sheet was filed u/s 67 of IT Act 2000, 469 and 509 IPC before The 

Hon’ble Addl. CMM Egmore by citing 18 witnesses and 34 documents and material objects. The 

same was taken on file in C.C.NO.4680/2004. On the prosecution side 12 witnesses were 

examined and entire documents were marked as Exhibits. 

Arguments of the Defence  

The Defence argued that the offending mails would have been given either by ex-

husband of the complainant or the complainant her self to implicate the accused as accused 

alleged to have turned down the request of the complainant to marry her.  

Further the Defence counsel argued that some of the documentary evidence was not 

sustainable under Section 65 B of the Indian Evidence Act.  

Held: 
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However, the court relied upon the expert witnesses and other evidence produced before 

it, including the witnesses of the Cyber Cafe owners and came to the conclusion that the crime 

was conclusively proved.  

" The accused is found guilty of offences under section 469, 509 IPC and 67 of IT Act 2000 and 

the accused is convicted and is sentenced for the offence to undergo RI for 2 years under 469 

IPC and to pay fine of Rs.500/-and for the offence u/s 509 IPC sentenced to undergo 1 year 

Simple imprisonment and to pay fine of Rs.500/- and for the offence u/s 67 of IT Act 2000 to 

undergo RI for 2 years and to pay fine of Rs.4000/- All sentences to run concurrently."  

The accused paid fine amount and he was lodged at Central Prison, Chennai. This is 

considered as the first case convicted under section 67 of Information Technology Act 2000 in 

India. 

Sanjay Kumar vs State Of Haryana 56 

Hon’ble Judge: Paramjeet Singh 

Facts of the case:57 

Brief facts of the prosecution case are that the Senior BranchManager, Vijay Bank, NIT, 

Faridabad moved a complaint dated 11.02.2003 before the Police stating that the petitioner was 

deputed by M/s Virmati Software and Telecommunication Ltd. to maintain the Software System 

supplied by them to the bank. He was also looking Software System of certain other banks. In 

connection with rendering such services, the petitioner was having access to their accounting 

system which was computerized and was also in a position to enter into ledgers and various other 

accounts. While reconciling the accounts, certain discrepancies were pointed out by the officials 

of the bank and in that process, it was revealed that the accused-petitioner, who was having SB 

Account No. 21499 in his CRR No.66 of 2013 (O&M) 3 personal name in their bank, 

manipulated the entries by forging and fabricating certain entries from one account to another, 

from the computer system by handling the software and got the entries pertaining to the amount 

of the the bank and withdrew the amounts from the bank on various dates by issuing cheques in 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
56 on 10th  Jan, 2013 CRR No.66 of 2013 (O&M) 1, (in Punjab & Haryana High Court) 
57 https://sites.google.com/a/prashantmali.com/prashantmali/cyber-law-cases, Lat retrieved on 1st August, 2015."
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his own favour and withdrew the amount from the cash counter of the bank as well as through 

transfer/clearing transactions. As per enquiry, it has been revealed that the accused by carrying 

out forgery, fabricating the entries in the computer system of the bank, illegally and wrongfully, 

withdrew Rs.17,67,409/- from the bank and thus, caused wrongful gain to himself and wrongful 

loss to the bank. The said Bank came to know regarding the fraud committed by the accused on 

07.02.2003. thereafter, the accused was called to the bank and he was confronted with the details 

of the fraud but he gave evasive replies as only admitted having embezzled a sum of Rs. 17 lacs 

without giving further information or revealing the exact amount of fraud or the modus operandi 

of the same and also assured to pay back the amount to the bank. 

On receipt of the complaint, a case bearing FIR No. 165 dated 11.02.2003, under 

Sections 406, 420, 467, 468, 469, 471 of the Indian Penal Code and Sections 65, 66 and 72 of the 

Information and Technology Act, 2000 was registered against the petitioner. After completion of 

investigation, challan against the accused-petitioner was presented in the Court. Thereafter, 

charge was framed against the accused petitioner to which he pleaded not guilty and claimed 

trial. 

The prosecution, in order to prove its case, examined PW1 A. CRR No.66 of 2013 

(O&M) 4 

Siridhar, PW2 Girish Kumar Verma, PW3 Maheshwar Rath, PW4 Ramesh Kumar Malik 

and PW5 Dalip Singh, DSP. Thereafter, statement of the accused was recorded under Section 

313 Cr.P.C. All the incriminating circumstances were put to the accused. He denied the same and 

pleaded innocence. 

The learned trial Court, after appreciation of the evidence, convicted and sentenced the 

petitioner as aforesaid vide judgment and order dated 01.09.2011 and 03.09.2011 respectively. 

Thereafter, the petitioner preferred an appeal, which was dismissed by the learned Sessions 

Judge, Faridabad vide judgment dated 21.08.2012.  Hence, this criminal revision. 

I have heard learned counsel for the petitioner and perused the record. Learned counsel 

for the petitioner contends that the petitioner has been falsely implicated in this case as the 

complainant and eye witness were inimical to the petitioner as they were having a dispute about 

15/16 years prior to the occurrence. Learned counsel further contends that there is no direct 
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evidence to connect the petitioner with the alleged offence in question, therefore, no prima facie 

case has been made out against the petitioner.  

I have considered the contentions of the learned counsel for the petitioner. From perusal 

of the judgments of both the Courts below, it transpires that the allegations against the petitioner 

are that the petitioner CRR No.66 of 2013 (O&M) 5 has manipulated the computerized Bank 

account i.e. the interest entries and thereby cheated the complainant bank by forging electronic 

record in order to cause wrongful loss to the bank and wrongful gain to himself to the tune of 

Rs.17,67,409/-. It has come in the documentary evidence on record that the petitioner has forged 

the entries in the bank record and had thereby withdrawn a sum of Rs.17,67,409/-. 

The learned Trial Court, after appreciating the evidence on record, observed as under:- 

“All the prosecution witnesses have supported the prosecution case. The complainant 

PW-1 A. Siridhar and PW-2 Girraj Parshad Sharma have stated that the accused Sanjay Kumar 

Bhatia was the employee of M/s Virmati Software and Telecommunication Ltd. and have been 

appointed in their branch for the purpose of maintenance of Software System supplied by them 

to the bank. This fact stand corroborated by document Ex.P36 wherein in Team No. 7 the name 

of Sanjay has been mentioned along with his residence number and Pager number. Sanjay 

Kumar Bhatia has also opened an A/c No. 21499 in their bank as evident from the account 

opening form of the accused Sanjay Bhatia placed on record as Ex.P37 along with specimen 

signature Card Ex.P38 and the cheque book issued register Ex.P39. Further, from the bank 

statement of account no. 21499, Ex.P8, on 1.8.2001, Rs.2,00,000/- was deposited by clearing and 

Rs.1/- as interest. However, nothing is mentioned as to what is the basis of clearing. In this 

regard, PW-3 Maheshwar Rath stated that during his inquiry he could not find any supporting 

document or CRR No.66 of 2013 (O&M) 6 voucher. The accused has also not produced any 

evidence in this regard. Rather, Ex.PW1/D shows that even the amount of Rs.2,00,000/- has been 

transferred from interest account on 1.8.2001. This fact stand corroborated by the report Ex.P34 

wherein it is mentioned that the accused has increased interest portion in his own account 

through first time creation to the extent of Rs.2,00,000/- and then applied interest along with 

other SB accounts and to mislead the Branch employees, the accused has splitted the transaction 

into 2 parts,one entry is shown as "by interest credit" as Rs.1.00 and the other by clearing as 
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Rs.2,00,000/- and, therefore, the amount of Rs.2,00,000/- is reflected in account statement as `by 

clearing'. 

Similarly, using the same modus operandi, accused forged the interest entries on 1.8.2002 

and 2.8.2000 and got deposited Rs.3,00,000/- and Rs.4,20,000/- respectively in his account. 

Further, the accused used the fixed deposit account of Sardar Jeet Singh. The account of 

Jeet Singh was opened on 8.3.2002 in which Rs.1,05,00,000/- was deposited on that day as 

evidence from Ex.P3. The statement of account of Sardar Jeet Singh Ex.P3 shows that an interest 

of Rs.8,46,489/- was deposited on 29.4.2002. However, the said interest calculated was an 

inflated one, calculated by forging entries to the effect as it the account of Jeet Singh was opened 

on a prior date. Thereafter, on 30.4.2002, accused transferred the amount of Rs.8,46,489/- to the 

account of Anil Kumar Sharma having A/c No. 22618 which had already been closed on 

1.9.2001,as evident from Ex.P5, by forging the CRR No.66 of 2013 (O&M) 7 entries to the 

effect that it was changed in bank records form closed to o pen and on 8.5.2002, 13.5.2002 and 

18.5.2002, accused transferred the amount of Rs.2,50,000/-, Rs. 2,50,000/- and Rs.3,47,409/- 

respectively from the account of Sh. Anil Kumar to his account as evident from Ex.P5 and Ex.P8 

to Ex.P12. Further, PW-3 Sh. Maheshwar Rath has stated as also evident from his report Ex.P34 

that the transaction rooted through theaccount of Jeet Singh and Anil Kumar has been deleted by 

accused using SRF files which were laterrecovered during Audit. 

Moreover, Ex.P15 to Ex.P24 show that accused has withdrawn the said amount through 

cheques. 

In this manner, the accused was dishonestly forged the bank records to cause wrongful 

loss to the bank and thereby cheated the concerned bank by depositing Rs.17,67,409/- in his 

account and thereafter withdrawing the same. Further, the accused has admitted his guilt vide 

letter Ex.P44. The signature of accused on the letter Ex.P44 are similar to the specimen 

signatures of accused on bank opening account card Ex.P38 as well as on the bank opening 

Account form Ex.P37. Furthermore, form the bare perusal of the confessional statement Ex.P44, 

it clearly emanates that the manner in which the word `Sanjay' has been written is similar to the 

manner word `Sanjay' has been written by accused below his signatures by accused as he even 

returned in his statement under Section 313 Cr.P.C. Moreover, Ex.P47 and Ex.P48 show that 
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accused has tendered Rs.3,50,000/- to the bank in respect of the amount fraudulently withdrawn 

by him which shows the CRR No.66 of 2013 (O&M) 8 admission of guilt as evident from 

Ex.P47 and Ex.P48. 

On the other hand, the learned counsel for the accused during the course of arguments has 

argued that no specific password was allotted to Sanjay. However, no doubt password is given to 

an employee but it has surfaced in the testimonies of the prosecution witnesses that for the 

purpose of maintaining the software and in this manner had access to all those files to which only 

the employee of the bank could have. Moreover, as the amount was deposited in the account of 

accused and he has withdrawn it, there is no force in said argument. 

In this manner, the accused had cheated the bank and forged the electronic record to 

cause wrongful loss to bank and wrongful gain to himself. The prosecution has been able to 

prove beyond reasonable doubts, the ingredients of Sections 420, 467, 468 and 471 IPC. 

Furthermore, clearly the accused has tampered with the computer source document and 

he has also altered in the information which resided in the computer resource and by doing so he 

committed the offences under Sections 65 and 66 of the Information & Technology Act, 2000. 

At the same time, it is pertinent to mention that although accused was having secured assess to 

electrical record of the bank and he forged the entries and cheated to cause wrongful gain to 

himself but there is no such breach of confidentiality by disclosing the information to any other 

person and as such he is acquitted of offence under Section 72 of the Information & Technology 

Act, 2000." 

The learned Trial Court was wholly justified in convicting the accused-petitioner and the 

learned Appellate court, as can be clearly seen, CRR No.66 of 2013 (O&M) 9 had not committed 

any error in upholding the conviction of the accused petitioner. Learned counsel for the 

petitioner failed to point out any misreading or non-reading of any evidence and could not point 

out any infirmity in the judgments of the Courts below. The findings of guilt, reached against the 

accused-petitioner does not, thus, suffer from any infirmity, legal or factual and does not 

therefore, warrant interference by this Court in exercise of this Court's revisional jurisdiction. 

In view of the above, there is no merit in the contentions raised by the learned counsel for 

the petitioner.Dismissed in limine. 
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Fatima Riswana v. State Rep. by ACP., Chennai & Ors.58 

Hon’ble Jugdes: N.Santosh Hegde, S.B.Sinha 

Facts of the case: 

 The appellant is a prosecution witness in S.C. No. 9 of 2004 wherein respondents 2 to 6 

are the accused facing trail for offences punishable under Section 67 of Information Technology 

Act, 2000 r/w Section 6 of Indecent Representation of Women (prohibition) Act, 1986, Under 

Section 5 & 6 of Immoral Traffic (Prevention) Act, 1956, Under Section 27 of Arms Act, 1959 

And Sections 120(B), 506(ii), 366, 306 & 376 I.P.C. The said trial relates to exploitation of 

certain men and women by one of the accused Dr. L. Prakash for the purpose of making 

pornographic photos and videos in various acts of sexual intercourse and thereafter selling them 

to foreign websites. The said session's trail came to be allotted to the foreign websites. The said 

Session's trail came to be allotted to the V Fast Track Court, Chennai which is presided over by a 

lay Judge. When the said trail before the V Fast Track Court was pending certain criminal 

revision petitions came to be filed by the accused against the orders made by the said court 

rejecting their applications for supply of copies of 74 Compact Discs (CDs) containing 

pornographic material on which the prosecution was relying. The said revision petitions were 

rejected by the Madras High Court by its order dated 13th February, 2004 holding that giving all 

the copies of the concerned CDs might give room for copying such illegal material and illegal 

circulation of the same, however the court pemitted the accused persons to peruse the CDs of 

their choice in the Chamber of the Judge in the presence of the accused, their advocates, the 

expert, the public prosecutor and the Investigating Office and also observed that the case be 

transferred to another court with competent jurisdiction presided by a male officer at the option 

of the sessions judge and taking the same the accused filed a revision petition for transferred to 

Fast track 4 court presided by the male officer and the Appellant alleged that she would be 

embarrassed if the trail is conducted by the male presiding officer and that the lady sessions 

judge didn't object or the trail of the case and the Appellant alleged that she would be 

embarrassed if the trail is conducted by the male presiding officer and that the Lady sessions 

judge didn't object to the trail of the case in the fast track 5 and the high court has erred in 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
58 AIR 2005 712 
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transferring the case and the Appellant was not given any opportunity of being heard before the 

alleged transfer.59 

The learned counsel for the respondents contended that the Appellant learned though 

arrayed as witness is for all purpose an accused herself and law officer appearing in the case had 

expressed their embarrassment in conducting the trial before a lady Presiding Officer and even 

though the Presiding Officer did not expressly record her embarrassment, it was apparent that 

she too wanted the case to be transferred to another court, therefore, this Court should not 

interfere with the order of transfer.  

Held: 

It was held that this appeal has to be allowed in the sessions case No. 9 of 2004 now 

transferred to the IV Fast Track Court Chennai be Transferred back to the V Fast Track Court, 

Chennai. 

National Association of Software and Service Companies v. Ajay Sood & Others60  

Hon’ble Judge: Pradeep Nandrajog 

In a landmark judgment the Delhi High Court declared `phishing’ on the internet to be an 

illegal act, entailing an injunction and recovery of damages.61 

Facts of the Case: 

The plaintiff in this case was the National Association of Software and Service 

Companies (Nasscom), India’s premier software association. The defendants were operating a 

placement agency involved in head-hunting and recruitment. In order to obtain personal data, 

which they could use for purposes of head-hunting, the defendants composed and sent e-mails to 

third parties in the name of Nasscom. 

Held: 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
59 Supra, at note 3. 
60 119 (2005) DLT 596 
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Elaborating on the concept of ‘phishing’, in order to lay down a precedent in India, the 

court stated that it is a form of internet fraud where a person pretends to be a legitimate 

association, such as a bank or an insurance company in order to extract personal data from a 

customer such as access codes, passwords, etc. Personal data so collected by misrepresenting the 

identity of the legitimate party is commonly used for the collecting party’s advantage. court also 

stated, by way of an example, that typical phishing scams involve persons who pretend to 

represent online banks and siphon cash from e-banking accounts after conning consumers into 

handing over confidential banking details. 

The Delhi HC stated that even though there is no specific legislation in India to penalise 

phishing, it held phishing to be an illegal act by defining it under Indian law as “a 

misrepresentation made in the course of trade leading to confusion as to the source and origin of 

the e-mail causing immense harm not only to the consumer but even to the person whose name, 

identity or password is misused". The court held the act of phishing as passing off and tarnishing 

the plaintiff’s image. 

The high court recognised the trademark rights of the plaintiff and passed an ex-parte ad-

interim injunction restraining the defendants from using the trade name or any other name 

deceptively similar to Nasscom. The court further restrained the defendants from holding 

themselves out as being associates or a part of Nasscom. 

The court appointed a commission to conduct a search at the defendants’ premises. Two 

hard disks of the computers from which the fraudulent e-mails were sent by the defendants to 

various parties were taken into custody by the local commissioner appointed by the court. 

The offending e-mails were then downloaded from the hard disks and presented as 

evidence in court. 

During the progress of the case, it became clear that the defendants in whose names the 

offending e-mails were sent were fictitious identities created by an employee on defendants’ 

instructions, to avoid recognition and legal action. On discovery of this fraudulent act, the 

fictitious names were deleted from the array of parties as defendants in the case. 
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Subsequently, the defendants admitted their illegal acts and the parties settled the matter 

through the recording of a compromise in the suit proceedings. According to the terms of 

compromise, the defendants agreed to pay a sum of Rs1.6 million to the plaintiff as damages for 

violation of the plaintiff’s trademark rights. The court also ordered the hard disks seized from the 

defendants’ premises to be handed over to the plaintiff who would be the owner of the hard 

disks. 

This case achieves clear milestones: It brings the act of “phishing” into the ambit of 

Indian laws even in the absence of specific legislation; It clears the misconception that there is no 

“damages culture” in India for violation of IP rights; This case reaffirms IP owners’ faith in the 

Indian judicial system’s ability and willingness to protect intangible property rights and send a 

strong message to IP owners that they can do business in India without sacrificing their IP rights. 

Times Internet v. M/s Belize Domian Whois Service Ltd & Others.62 

Hon’ble Judge: V. K. Jain 

Facts of the case:63 

Indiatimes.com is an e-commerce portal owned by the plaintiff company, Times Internet. 

Since 2000, the website offers a wide range of services including travel services through 

travel.indiatimes.com. The defendant, M/s Belize Domain Whois Service Ltd & Others, 

registered Indiatimestravel.com in 2005. It carries some sponsored links. 

  Arguing that “indiatimestravel.com” is deceptively similar to that of platintiff's registered 

domain name "travel.indiatimes.com", plaintiff submitted that the defendant was trying to take 

advantage of its brand name. The plaintiff, citing revenue figures, submitted that its website 

enjoys reputation and signifies the services and products marketed through the website. The 

plaintiff sought for an injunction restraining the defendants from cyber squatting, using any other 

identical or deceptively similar name and transferring the domain name “indiatimestravel.com” 

to the plaintiff. 

 Held: 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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The Court referred to the Supreme Court judgment in Satyam Infoway Ltd. vs. Sifynet 

Solutions Pvt. Ltd. 64which had a similar fact situation. In the instant case, Supreme Court 

observed that “a domain name .......is chosen as an instrument of commercial enterprise not only 

because it facilitates the ability of consumers to navigate the Internet to find websites they are 

looking for, but also at the same time, serves to identify and distinguish the business itself, or its 

goods or services, and to specify its corresponding online Internet location. Consequently a 

domain name as an address must, of necessity, be peculiar and unique and where a domain name 

is used in connection with a business, the value of maintaining an exclusive identity becomes 

critical.” Comparing both the domain name and the trademark, Supreme Court held that a 

domain name can have all the characteristics of a trademark. Accordingly, domain names can be 

protected under Trademarks Act, 1999. 

In the instant case, the High Court observed that the plaintiff owned the mark 

“indiatimes.com” way before the defendant created the mark “indiatimestravel.com”. Further, 

“indiatimes” which was the essential component of the domain name, was used by the defendant 

without any explanation. This can confuse an ordinary netizen and can result in associating 

defendant's portal with that of the plaintiff company. The use of impugned web portal by the 

defendant may also jeopardise the reputation of the plaintiff if the products and services which 

are advertised through the website lack quality. Further, as the defendant did not appear before 

the Court and contest the claims of the plaintiff, defendant's conduct was held to be in mala fide. 

Considering the above mentioned aspects, the instant dispute was held to be a clear case of 

“passing off”. As the plaintiff was held to have the sole right to use the words “indiatimes”, 

defendant was directed to transfer “indiatimestravel.com” to plaintiff. 

 

 

 

 

 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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PROTECTION OF WITNESS AND INFORMANTS 

Introduction: 

In India, in most of the cases involving rich influential persons or corrupt politicians, 

crucial witnesses turn hostile, making the rule of law, a mockery. There is an urgent need to 

bring forth a bill of right to preserve and protect victims’ and witnesses’ rights, and due process. 

This is necessary to ensure that such persons participate in the legal process without fear and 

apprehension, so that justice can be assured. The role of a witness is very important in a trial. He 

is an indispensable aid in the justice dispensation system in any civilized society. Jeremy 

Bentham has also argued that witnesses are the eyes and ears of justice. Their each and every 

statement is very important as it has a magical force to change the course of the whole case.  

The greatest weakness of our criminal justice system is that it has become dogged and 

does not function in a fluent fashion resulting in prompt determination of the guilt or innocence 

of those charged with crime and the prime reason for this weakness is the fact that prosecution 

witnesses retract from statements made earlier before the police or the magistrate and turn hostile 

in the Court. Witnesses are turning hostile with predictable regularity in cases involving heinous 

crimes or high profile personalities due to external pressures and fear of substantial harm to 

person or property, thereby leading to the failures of the criminal justice system. 

Lack of witness protection & its nakedness: 

The whole issue of hostile witness came under sharp public scrutiny after the judgment in 

the landmark Jessica Lal65 and Best Bakery66 cases. These cases came as an eye-opener showing 

glaring defects in the Indian judicial system. The complete lack of witness protection in India is 

evidenced in the case regarding the encounter killings of Sohrabuddin Sheikh and Kauser Bi.  In 

a Kafkaesque manner, Tulsiram Prajapati – a witness to Sheikh’s killing - had predicted his own 

death. Prajapati, who was lodged in Udaipur jail, repeatedly petitioned the authorities he feared 

for his life and safety since he was a material witness in the killing of Sohrabuddin and Kauser 

Bi, and that his death was imminent. He had written letters to the National Human Rights 

Commission and made oral appeals to courts maintaining if something was not done to protect 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
65 (2010) 6 SCC 1 
66 (2004) 4 SCC 158 
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him, then he would be killed in a fake encounter. Eventually, he was shot dead by the police on 

the allegation of him trying to escape custody.  

Measures taken 

In fact the Law Commission recognised the need for the same and came up with a 

consultation paper on witness protection on 13, August, 2004. It said that there are two broad 

aspects to the need of witness protection in India. 

a) To ensure that the evidence of witnesses is protected from the danger of them turning hostile. 

b) To relieve the physical and mental vulnerability of the witnesses. 

It said that any law for witness protection must take into account both the points. The first aspect 

has received attention in the form of proposed amendment to section 164 of the Cr. P C. In its 

178th Report (2001), the Law Commission recommended the insertion of section 164A in the Cr. 

P. C. to provide for recording of the statement of material witnesses in the presence of 

Magistrates on oath where the offences were punishable with imprisonment of 10 years and 

more. On the basis of this recommendation, the Criminal Law (Amendment) Bill, 2003 was 

introduced. 

However, the second aspect has hardly received any attention in India. The Law 

Commission looked for the second aspect in the consultation paper on witness protection and has 

suggested measures like witness anonymity and physical protection to the witnesses. It also drew 

attention to special statues on terrorism like TADA and POTA which have provisions for 

protecting the identity and address of witnesses; and suggested a general law dealing with 

witness anonymity be implemented. 

In August 2006, the Law Commission, through its seminal 198th Report, submitted 

detailed recommendations to develop a comprehensive witness protection program. The report 

had exhaustively examined earlier Law Commission Reports and the jurisprudence in this field. 

 It recommended concrete steps and amendments to criminal law that would strengthen witness 

protection programmes. Like the ICC, the Law Commission had also recommended witness 

protection at all stages of investigation, and trial and even post-trial. But like other reports and 
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recommendations, there has been very little action on its findings, while witness intimidation and 

harassment continue. 

Although, witness protection is not panacea for the criminal justice system, still all these 

incidents speak volume about the inadequacy of the law relating to the protection of witnesses 

and presses for the need of a witness protection regime. There had been few reports and few 

landmark case laws pertaining to ‘witness protection’. Few such cases decided by the Supreme 

Court have been discussed hereinafter. 

Sajjan Kumar vs C.B.I67 

Hon’ble Judges: P. Sathasivam, Anil R. Dave 

Facts of the case 

The present case arises out of 1984 anti-Sikh Riot cases in which thousands of Sikhs 

were killed. Delhi Police has made this case a part of FIR No. 416 of 1984 registered at Police 

Station Delhi Cantt. In this FIR, 24 complaints were investigated pertaining to more than 60 

deaths in the area. As many as 5 charge-sheets were filed by Delhi Police relating to 5 deaths 

which resulted in acquittals. One supplementary charge-sheet about robbery, rioting etc. was also 

filed which also ended in acquittal. The investigation pertaining to the death of family members 

of Smt. Jagdish Kaur PW-1, was reopened by the anti-Riot Cell of Delhi Police in the year 2002 

and after investigation, a Closure Report was filed in the Court on 15/22.12.2005. 

After filing of the Closure Report in the present case, on 31.07.2008, a Status Report was 

filed by the Delhi Police before the Metropolitan Magistrate, Patiala House Court, New Delhi. 

Pursuant to the recommendation of Justice Nanavati Commission, the Government of India 

entrusted the investigation to the Central Bureau of Investigation (hereinafter referred to as 

"CBI") on 24.10.2005. On receipt of the said communication, the respondent-CBI registered a 

formal FIR on 22.11.2005. The Closure Report was filed by Delhi Police on 

15.12.2005/22.12.2005, when a case had already been registered by the CBI on 22.11.2005 and 

the documents had already been transferred to the respondent-CBI. 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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After fresh investigation, CBI filed charge-sheet bearing No. 1/2010 in the present case 

on 13.01.2010. After committal, charges were framed on 15.05.2010. At the same time, the 

appellant has also filed a petition for discharge raising various grounds in support of his claim. 

Since he was not successful before the Special Court, he filed a revision before the High Court 

and by the impugned order dated 19.07.2010, after finding no merit in the case of the appellant, 

the High Court dismissed his criminal revision and directed the Trial Court for early completion 

of the trial since the same is pending from 1984. 

From this case several instances were drawn where witnesses have turned hostile. Some 

of the paragraphs can be quoted from the judgment.  

1. Witness Jagsher Singh, first cousin of Jagdish Kaur, in his statement recorded by the CBI 

on 07.11.2007 i.e. after a gap of 23 years, mentioned the name of the appellant and his 

threat to Sikhs as well as to Hindus who had given shelter to Sikhs. According to Mr. 

Lalit, this witness mentioned the name of the appellant for the first time before the CBI 

nearly after 23 years of the incident which, according to him, cannot be relied upon. 

2. The other witness relied on by the prosecution in support of framing of charges is Nirprit 

Kaur PW-10. It is pointed out that she also made certain statements to the CBI after a 

gap of 23 years and she did not mention the name of the appellant except stating that one 

Balwan Khokhar who is alleged to be a nephew of Sajjan Kumar, came to her house for 

discussing employment for her nephew as driver. 

3. It is the stand of Jagdish Kaur PW-1, the prime prosecution witness, that apart from her 

statement dated 03.11.1984, she has not made any statement to Delhi Police at any stage. 

However, it is also the claim of the C.B.I. that the alleged statements of Jagdish Kaur 

PW-1, dated 20.01.1985 and 31.12.1992 are doubtful. Likewise, Nirprit Kaur PW-10, in 

her statement under Section 161 Cr.P.C., has denied having made any statement before 

the Delhi Police. 

Held: 

It was held that at the stage of framing of charge under S. 228 or while considering 

discharge petition filed under S. 227, it is not for Magistrate or Judge concerned to analyse all 

the materials including pros and cons, reliability or acceptability thereof, etc. - It is at the trial, 
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that Judge concerned has to appreciate evidentiary value, credibility or otherwise of the material, 

veracity of various documents and is free to take a decision one way or the other - On facts held, 

though PWs 1, 2, 8 and 10 did not whisper a word about involvement of appellant in anti-Sikh 

riots of 1984 at the earliest point of time yet it cannot be presumed that there is no case to 

proceed against appellant - Hence, it could not be concluded that framing of charges against 

appellant by trial Judge (23 yrs later) was either bad in law or abuse of process of law or without 

any material basis - Inasmuch as trial related to incident of 1984, trial Judge directed to make 

sincere efforts for expeditious disposal of case. 

Swaran Singh v. State of Punjab68 

Hon’ble Judges: Ruma Pal, D.P. Wadhwa 

 

Facts and background of the case 

These appeals have been preferred from the decision of the Punjab & Haryana High 

Court holding the appellants guilty under Section 302 and Section 302/34 of the Indian Penal 

Code (IPC) in connection with the death of Shamsher Singh and Amar Singh. The Additional 

Sessions Judge, Ludhiana as well as the High Court accepted the case of the prosecution and 

found that the guilt of the appellants was established beyond reasonable doubt. 

The case of the prosecution was that on 24th April, 1986 at about 7.30 p.m., Karnail Singh 

(PW3) was driving a Car with Gurmel Singh (PW4) sitting next to him and Shamsher Singh and 

Amar Singh seated in the rear. A truck started continuously blowing its horn behind the car. 

Shamsher Singh asked PW 3 to stop the car which PW 3 did. Shamsher Singh got down from the 

car and started looking at the truck to identify who the driver was. Swaran Singh opened the left 

window of the truck and shot Shamsher Singh in the chest with his 12 Bore Double Barrel Gun. 

Shamsher Singh died on the spot. On hearing the shot, Amar Singh got down from the car and 

went to the back of the truck. Then Jagjit Singh, his son Lovely as well as one Amrik Singh got 

out of the truck. Jagjit Singh fired at Amar Singh hitting Amar Singh in the chest and he died. 

PW 3 and PW 4 both raised an alarm whereupon the assailants fled away firing shots in the air as 

they ran.  

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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The motive for the crime alleged by the prosecution was that Swaran Singh’s truck had 

been de-listed from the Truck Union of Samrala by Shamsher Singh who was the President of 

the Truck Union, Samrala and also that there was rivalry between Jagjit Singh and Shamsher 

Singh because of the forthcoming elections to the President’s Office of the truck union. After this 

incident, Karnail Singh (PW 3) lodged a First Information Report at the Police Station, Samrala. 

According to SI Karnail Singh, S.H.O. P.S. Samrala (PW 5), he found Satish Kumar who had 

been wounded at the spot and sent him to the Civil Hospital, Samrala. 

Swaran Singh claimed that he ran away leaving his licenced loaded gun, the cartridges 

along with the belt and his cleaner behind in the truck. He further stated that the cleaner, Satish 

received gun shots at the hands of the deceased. He claimed that the eye witnesses were 

procured. Jagjit Singh’s defence was that he had been falsely implicated because of his rivalry 

with Jagjit Singh in relation to the truck union. Amrik Singh and Mittar Pal Singh’s defence was 

that they were not present at the spot at all. They examined three witnesses, namely, the Ahlmad, 

the Clerk (Complaints) and the Clerk (Records) of the Deputy Commissioners office of Ludhiana 

to prove that they had moved an application before the concerned authorities for having been 

falsely implicated in the case. The Trial Court acquitted Amrik Singh and Mittar Pal Singh on 

the ground that the prosecution had not been able to establish their guilt. The Trial Court, 

however, convicted Swaran Singh under Section 302 IPC for the murder of Shamsher Singh and 

under Section 302/34 IPC for the murder of Amar Singh. 

Jagjit Singh was convicted under Section 302 IPC for the murder of Amar Singh and 

under Section 302/34 IPC for the murder of Shamsher Singh. Both the accused were sentenced to 

life imprisonment and to pay a fine of Rs.5,000/- or in default to further undergo rigorous 

imprisonment for one year in respect of each of the offences. 

Three appeals were preferred before the High Court of Punjab and Haryana. The first 

appeal was filed by Swaran Singh against his conviction, (Criminal Appeal No. 315/DB of 

1991), the second appeal was preferred by Jagjit Singh against his conviction, (Criminal Appeal 

No. 204/DB of 1991), and the third appeal was preferred by the State of Punjab (Criminal 

Appeal No. 270/DB of 1992) against the acquittal of Mittar Pal Singh. The High Court disposed 

of all the appeals by a common judgment dated 18th September 1992. The High Court dismissed 

the States appeal against the acquittal of Mittar Pal Singh but affirmed the findings of the Trial 

Court in respect of Jagjit Singh and Swaran Singh. However, the sentences were altered by 
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setting aside the sentences of fine imposed. Being aggrieved by the decision of the High Court, 

Swaran Singh and Jagjit Singh have preferred appeals before this Court. 

Contentions of Appellants 

It is contended before us by both the appellants that both the Courts had erred in relying 

on the eye witnesses, namely, PW 3 and PW 4 as their account of the incident in so far as it 

related to Mittar Pal Singh had been disbelieved by both the courts. It is further submitted that 

the evidence of the eye witnesses that the deceased had not drunk alchohol was belied by the 

Report of the FSL. It is also pointed out that Dilbagh Singh from whom inquiries regarding 

purbias were allegedly sought to be made by the deceased had not been examined as a witness. It 

is further contended that the investigating officer’s evidence was inconsistent with the evidence 

on record. 

 

Issues raised before Court 

Whether the contentions made by the Appellants before the Court with respect to 

prosecution witnesses were valid? 

  

Decision and observation of the Court  

The court said that the chronology of the series of occurrences showed that the crime had 

taken place at the time as claimed by the prosecution and testified to by the eye witnesses and 

that being so, the lodgment of the F.I.R by PW 3 promptly, with a detailed account of the 

incident, renders improbable the possibility of the fabrication of the involvement of the 

appellants. Further, the court said that under these unambiguous confirmatory circumstances, 

there is no reason to interfere with the reliance placed by both the Courts on PWs 3 and 4’s direct 

evidence of the part placed by the appellants in the perpetration of the crime.  

Finally the court said that, the appellants’ version of the incident has not been 

substantiated at all and this aspect has been dealt with at length by the High Court to which the 

court agreed. Thus, the court found no lacunae in the reasoning of the High Court either on facts 

or law and dismissed the appeals and asked police to take them into custody forthwith to serve 

out the sentences imposed on them if they are on bail. 

The court also observed that “A witness has to visit the Court at his own cost, every time 

the case is differed for a different date. Nowadays it has become more or less fashionable to 
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repeatedly adjourn a case. Eventually the witness is tired and gives up.” It also observed that the 

procedures being followed are one of reasons for a person to abhor becoming a witness. 

The Court further held that while adjourning a case without any valid cause, a Court 

unwittingly becomes party to miscarriage of justice and most witnesses have to wait their turn 

out and when their time for deposing or the giving of evidence comes, the lawyers examine and 

cross examine them as if they themselves are the perpetrators of the crime. 

 

Zahira Habibulla H. Sheikh and Anr v. State of Gujarat and Ors.  

(Best Bakery Case)69 

Hon’ble Judges: Doraiswamy Raju, Arijit Pasayat 

 

Facts of the case: 

The present appeals had several unusual features and some of them posed very serious 

questions of far reaching consequences. The case is commonly to be known as "Best Bakery 

Case". One of the appeals was by Zahira who claimed to be an eye-witness to macabre killings 

allegedly as a result of communal frenzy. She made statements and filed affidavits after 

completion of trial and judgment by the trial Court, alleging that during trial she was forced to 

depose falsely and turn hostile on account of threats and coercion. That raised an important issue 

regarding witness protection besides the quality and credibility of the evidence before Court. The 

other rather unusual question interestingly raised by the State of Gujarat itself relates to improper 

conduct of trial by the public prosecutor. 

The appeals are against judgment of the Gujarat High Court in Criminal Appeal No. 956 

of 2003 upholding acquittal of respondents-accused by the trial Court. Along with said appeal, 

two other petitions namely Criminal Miscellaneous Application No. 10315 of 2003 and Criminal 

Revision No. 583 of 2003 were disposed of. The prayers made by the State for adducing 

additional evidence under Section 391 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973 and/or for 

directing retrial were rejected. Consequentially, prayer for examination of witnesses under 

Section 311 of the Code was also rejected. 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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In 2002, a business concern known as "Best Bakery" at Vadodara was burnt down by an 

unruly mob of large number of people. In the ghastly incident 14 persons died. The attacks were 

stated to be a part of retaliatory action to avenge killing of 56 persons burnt to death in the 

Sabarmati Express. Zahira was the main eye-witness who lost family members including 

helpless women and innocent children in the gruesome incident. Many persons other than Zahira 

were also eye-witnesses. Accused persons were the perpetrators of the crime. After investigation 

charge sheet was filed in June 2002. 

During trial the purported eye-witnesses resiled from the statements made during 

investigation. Faulty and biased investigation as well as perfunctory trial were said to have 

marred the sanctity of the entire exercise undertaken to bring the culprits to books.  By judgment 

dated 27.6.2003, the trial Court directed acquittal of the accused persons. Zahira appeared before 

National Human Rights Commission (in short the 'NHRC') stating that she was threatened by 

powerful politicians not to depose against the accused persons. 

On 7.8.2003 an appeal not up to the mark and neither in conformity with the required 

care, appears to have been filed by the State against the judgment of acquittal before the Gujarat 

High Court. NHRC moved this Court and its Special leave petition has been treated as a petition 

under Article 32 of the Constitution of India, 1950. Zahira and another organisation – Citizens 

for Justice and Peace filed SLP (Crl.) No. 3770 of 2003 challenging judgment of acquittal passed 

by the trial Court. One Sahera Banu (sister of appellant-Zahira) filed the afore-noted Criminal 

Revision No. 583 of 2003 before the High Court questioning the legality of the judgment 

returning a verdict of acquittal. Appellant-State filed an application (Criminal Misc. Application 

NO.7677 of 2003) in terms of Sections 391 and 311 of the Code for permission to adduce 

additional evidence and for examination of certain persons as witness. Criminal Miscellaneous 

Application No. 9825 of 2003 was filed by the State to bring on record a document and to treat it 

as corroborative piece of evidence. By the impugned judgment the appeal, revision and the 

applications were dismissed and rejected. 

 

Contentions of Appellants: 

The State and Zahira had requested for a fresh trial primarily on the following grounds: 

1. When a large number of witnesses have turned hostile it should have raised a reasonable 

suspicion that the witnesses were being threatened or coerced. The public prosecutor did 
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not take any step to protect the star witness who was to be examined on 17.5.2003 

specially when four out of seven injured witnesses had on 9.5.2003 resiled from the 

statements made during investigation.  

2. Zahira Sheikh - the Star witness had specifically stated on affidavit about the threat given 

to her and the reason for her not coming out with the truth during her examination before 

Court on 17.5.2003. 

3. The public prosecutor was not acting in a manner befitting the position held by him. He 

even did not request the Trial court for holding the trial in camera when a large number 

of witnesses were resiling from the statements made during investigation. 

4. The trial court should have exercised power under section 311 of the Cr. P. C. and 

recalled and re-examined witnesses as their evidence was essential to arrive at the truth 

and a just decision in the case.  

5. The power under Section 165 of the Indian Evidence Act, 1872 was not resorted to at all 

and that also had led to miscarriage of justice. 

6. The public prosecutor did not examine the injured witnesses. 

7. Both, the public prosecutor as well as the court was not only oblivious but also failed to 

discharge their duties. 

8. Manipulation by the prosecution to drop witnesses by declaring them of unsound mind. 

9. According to the appellant-Zahira there was no fair trial and the entire effort during trial 

and at all relevant times before also was to see that the accused persons got acquitted.  

 

Contentions of Accused persons: 

The accused persons put forth the following contentions before the Supreme Court: 

1. For the purpose of exercise of power under Section 391 of the Code, the Court has to 

come to a conclusion about the necessity for additional evidence which only could be 

done after examining evidence on record. In other words the Court must arrive at a 

conclusion that the existing material is insufficient for the purpose of arriving at a just 

decision. 

2. The High Court has undertaken an elaborate exercise for the purpose of arriving at the 

conclusion as to whether additional evidence was necessary after examining every 

relevant aspect. It has come to a definite conclusion that the trial of the case was fair, 
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satisfactory and neither any illegalities were committed nor any evidence was wrongly 

accepted or rejected.  

3. The extraneous factors have been kept out of consideration as these may have influenced 

the witnesses in changing their evidence and giving a go by to substantive evidence 

tendered in Court. A need for giving finality to trial in criminal proceedings is paramount 

as otherwise prejudice is caused to the accused persons and in fact it would be a negation 

of the fundamental rule of law to make the accused to undergo trial once over which has 

the effect of derailing system of justice.  

4. Elaborating the points it was submitted that if the Court feels that additional evidence is 

not necessary after analysing the existing evidence and the nature of materials sought to 

be brought in, it cannot be said that the High Court has acted in a manner contrary to law. 

5. In fact, the High Court has felt that extraneous materials are now sought to be introduced 

and it is not known as to whether the present statement of the witnesses is correct or what 

was stated before the trial Court originally was the truth.  

6. The Court analysed the evidence of the material witnesses and noticed several relevant 

factors to arrive at this conclusion. The necessity and need for additional evidence has to 

be determined in the context of the need for a just decision and it cannot be used for 

filling up a lacuna. 

 

Issues raised before Court: 

1. Whether the High Court has not considered the stand taken by the appellant and the State 

of Gujarat in the proper perspective? 

2. Whether the High Court was right in surprisingly accepting the extreme stand of learned 

counsel for the accused persons that under Section 386 of the Code the Court can only 

peruse the record of the case brought before it in terms of Section 385(2) of the Code and 

the appeal has to be decided on the basis of such record only and no other record can be 

entertained or taken into consideration while deciding the appeal? 

3. Whether the High Court was correct, while belittling and glossing over the serious 

infirmities and pitfalls in the investigation as well as trial, by readily accepting the said 

stand and holding that an attempt was being made to bring on record the affidavits by an 

indirect method, though they were not part of the record of the trial Court? 
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4. Whether the High Court did not keep in view the true scope and ambit of Section 391 as 

also the need or desirability to resort to Section 311 of the Code and virtually rendered 

the provisions otiose by nullifying the very object behind those provisions? 

5. Whether the conclusion of the High Court that the appeal can be decided only on the 

basis of records brought before the High Court in terms of Section 385(2) of Cr. P. C. and 

would this render Section 391 of the Cr. P. C. and other allied powers conferred upon 

Courts to render justice completely nugatory? 

6. Whether it was unfortunate that the High Court went to the extent of saying that the 

appellant-Zahira has been used by some persons with oblique motives? 

7. Whether a fresh investigation should be directed as investigation already conducted was 

not done in a fair manner and the prosecutor did not act fairly? 

 

Decision and observation of the Court: 

The Supreme Court showing serious concern said that when the investigating agency 

helps the accused, the witnesses are threatened to depose falsely and prosecutor acts in a manner 

as if he was defending the accused, and the Court was acting merely as an onlooker and there is 

no fair trial at all, justice becomes the victim. The court further said that after having clearly 

concluded that the investigation was faulty and there were serious doubts about the genuineness 

of the investigation, it would have been proper for the High Court to accept the prayer made for 

additional evidence and/or re-trial and abrupt conclusions drawn about false implication not only 

cannot stand the test of scrutiny but also lack judicious approach and objective consideration, as 

is expected of a Court. 

The court also said that if the State's machinery fails to protect citizen's life, liberties and 

property and the investigation is conducted in a manner to help the accused persons, it is but 

appropriate that this Court should step in to prevent undue miscarriage of justice that is 

perpetrated upon the victims and their family members. 

The court then said that the petitioner's Grounds is to be tested on this touchstone bearing 

in mind the rule that normally the complainant has the right to choose any court having 

jurisdiction and the accused cannot dictate where the case against him should be tried. Even so, 

the process of justice should not harass the parties and from that angle the court may weigh the 

circumstances. A more serious ground which disturbs us in more ways than one is the alleged 
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absence of congenial atmosphere for a fair and impartial trial. It is becoming a frequent 

phenomenon in our country that court proceedings are being disturbed by rude hoodlums and 

unruly crowds, jostling, jeering or cheering and disrupting the judicial hearing with menaces, 

noises and worse. This tendency of toughs and street roughs to violate the serenity of court is 

obstructive of the course of justice and must surely be stamped out.  

The court also said that likewise, the safety of the person of an accused or complainant is 

an essential condition for participation in a trial and where that is put in peril by commotion, 

tumult or threat on account of pathological conditions prevalent in a particular venue, the request 

for a transfer may not be dismissed summarily. It causes disquiet and concern to a court of 

justice if a person seeking justice is unable to appear, present one's case, bring one's witnesses or 

adduce evidence. Indeed, it is the duty of the court to assure propitious conditions which conduce 

to comparative tranquility at the trial. Turbulent conditions putting the accused's life in danger or 

creating chaos inside the court hall may jettison public justice. If this vice is peculiar to a 

particular place and is persistent the transfer of the case from that place may become necessary. 

Likewise, if there is general consternation or atmosphere of tension or raging masses of people in 

the entire region taking sides and polluting the climate, vitiating the necessary neutrality to hold 

detached judicial trial, the situation may be said to have deteriorated to such an extent as to 

warrant transfer. 

The court considering that “even if justice were done it would not be ‘seen to be done’”, 

it must approach the facts of the present case without excitement, exaggeration or eclipse of a 

sense of proportion. The court said that the petitioner's case of great insecurity or molestation to 

the point of threat to life is, so far as the record bears out, difficult to accept, but then it said that 

Manageable solutions must not sweep this Court off its feet into granting an easy transfer but 

uncontrollable or perilous deterioration will surely persuade us to shift the venue. It further stated 

that the Courts have to take a participatory role in a trial. They are not expected to be tape 

recorders to record whatever is being stated by the witnesses. 

The court then said that the entire approach of the High Court suffers from serious 

infirmities, its conclusions lopsided and lacks proper or judicious application of mind. 

Arbitrariness is found writ large on the approach as well as the conclusions arrived at in the 

judgment under challenge, in unreasonably keeping out relevant evidence from being brought on 

record. Right from the beginning, the stand of the appellant- Zahira was that the investigating 
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agency was trying to help the accused persons and so was the public prosecutor. If the 

investigation was faulty, it was not the fault of the victims or the witnesses. If the same was done 

in a manner with the object of helping the accused persons as it appears to be apparent from what 

has transpired so far, it was an additional ground just and reasonable as well for accepting the 

additional evidence. 

The fees and all other expenses of the public prosecutor who shall be entitled to 

assistance of one lawyer of his choice shall initially be paid by the State of Maharashtra, who 

will thereafter be entitled to get the same reimbursed from the State of Gujarat. The State of 

Gujarat shall ensure that all the documents and records are forthwith transferred to the Court 

nominated by the Chief Justice of the Bombay High Court. The State of Gujarat shall also ensure 

that the witnesses are produced before the concerned Court whenever they are required to attend 

that Court. Necessary protection shall be afforded to them so that they can depose freely without 

any apprehension of threat or coercion from any person. In case, any witness asks for protection, 

the State of Maharashtra shall also provide such protection as deemed necessary, in addition to 

the protection to be provided for by the State of Gujarat. All expenses necessary for the trial shall 

be initially borne by the State of Maharashtra, to be reimbursed by the State of Gujarat. 

Since we have directed re-trial it would be desirable to the investigating agency or those 

supervising the investigation, to act in terms of Section 173(8) of the Code, as the circumstances 

seem to or may so warrant. The Director General of Police, Gujarat is directed to monitor re-

investigation, if any, to be taken up with the urgency and utmost sincerity, as the circumstances 

warrant. If the accused persons were not on bail at the time of conclusion of the trial, they shall 

go back to custody, if on the other hand they were on bail that order shall continue unless 

modified by the concerned Court. Since we are directing a re-trial, it would be appropriate if 

same is taken up on day-to-day basis keeping in view the mandate of Section 309 of the Code 

and completed by the end of December 2004. 

The Supreme Court, while transferring the case to Mumbai, finally directed that: ÒThe 

State of Gujarat shall also ensure that the witnesses are produced before the concerned court, 

whenever they are required to attend them, so that they can depose freely without any 

apprehension of threat or coercion from any person. In case any witness asks for protection, the 

State of Maharashtra shall also provide such protection as deemed necessary, in addition to the 
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protection to be provided for by the State of Gujarat.” The appeals were thus allowed on the 

terms and to the extent as mentioned by the Supreme Court. 

 

Directions by the Supreme Court: 

The following directions were given by the court:  

1. The re-trial shall be done by a Court under the jurisdiction of Bombay High Court. The 

Chief Justice of the said High Court is requested to fix up a Court of Competent 

jurisdiction.  

2. It would be desirable to the investigating agency or those supervising the investigation, to 

act in terms of Section 173(8) of the Code, as the circumstances seem to or may so 

warrant.  

3. The Director General of Police, Gujarat is directed to monitor re-investigation, if any, to 

be taken up with the urgency and utmost sincerity, as the circumstances warrant. 

4. Sub-section (8) of Section 173 of the Code permits further investigation, and even de 

hors any direction from the Court as such, it is open to the police to conduct proper 

investigation, even after the Court took cognizance of any offence on the strength of a 

police report earlier submitted. 

 

 

Zahira Habibullah Sheikh & Anr v. State of Gujarat & Ors.70 

Hon’ble Judges: Arijit Pasayat, H.K. Sema 

 

Facts of the case: 

This case has its matrix in an appeal filed by Zahira Habibullah hereinafter referred to as 

'Zahira and Another namely, Teesta Setelwad' and another appeal filed by the State of Gujarat. In 

the appeals filed before this Court, the basic focus was on the absence of an atmosphere 

conducive to fair trial. Zahira who was projected as the star witness made a grievance that she 

was intimidated, threatened and coerced to depart from the truth and to make statement in Court 

which did not reflect the reality. The trial Court on the basis of the statements made by the 

witnesses in Court directed acquittal of the accused persons. 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
(+"[Decided on: 8th March, 2006] 
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Before the Gujarat High Court an application under Section 391 of the Code of Criminal 

Procedure, 1973 highlighting the necessity for accepting additional evidence was filed. The 

foundation was the statement made by Zahira. The High Court did not accept the prayer and that 

is why the appeals came to be filed in this Court. By judgment dated 12th April, 2004 in Zahira 

Habibullah Sheikh & Anr. v. State of Gujarat and Ors. [(2004) 4 SCC 158], many directions 

were given. A review petition (Zahira Habibulla H. Sheikh and Anr. v. State of Gujarat and Ors. 

[2004 (5) SCC 353] was filed by the State of Gujarat which was disposed of by order dated 7th 

May, 2004. 

While the trial was on before a Court in Maharashtra pursuant to this Court's direction, it 

appears Zahira gave a press statement in the presence of some government officials that what she 

had stated before the trial Court in Gujarat earlier was correct. A petition was filed before this 

Court alleging that Zahira's statement was nothing but contempt of this Court. At a press 

conference held on 3.11.2004 few days before the scheduled appearance of the witnesses in the 

trial, she had changed her version, disowned the statements made in this Court, and before 

various bodies like National Human Rights Commission. Considering the petition filed orders 

were passed on 10.1.2005 and subsequently on 21.2.2005, certain directions were given. 

 

Issues raised before Court: 

Whether Zahira has committed contempt of court and if yes then what and how the 

requisite punishment can be imposed on her? 

 

Decision, observation and directions of the Court: 

 The Supreme Court concluded that Zahira has committed contempt of this Court and thus 

gave directions along with important observations on ‘witness protection’. The applications were 

accordingly disposed of by the court. 

The court observed that the State has a definite role to play in protecting the witnesses, to 

start with at least in sensitive cases involving those in power, who has political patronage and 

could wield muscle and money power, to avert trial getting tainted and derailed and truth 

becoming a casualty. As a protector of its citizens it has to ensure that during a trial in Court the 

witness could safely depose truth without any fear of being haunted by those against whom he 

had deposed.  
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Further it said that every State has a constitutional obligation and duty to protect the life 

and liberty of its citizens. That is the fundamental requirement for observance of the rule of law. 

There cannot be any deviation from this requirement because of any extraneous factors like, 

caste, creed, religion, political belief or ideology. Every State is supposed to know these 

fundamental requirements and this needs no retaliation. We can only say this with regard to the 

criticism levelled against the State of Gujarat. Some legislative enactments like the Terrorist and 

Disruptive Activities (Prevention) Act, 1987 (in short the "TADA Act") have taken note of the 

reluctance shown by witnesses to depose against people with muscle power, money power or 

political power which has become the order of the day. If ultimately truth is to be arrived at, the 

eyes and ears of justice have to be protected so that the interests of justice do not get 

incapacitated in the sense of making the proceedings before Courts mere mock trials as are 

usually seen in movies. 

The court also said that legislative measures to emphasise prohibition against tampering 

with witness, victim or informant have become the imminent and inevitable need of the day. 

Conducts which illegitimately affect the presentation of evidence in proceedings before the 

Courts have to be seriously and sternly dealt with. There should not be any undue anxiety to only 

protect the interest of the accused. That would be unfair, as noted above, to the needs of the 

society. On the contrary, efforts should be to ensure fair trial where the accused and the 

prosecution both get a fair deal. Public interest in the proper administration of justice must be 

given as much importance if not more, as the interest of the Individual accused. In this courts 

have a vital role to play. 

 

The directions given by the Supreme Court are as follows: 

 

(1) Zahira is sentenced to undergo simple imprisonment for one year and to pay cost of 

Rs.50,000/- and in case of default of payment within two months, she shall suffer further 

imprisonment of one year; 

(2) Her assets including bank deposits shall remain attached for a period of three months. The 

Income Tax Authorities are directed to initiate proceedings requiring her to explain the sources 

of acquisition of various assets and the expenses met by her during the period from 1.1.2002 till 

today.  
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(3) It is made clear that any observation made about her having not satisfactorily explained the 

aforesaid aspects would not be treated as conclusive. The proceedings shall be conducted in 

accordance with law. The Chief Commissioner, Vadodara is directed to take immediate steps for 

initiation of appropriate proceedings.  

(4) It shall be open to Income tax authorities to direct continuance of the attachment in 

accordance with law. If so advised, the Income Tax Authorities shall also require Madhu 

Srivastava and Bhattoo Srivastava to explain as to why the claim as made in the VCD of paying 

money shall not be further enquired into and if any tangible material comes to surface, 

appropriate action under the Income Tax Law shall be taken notwithstanding the findings 

recorded by the Inquiry Officer that there is no acceptable material to show that they had paid 

money, as claimed, to Zahira.  

(5) We make it clear that we are not directing initiation of proceedings as such, but leaving the 

matter to the Income Tax Authorities to take a decision. The Trial Court shall decide the matter 

before it without being influenced by any finding/observation made by the Inquiry Officer or by 

the fact that we have accepted the report and directed consequential action. 

 

National Human Rights Commission v. State of Gujarat & Ors.71  

Hon’ble Judges: Arijit Pasayat, P. Sathasivam, Aftab Alam 

 

Facts of the case: 

By order dated 26.3.2008 in this group of cases this Court had directed the Gujarat 

Government to constitute a five members Special Investigation Team (in short the `SIT') to be 

headed by Mr. R.K. Raghavan, former Director of the Central Bureau of Investigation to 

undertake inquiry/investigation including further investigation in nine cases. It was further 

directed that the SIT shall submit its report within a particular time. The State Government 

issued a Notification dated 1.4.2008 constituting the SIT. On 11.2.2009 the SIT has submitted its 

consolidated report. It has indicated therein that since its constitution the SIT has made 

considerable progress in respect of each of the nine cases. In separate sealed covers the IO's 

report in each case accompanied by the Supervising IGP and the Chairman's comments were 

submitted. 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
(! "Writ Petiton (Crl.) No. 109 of 2003"
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 Pursuant to the directions given by this Court copies of the report were supplied to 

learned Amicus Curiae and learned counsel for the State of Gujarat. Suggestions have been given 

by learned Amicus Curiae, learned counsel for the State and some of the parties in the 

proceedings. Several important aspects were noted in these cases by the court. Firstly, due to the 

efforts of SIT, persons who were not earlier arrayed as accused have now been arrayed as 

accused. From the details indicated above it appears that in most of the cases a large number of 

persons have been additionally made accused. Besides this, a large number of witnesses were 

also examined in each case. This goes to show the apparent thoroughness with which the SIT has 

worked. Therefore, the SIT shall continue to function until the completion of trial in all the cases 

and if any further inquiry/investigation is to be done the same can be done as provided in law, 

more particularly, under Section 173 (8) of the Code of Criminal Proceudre,1973. 

 

Issues: 

The court thereafter noted few important issues concerning the cases as follows: 

(1) Fair trial. 

(2) Modalities to ensure that the witnesses depose freely and in that context the need to protect 

the witnesses from interference by person(s) connected with it are the protection of victims who 

in most cases are witnesses. 

(3) Able assistance to court by competent public prosecutors. 

(4) Further role of SIT. 

 

Held: 

The court observed that So far as fair trial is concerned the discovery and vindication and 

establishment of truth are certainly the main purposes of courts of justice. They are the 

underlying objects for the existence of the courts of justice. 

It also said that it is an established fact that witnesses form the key ingredient in a 

criminal trial and it is the testimonies of these very witnesses, which establishes the guilt of the 

accused. It is, therefore, imperative that for justice to be done, the protection of witnesses and 

victims becomes essential, as it is the reliance on their testimony and complaints that the actual 

perpetrators of heinous crimes during the communal violence can be brought to book. Vide an 

order dated 8th August 2003 in the matter of National Human Rights Commission v. State of 
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Gujarat, this Court regretted that "no law has yet been enacted, not even a scheme has been 

framed by the Union of India or by the State Government for giving protection to the witnesses." 

The Supreme Court opined that “no law has yet been enacted, not even a scheme has 

been framed by the Union of India or by the State Government for offering protection to the 

witnesses. For successful prosecution of the criminal cases, protection to witnesses is necessary 

as the criminals often have access to the police and influential people.” 

Further, the court also referred to many reports and said that The Law Commission in its 

14th Report (1958) referred to 'witness- protection', but that was in a limited sense. That related 

to proper arrangements being provided in the Courthouse, the scales of travelling allowance, 

their daily allowance etc. The National Police Commission Report (1980) again dealt with the 

inadequacy of daily allowance for the witnesses, but nothing more. The 154th Report of the Law 

Commission 1996 contained a chapter on Protection and facilities to Witnesses. The 

recommendations mostly related to allowances and facilities to be made available for the 

witnesses. However, one of the recommendations was: "Witnesses should be protected from the 

wrath of the accused in any eventuality". But, Commission had not suggested any measure for 

the physical protection of witnesses. The 178th Report of Law Commission, again, referred to 

the fact of witness turning hostile, and the recommendations were only to prevent witnesses from 

turning hostile. The report suggested an amendment to insert Section 164-A to the Code. The 

Law Commission of India's 198th Report has also voiced similar concerns and has categorically 

stated "it is accepted today that WIP is necessary in the case of all serious offences wherein there 

is danger to witnesses and it is not confined to cases of terrorism or sexual offences" 

 Thereafter, the court discussed the ‘witness protection regime’ in foreign countries and 

observed that Under the English law, threatening a witness from giving evidence, is contempt of 

Court. So also any act of threat or revenge against a witness after he has given evidence in Court, 

is also considered as contempt.  
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ARREST OF PUBLIC SERVANT IN CBI CASES 

 

Cases against high Government officials:72 

 

As regards senior Government officials, the cases against them are mostly under the 

Prevention of Corruption Act which are assigned to Special Courts. Almost invariably, the 

officers facing trial in CBI or other Special Courts will be under suspension. Delaying the 

matters by virtue of their official position which they held sometime in the past, may not be 

rampant. Of course, just as any other accused, if it suits them, they may delay the trial by seeking 

unnecessary adjournments through the lawyer or by seeking opportunity to cross-examine even 

formal witnesses. Such eventualities raise the question of case management by the Court 

concerned. These Courts, by and large, are not overburdened with the work assigned to them and 

they can adopt such measures as may be needed to counter the moves to delay the trials. 

However, quite often, there will be inaction or inordinate delay on the part of the prosecution to 

produce the summoned witnesses or examine the investigating officer. If, in a few cases, the 

Presiding Officer (of the rank of District/Addl. District Judge) feels that the intervention of the 

High Court is necessary to give suitable directions to the Police/prosecuting machinery to 

activise them, the presiding officer should send up a report to the Registrar of the High Court.73 

 

In prevention of corruption cases, it is reported that the disproportionate assets cases get 

prolonged as a number of witnesses – necessary and unnecessary, will be examined. Even the 

filing of the charge-sheet in such matters, it is reported, is delayed, sometimes for more than a 

year after completion of investigation. Further, sufficient number of Special Courts to deal with 

PC Act cases are not in place in many States. These are the special problems in cases relating to 

Government officials. The identification of senior Government officials who held important 

positions in the Government is not at all a problem, nor is it necessary. It is not desirable to 

attempt at a classification of the cases involving senior Government officials and those at lower 

levels. If however such officials are seen to be adopting dilatory tactics or otherwise found 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
(#"LAW COMMISSION OF INDIA, “Expeditious Investigation and Trial of Criminal Cases Against Influential 
Public Personalities”, Report No.239 Submitted to the Supreme Court of India in W P (C) NO. 341/2004, inVirender 
Kumar Ohri Vs. Union of India & Others. 
($"15678"9:";<"!$4"
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interfering with the process of justice, the court is not helpless to press into service the necessary 

case management measures, apart from sending a special report to the High Court, as suggested 

earlier.74 

 

Rationale behind keeping track of the cases of influential Public men – pros and cons: 

Before proceeding further, it needs to be considered. whether the criminal cases against 

influential persons in public life should be treated as a class and special attention should be paid 

to prioritize disposal of such cases. In other words, whether the delays shall be viewed more 

seriously in such cases when compared to delays in other cases and whether they should come up 

for special scrutiny.  

In this context, it is useful to refer to the pertinent observations made by the Supreme 

Court. The Supreme Court in Ganesh Narayan vs. S. Bangarappa75, observed: “the slow motion 

becomes much slower motion when politically powerful or high and influential persons figure as 

accused”. The Supreme Court cited with approval the following observations of Krishna Iyer, J. 

in Re Spl. Courts Bill, 197876: “Courts are less to blame than the Code made by Parliament for 

dawdling and Government are guilty of denying or delaying basic amenities for the judiciary to 

function smoothly. Justice is a Cinderella in our scheme. Even so, leaving V.V.I.P. accused to be 

dealt with by the routinely procrastinating legal process is to surrender to interminable delays as 

an inevitable evil. Therefore, we should not be finical about absolute procedural equality and 

must be creative in innovating procedures compelled by special situations”. 

 

Power of Arrest77 

The Police Officers of Delhi Special Police Establishment may arrest an individual, 

concerned in any cognizable offence notified under Section 3 of the DSPE Act or against whom 

a reasonable suspicion exists of his having been involved in the crime, without any warrant of 

arrest issued by a competent Court. This power is derived from Section 41 of the Code of 

Criminal Procedure (Cr.P.C). The Officers of DSPE may take assistance of the local Police while 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
74 Supra, at Note1, Pg 14. 
75 (1995) 4 SCC 41  
76 (1979) 1 SCC 380 
77 Available at, http://cbi.nic.in/aboutus/manuals/Chapter_12.pdf , Last retrieved on 22nd July, 2015.""
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making arrest, whenever considered necessary. If any woman is to be arrested, she may be 

arrested between sunrise and sunset and with the assistance of woman Police Officer, as far as 

possible. In case of non-availability of women Police Officer, a woman relation/ acquaintance 

could be allowed to remain present until she is released on bail or produced before the competent 

Court.  

The Police Officers of Delhi Special Police Establishment may arrest an individual 

against whom a warrant of arrest has been issued by a Court and endorsed to him for execution. 

No discretion is available to Police Officers in executing the warrants of arrest issued by a Court. 

In case, the individual against whom a warrant of arrest has been issued by a Court cannot be 

arrested within the time specified in the warrant, a fresh warrant may be obtained after returning 

the unexecuted one. In cases of individuals to whom it may be advisable to deny use of passport 

facility, arrest warrants shall normally be obtained to invoke the provisions of Sections 6 and 10 

of the Passports Act, 1967.  

However, as arrest takes away liberty of an individual, the power to arrest vested under 

Section 41 Cr.P.C. must be exercised with due care and caution. The power being discretionary 

must be used with due care to ensure that the human rights of any individual are not violated 

under any circumstances. The arrest may be made only when it is reasonably felt that the 

individual so arrested is involved in the commission of a heinous crime and will be prosecuted in 

the Court of Law for the offences committed by him and if it is feared that he is likely to tamper 

with or destroy evidence or is likely to evade the process of law. The Police Officers of DSPE 

must observe guidelines issued in this regard from time to time. The Superintendents of Police 

must satisfy himself, before Officers working under his control effect an arrest, by evaluating the 

evidence available against an individual, and need to affect the arrest. If the case has been 

registered with the approval of regional office or the Head Office, necessary permission may be 

obtained from the Competent Authority by sending an arrest proposal to the said authority 

through the DIG concerned. In respect of public servants, the instructions given in the paragraph 

below may be observed. Undue publicity for arrests made must be avoided.  

Arrest of Public Servants in CBI Cases: 
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Public servants should be placed under arrest only when it becomes necessary to do so in 

the interest of investigation or to satisfy the requirements of law or to prevent the accused from 

absconding or after a decision has been taken to launch a prosecution and necessary sanction for 

it has been obtained. Investigating Officers should, wherever possible, obtain the concurrence of 

the Superintendent of Police before making such arrests. A Superintendent of Police and 

Investigating Officers should use utmost care and discretion in deciding to arrest and in making 

such arrest. Undue publicity and embarrassment must be avoided.  

In affecting the arrest of a public servant, especially on operational duty, proper steps 

should be taken to see that the work of the Department is not unnecessarily dislocated. As far as 

possible, timely information of intention to arrest the public servant may be conveyed to the 

authority, to which such public servant is subordinate so that suitable alternative administrative 

arrangements could be made. In case, the arrest cannot be postponed for any exceptional reason 

and his immediate superior cannot be informed in advance, he should be informed soon after 

making arrest of the public servant. A report will be sent to the Head Office detailing the reasons 

for effecting arrest without giving prior information to the immediate superior Officer of the 

public servant concerned.  

The arrest of personnel of armed forces should be intimated to the nearest Commanding 

Officer and his/her parent unit.  

Arrest how made:  

As provided in Section 46 Cr.P.C., in making an arrest the Police Officer shall actually 

touch or confine the body of the person to be arrested, unless there is submission to the custody 

by word or action. If any person forcibly resists the endeavour to arrest him or attempts to evade 

the arrest, all means necessary, including reasonable force may be used. It must be remembered 

while using reasonable force that the law does not give a right to the Police Officer to cause 

death of a person who is not accused of an offence punishable with death or with imprisonment 

for life. The use of handcuffs should be avoided as far as possible. In case, it is felt otherwise due 

to any reason, the handcuffs may be used only in accordance with law mandated by the Hon’ble 

Supreme Court in Prem Shanker Shukla v. Delhi Administration 78and Citizen for Democracy 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
() "(1980 3 SCC 526) 
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v. State of Assam79. Person arrested to be informed of Grounds of Arrest and of the Right to Bail 

12.8 Every Police Officer arresting any person without warrant shall forthwith communicate to 

him full particulars of the offence for which he is arrested or other grounds for such arrest. If it is 

a bailable offence, the person arrested should be informed that he is entitled to be released on 

bail and that he may arrange sureties on his behalf (Section 50 Cr.P.C.). The individual may be 

informed that he has a right to consult a legal practitioner of his choice. The individual may also 

be told that he can have his medical examination done and if he requests to be examined by a 

Doctor, the same be attended to as per Section 54 Cr.P.C. 12.9  

D.K. Basu v. The State of West Bengal 

Hon’ble Judges: Kuldip Singh, A.S. Anand 

The Hon’ble Supreme Court in D.K. Basu v. The State of West Bengal 80 has given 

directions to be followed scrupulously after the arrest of an accused person. Failure to comply 

with the said directions shall render the concerned Police Officer liable for Departmental action 

and he will also be liable to be punished for contempt of Court. All DSPE Officers arresting an 

accused must therefore, follow these guidelines. The directions of the Supreme Court are as 

follows:  

(a) The Police Personnel carrying out the arrest and handling the interrogation of the arrestee 

should bear accurate, visible and clear identification and name tags with their designations. The 

particulars of all such Police Personnel who handle interrogation of the arrestee must be recorded 

in a register.  

(b) The Police Officer carrying out the arrest of the arrestee shall prepare a memo of arrest at the 

time of arrest and such memo shall be attested by at least one witness, who may either be a 

member of the family of the arrestee or a respectable person of the locality from where the arrest 

is made. It shall also be countersigned by the arrestee and shall contain the time and date of 

arrest.  

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
79 (1995 3 SCC 743) 
)+"(AIR 1997, S.C. 610)"



!+&"
"

(c) A person who has been arrested or detained and is being held in custody in a Police station or 

interrogation centre or other lock-up, shall be entitled to have one friend or relative or other 

person known to him or having interest in his welfare being informed, as soon as practicable, that 

he has been arrested and is being detained at the particular place, unless the attesting witness of 

the memo of arrest is himself such a friend or a relative of the arrestee.  

(d) The time, place of arrest and venue of custody of an arrestee must be notified by the Police 

where the next friend or relative of the arrestee lives outside the district or town through the 

Legal Aid Organization in the District and the Police Station of the area concerned 

telegraphically within a period of 8 to 12 hours after the arrest.  

(e) The person arrested must be made aware of list of rights to have someone informed of his 

arrest or detention as soon as he is put under arrest or is detained.  

(f) An entry must be made in the diary at the place of detention regarding the arrest of the person 

which shall also disclose the name of the next friend of the person who has been informed of the 

arrest and the names and particulars of the Police officials in whose custody the arrestee is.  

(g) The arrestee should, where he so requests, be also examined at the time of his arrest and 

major and minor injuries, if any present on his/her body, must be recorded at that time. The 

“Inspection Memo” must be signed both by the arrestee and the Police Officer affecting the 

arrest and its copy provided to the arrestee.  

Valid sanction order Under Section 19 of the Prevention of Corruption Act, 1988. 

Anil Kumar and Ors.v. M.K. Aiyappa and Anr.81 

Hon'ble Judges K.S. Panicker Radhakrishnan and A.K. Sikri 

Facts of the Case: 

The Appellants herein filed a private complaint Under Section 200 of Code of Criminal 

Procedure before the Additional City Civil and Special Judge for Prevention of Corruption on 

9.10.2012. The complaint of the Appellants was that the first Respondent with mala fide 

intention passed an order dated 30.6.2012 in connivance with other officers and restored valuable 
"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
)! "MANU/SC/1002/2013"
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land in favour of a private person. On a complaint being raised, the first Respondent vide order 

dated 6.10.2012 recalled the earlier order. Alleging that the offence which led to issuance of the 

order dated 30.6.2012 constituted ingredients contained Under Section 406, 409, 420, 426, 463, 

465, 468, 471, 474 read with Section 120B Indian Penal Code and Section 149 Indian Penal 

Code and Section 8, 13(1)(c), 13(1)(d), 13(1)(e), 13(2) read with Section 12 of the Prevention of 

Corruption Act, a private complaint was preferred Under Section 200 Code of Criminal 

Procedure. 

Issue: 

Whether the Special Judge/Magistrate is justified in referring a private complaint made 

Under Section 200 Code of Criminal Procedure for investigation by the Deputy Superintendent 

of Police - Karnataka Lokayukta, in exercise of powers conferred Under Section 156(3) Code of 

Criminal Procedure without the production of a valid sanction order Under Section 19 of the 

Prevention of Corruption Act, 1988. 

Order of the Trial Court: 

ÒOn going through the complaint, documents and hearing the complainant, I am of the 

sincere view that the matter requires to be referred for investigation by the Deputy 

Superintendent of Police, Karnataka Lokayukta, Bangalore Urban, Under Section 156(3) of 

Code of Criminal ProcedureÓ. 

High Court 

The High Court, after hearing the parties, took the view that the Special Judge could not 

have taken notice of the private complaint unless the same was accompanied by a sanction 

order, irrespective of whether the Court was acting at a pre-cognizance stage or the post-

cognizance stage, if the complaint pertains to a public servant who is alleged to have committed 

offences in discharge of his official duties. The High Court, therefore, quashed the order passed 

by the Special Judge, as well as the complaint filed against the Appellant. Aggrieved by the 

same, as already stated, the complainants have come up with these appeals. 

Supreme Court 
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When the matter was appealed to Supreme Court arguments were put forward by the 

counsel putting reliance upon the judgments of this Court in R.S. Nayak v. A.R. Antulay 82and 

P.V. Narasimha Rao v. State (CBI/SPE)83. It was argued that going through the above 

mentioned provision, the requirement of sanction Under Section 19(1) is only procedural in 

nature and the same can be cured at a subsequent stage of the proceedings even after filing of the 

charge-sheet and hence the requirement of "previous sanction" is merely directory and not 

mandatory. 

It was held by the Supreme Court that: 

“We may first examine whether the Magistrate, while exercising his powers Under 

Section 156(3) Code of Criminal Procedure, could act in a mechanical or casual manner and go 

on with the complaint after getting the report. The scope of the above mentioned provision came 

up for consideration before this Court in several cases.  

This Court in Maksud Saiyed v. State of Gujarat and Ors.84 examined the requirement of 

the application of mind by the Magistrate before exercising jurisdiction Under Section 156(3) 

and held that where a jurisdiction is exercised on a complaint filed in terms of Section 156(3) or 

Section 200 Code of Criminal Procedure, the Magistrate is required to apply his mind, in such a 

case, the Special Judge/Magistrate cannot refer the matter Under Section 156(3) against a public 

servant without a valid sanction order. The application of mind by the Magistrate should be 

reflected in the order. The mere statement that he has gone through the complaint, documents 

and heard the complainant, as such, as reflected in the order, will not be sufficient. After going 

through the complaint, documents and hearing the complainant, what weighed with the 

Magistrate to order investigation Under Section 156(3) Code of Criminal Procedure, should be 

reflected in the order, though a detailed expression of his views is neither required nor warranted. 

We have already extracted the order passed by the learned Special Judge which, in our view, has 

stated no reasons for ordering investigation”.85 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
82 (1984) 2 SCR 495 
83 MANU/SC/0293/1998 
84 MANU/SC/7923/2007 
85 Supra, at Note 11. Para 8. 
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We will now examine whether the order directing investigation Under Section 156(3) 

Code of Criminal Procedure would amount to taking cognizance of the offence, since a 

contention was raised that the expression "cognizance" appearing in Section 19(1) of the PC Act 

will have to be construed as post-cognizance stage, not pre-cognizance stage and, therefore, the 

requirement of sanction does not arise prior to taking cognizance of the offences punishable 

under the provisions of the PC Act”86. 

It was also held that when a Special Judge refers a complaint for investigation Under 

Section 156(3) Code of Criminal Procedure, obviously, he has not taken cognizance of the 

offence and, therefore, it is a pre-cognizance stage and cannot be equated with post-cognizance 

stage. When a Special Judge takes cognizance of the offence on a complaint presented Under 

Section 200 Code of Criminal Procedure and the next step to be taken is to follow up Under 

Section 202 Code of Criminal Procedure. Consequently, a Special Judge referring the case for 

investigation Under Section 156(3) is at pre-cognizance stage. 

A Special Judge is deemed to be a Magistrate Under Section 5(4) of the PC Act and, 

therefore, clothed with all the magisterial powers provided under the Code of Criminal 

Procedure. When a private complaint is filed before the Magistrate, he has two options. He may 

take cognizance of the offence Under Section 190 Code of Criminal Procedure or proceed further 

in enquiry or trial. A Magistrate, who is otherwise competent to take cognizance, without taking 

cognizance Under Section 190, may direct an investigation Under Section 156(3) Code of 

Criminal Procedure. The Magistrate, who is empowered Under Section 190 to take cognizance, 

alone has the power to refer a private complaint for police investigation Under Section 156(3) 

Code of Criminal Procedure. 

We may now examine whether, in the above mentioned legal situation, the requirement 

of sanction is a pre-condition for ordering investigation Under Section 156(3) Code of Criminal 

Procedure, even at a pre-cognizance stage. Section 2(c) of the PC Act deals with the definition of 

the expression "public servant" and provides under Clauses (viii) and (xii) as under: 

(viii) any person who holds an office by virtue of which he is authorised or required to perform 

any public duty. 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
)' "Supra at Note 11, Para 9."
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(xii) any person who is an office-bearer or an employee of an educational, scientific, social, 

cultural or other institution, in whatever manner established, receiving or having received any 

financial assistance from the Central Government or any State Government, or local or other 

public authority. 

The relevant provision for sanction is given in Section 19(1) of the PC Act, which reads 

as under: 

Previous sanction necessary for prosecution.--(1) No court shall take cognizance of an 

offence punishable Under Sections 7, 10, 11, 13 and 15 alleged to have been committed by a 

public servant, except with the previous sanction-- 

(a) in the case of a person who is employed in connection with the affairs of the Union and is not 

removable from his office save by or with the sanction of the Central Government, of that 

Government; 

(b) in the case of a person who is employed in connection with the affairs of a State and is not 

removable from his office save by or with the sanction of the State Government, of that 

Government; 

(c) in the case of any other person, of the authority competent to remove him from his office. 

Section 19(3) of the PC Act also has some relevance; the operative portion of the same is 

extracted hereunder: 

Section 19(3) - Notwithstanding anything contained in the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973 (2 

of 1974)- (a) no finding, sentence or order passed by a special judge shall be reversed or altered 

by a court in appeal, confirmation or revision on the ground of absence of, or any error, omission 

or irregularity in the sanction required under Sub-section (1), unless in the opinion of that Court, 

a failure of justice has in fact been occasioned thereby. 

Cognizance under section 197 of Cr.P.C. 
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State of Uttar Pradesh v. Paras Nath Singh87 

The expression "cognizance" which appears in Section 197 Code of Criminal Procedure 

came up for consideration before a three-Judge Bench of this Court in State of Uttar Pradesh v. 

Paras Nath Singh and this Court expressed the following view: 

“And the jurisdiction of a Magistrate to take cognizance of any offence is provided by 

Section 190 of the Code, either on receipt of a complaint, or upon a police report or upon 

information received from any person other than a police officer, or upon his knowledge that 

such offence has been committed. So far as public servants are concerned, the cognizance of any 

offence, by any court, is barred by Section 197 of the Code unless sanction is obtained from the 

appropriate authority, if the offence, alleged to have been committed, was in discharge of the 

official duty. The section not only specifies the persons to whom the protection is afforded but it 

also specifies the conditions and circumstances in which it shall be available and the effect in law 

if the conditions are satisfied. The mandatory character of the protection afforded to a public 

servant is brought out by the expression, 'no court shall take cognizance of such offence except 

with the previous sanction'. Use of the words 'no' and 'shall' makes it abundantly clear that the 

bar on the exercise of power of the court to take cognizance of any offence is absolute and 

complete. The very cognizance is barred. That is, the complaint cannot be taken notice of. 

According to Black's Law Dictionary the word 'cognizance' means 'jurisdiction' or 'the exercise 

of jurisdiction' or 'power to try and determine causes'. In common parlance, it means taking 

notice of. A court, therefore, is precluded from entertaining a complaint or taking notice of it or 

exercising jurisdiction if it is in respect of a public servant who is accused of an offence alleged 

to have been committed during discharge of his official duty.” 

In State of West Bengal and Anr. v. Mohd. Khalid and Ors. 88 

This Court has observed as follows: 

ÒIt is necessary to mention here that taking cognizance of an offence is not the same 

thing as issuance of process. Cognizance is taken at the initial stage when the Magistrate applies 

his judicial mind to the facts mentioned in a complaint or to a police report or upon information 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
87 (2009) 6 SCC 372 
)) "(1995) 1 SCC 684"
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received from any other person that an offence has been committed. The issuance of process is at 

a subsequent stage when after considering the material placed before it the court decides to 

proceed against the offenders against whom a prima facie case is made out.” 
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TRIAL OF ECONOMIC OFFENCES BY CBI COURTS: A CASE STUDY 

Introduction 

Economic Offences can be defined as an illegal act or series of illegal acts committed to 

obtain money or property, to avoid payment or loss of money or property. Hence the essential 

ingredient is a dishonest intention with the motive of wrongful gain or wrongful retention of 

money or property by himself or any other person.89 

Economic Offences form a separate category of criminal offences. Economic Offences 

not only victimize individuals with pecuniary loss but can also have serious repercussions on the 

national economy. Economic offences, such as counterfeiting of currency, financial scams, fraud, 

money laundering, etc. are crimes which evoke serious concern and impact on the Nation’s 

security and governance.90 

Economic Crimes Under The Indian Penal Code  

The Indian Penal Code contains provisions to check economic crimes such as Bank 

Fraud, Insurance fraud, Credit card fraud, stock market manipulation, etc. The local police deal 

with the IPC crimes falling under the broad categories of ‘Cheating’ (Section 415-424), 

‘Counterfeiting’ (Coins & Stamps Section 230- 263A and Currency Section 489A-489E) and 

‘Criminal Breach of Trust’ (Section 405-409). 

Money Laundering  

Money laundering is the process of cleaning dirty money with the objective of hiding its 

source and enabling it to be used later in a legal form. This process creates a web to hide the 

origin/true nature of these funds. Prior to the enactment of the Prevention of Money Laundering 

Act, 2002 this crime was covered under the violation of foreign exchange rules under the Foreign 

Exchange Regulation Act (FERA) and later under the Foreign Exchange Management Act 

(FEMA) 

On Mens Rea in economic Offences 
"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
)/ " =Economic Offences and its Impact” by Crime Investigation Department, Andhra Pradesh, Available at 
http://www.cidap.gov.in/Wings/LinkWomenCell.aspx?a=1&tid=15&id=100 , last retrieved on 20th July 2015. 
/+" Bharti Animesh, “Legislative Measures to Deal With Economic Crimes In India”, available at 
http://www.unafei.or.jp/english/pdf/RS_No67/No67_22PA_Bharti.pdf, Last retrieved on 20th July 2015. 
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State of Maharashtra v. M.H. George91 

Hon’ble Judge: K Subbarao 

The entire argument relating to the displacement of mens rea has been beautifully 

recapitulated in the Supreme Court of India in this decision. 

Facts of the Case 

In this case, the accused was prosecuted for bringing into India prohibited quantity of 

gold in violation of the prohibition i.e., the Foreign Exchange Regulation Act 1947 which lays an 

absolute embargo upon persons who, without permission of the Reserve Bank, bring or send to 

India any gold. As a matter of fact the accused, Mr. M.H. George was a passenger from Zurich to 

Manila in Swiss plane. Upon landing in Bombay Twenty-four kilos bars of gold was found on 

his person, which he had not declared. 

Held 

The holding of the majority was that "mens rea in the sense of actual knowledge that the 

act done is contrary to law is not an essential element under Sec.8 (1) read with Sec.23 (1A) of 

the Foreign Exchange Regulation Act, 1947". There was an agreement on the point that unless 

the statute in question, either clearly or by necessary implication rules out mens rea as a 

constituent part of a crime an accused should not be found guilty of an offence, unless he has got 

a guilt mind. They declared that "(A) absolute liability is not to be lightly presumed, but has to 

be clearly established". However, in the case at hand, "the language of the statute and relevant 

notifications", their Lordship held that "there is no scope for the invocations of the rule that 

besides the mere act of voluntarily bringing gold into India any further mental condition is 

postulated as necessary to constitute an offence of the contravention referred to in Sec.23 (1A)".  

It is further asserted that:  

"The Act is designed for safeguarding and conserving foreign exchange which is 

essential to the economic life of a developing country. The very object and purpose of the Act 

and its effectiveness as an instrument for the prevention of smuggling would be entirely 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
/! "1965 AIR 722"
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frustrated, if a condition were to be read into Sec. 8 (I) or Sec.23 (1A) of the Act qualifying the 

plain words of the enactment that the accused should be proved to have knowledge that he was 

contravening the law before he could be held to have, contravened the provisions".92 

A number of decisions of the Supreme Court of India, however, point to the fact that 

there is an initial presumption in favour of the need to read mens rea in all penal statutes, but it 

has to be ascertained whether the presumption is overborne by the language of the enactment 

read in the light of the objects and purposes of the said statute. Whether the enforcement of the 

law and the attainment of its purpose would not be rendered futile is one other consideration that 

has to be taken a fortiori. Conversely, where it cannot be said that the object of the Act would be 

defeated, if mens rea is read into it, as an ingredient, courts should indeed be slow to dispense 

with it 

Sanjay Chandra v. CBI93 

Hon’ble Judges: G.S. Singhvi, H.L. Dattu 

Facts of the Case: 

The appeals were directed against the common judgment and Order of the learned Single 

Judge of the High Court of Delhi refusing to grant bail to the accused-Appellants. 

The Appellants were facing trial in respect of the offences under Sections 420-B, 468, 

471 and 109 of Indian Penal Code and Section 13(2) read with 13(i)(d) of Prevention of 

Corruption Act, 1988. Bail has been refused first by the Special Judge, CBI, New Delhi and 

subsequently, by the High Court. Both the courts have listed the factors, on which they think, 

were relevant for refusing the Bail applications filed by the applicants as seriousness of the 

charge; the nature of the evidence in support of the charge; the likely sentence to be imposed 

upon conviction; the possibility of interference with witnesses; the objection of the prosecuting 

authorities; possibility of absconding from justice. 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
92 Subha Rao. J. in his dissenting opining stated means rea is an essential ingredient of a offence, but his may be 
rebutted by express word or by necessary implication. But the mere fact that the object of a statute is to promote 
welfare or to eradicate grave social evil in itself is not enough. 
93 (2012) 1 SCC 40 
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The allegations against accused Sanjay Chandra are that he entered into criminal 

conspiracy with accused A. Raja, R.K. Chandolia and other accused persons during September 

2009 to get UAS licence for providing telecom services to otherwise an ineligible company to 

get UAS licences. He, as Managing Director of M/s Unitech Wireless (Tamil Nadu) Limited. 

Held: 

The Supreme Court observed that in bail applications, generally, it has been laid down 

from the earliest times that the object of bail is to secure the appearance of the accused person at 

his trial by reasonable amount of bail. The object of bail is neither punitive nor preventative. 

Deprivation of liberty must be considered a punishment, unless it can be required to ensure that 

an accused person will stand his trial when called upon. The courts owe more than verbal respect 

to the principle that punishment begins after conviction, and that every man is deemed to be 

innocent until duly tried and duly found guilty. From the earliest times, it was appreciated that 

detention in custody pending completion of trial could be a cause of great hardship. From time to 

time, necessity demands that some un-convicted persons should be held in custody pending trial 

to secure their attendance at the trial but in such cases, 'necessity' is the operative test. It would 

be quite contrary to the concept of personal liberty enshrined in the Constitution that any person 

should be punished in respect of any matter, upon which, he has not been convicted or that in any 

circumstances, he should be deprived of his liberty upon only the belief that he will tamper with 

the witnesses if left at liberty, save in the most extraordinary circumstances. Apart from the 

question of prevention being the object of a refusal of bail, one must not lose sight of the fact that 

any imprisonment before conviction has a substantial punitive content and it would be improper 

for any Court to refuse bail as a mark of disapproval of former conduct whether the accused has 

been convicted for it or not or to refuse bail to an un-convicted person for the purpose of giving 

him a taste of imprisonment as a lesson. 

The Supreme Court, time and again, had stated that bail is the rule and committal to jail 

an exception. It was also observed that refusal of bail is a restriction on the personal liberty of the 

individual guaranteed under Article 21 of the Constitution. It was held obvious that the nature of 

the charge is the vital factor and the nature of the evidence also is pertinent. The punishment to 

which the party may be liable, if convicted or conviction is confirmed, also bear upon the issue. 

Another relevant factor is as to whether the course of justice would be thwarted by him who 
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seeks the benignant jurisdiction of the Court to be freed for the time being. Thus the legal 

principles and practice validate the Court considering the likelihood of the applicant interfering 

with witnesses for the prosecution or otherwise polluting the process of justice. It is not only 

traditional but rational to enquire into the antecedents of a man who is applying for bail to find 

whether he has a bad record - particularly a record which suggests that he is likely to commit 

serious offences while on bail. In regard to habituals, it is part of criminological history that a 

thoughtless bail order has enabled the bailee to exploit the opportunity to inflict further crimes on 

the members of society. Bail discretion, on the basis of evidence about the criminal record of a 

Defendant is therefore not an exercise in irrelevance. 

On the facts of the present case, both the Courts have refused the request for grant of bail 

on two grounds: The primary ground was that offence alleged against the accused persons is very 

serious involving deep rooted planning in which, huge financial loss is caused to the State 

exchequer; the secondary ground was that the possibility of the accused persons tempering with 

the witnesses. In the present case, the charge is that of cheating and dishonestly inducing 

delivery of property, forgery for the purpose of cheating using as genuine a forged document. 

The punishment of the offence is punishment for a term which may extend to seven years. It is, 

no doubt, true that the nature of the charge may be relevant, but at the same time, the punishment 

to which the party may be liable, if convicted, also bears upon the issue. Therefore, in 

determining whether to grant bail, both the seriousness of the charge and the severity of the 

punishment should be taken into consideration. The grant or refusal to grant bail lies within the 

discretion of the Court. The grant or denial is regulated, to a large extent, by the facts and 

circumstances of each particular case. But at the same time, right to bail is not to be denied 

merely because of the sentiments of the community against the accused. The primary purposes of 

bail in a criminal case are to relieve the accused of imprisonment, to relieve the State of the 

burden of keeping him, pending the trial, and at the same time, to keep the accused 

constructively in the custody of the Court, whether before or after conviction, to assure that he 

will submit to the jurisdiction of the Court and be in attendance thereon whenever his presence is 

required. 

When the undertrial prisoners are detained in jail custody to an indefinite period, Article 

21 of the Constitution is violated. Every person, detained or arrested, is entitled to speedy trial, 
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the question is : whether the same is possible in the present case. There are seventeen accused 

persons. Statement of the witnesses runs to several hundred pages and the documents on which 

reliance is placed by the prosecution, is voluminous. The trial may take considerable time and it 

seemed that the Appellants, who were in jail, had to remain in jail longer than the period of 

detention, had they been convicted. It is not in the interest of justice that accused should be in jail 

for an indefinite period. No doubt, the offence alleged against the Appellants is a serious one in 

terms of alleged huge loss to the State exchequer, that, by itself, should not deter the court from 

enlarging the Appellants on bail when there is no serious contention of the Respondent that the 

accused, if released on bail, would interfere with the trial or tamper with evidence. 

The Appellants were thus ordered to be released on bail on their executing a bond with 

two solvent sureties, each in a sum of Rs.5 lakhs to the satisfaction of the Special Judge, CBI, 

New Delhi on the following conditions: 

a. The Appellants shall not directly or indirectly make any inducement, threat or promise to any 

person acquainted with the facts or the case so as to dissuade him to disclose such facts to the 

Court or to any other authority. 

b. They shall remain present before the Court on the dates fixed for hearing of the case. If they 

want to remain absent, then they shall take prior permission of the court and in case of 

unavoidable circumstances for remaining absent, they shall immediately give intimation to the 

appropriate court and also to the Superintendent, CBI and request that they may be permitted to 

be present through the counsel. 

c. They will not dispute their identity as the accused in the case. 

d. They shall surrender their passport, if any (if not already surrendered), and in case, they are 

not a holder of the same, they shall swear to an affidavit. If they have already surrendered before 

the Ld. Special Judge, CBI, that fact should also be supported by an affidavit. 

e. We reserve liberty to the CBI to make an appropriate application for modification/recalling the 

order passed by us, if for any reason, the Appellants violate any of the conditions imposed by 

this Court. 
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Vinayak Narayan Deosthal  vs Central Bureau of Investigation94    

Facts of the case: 

Present appeal has been preferred under Section 10 of the Special Court (Trial of 

Offences relating to Transactions in Securities) Act, 1992 ( “the Special Court”) against the 

Judgment and Order passed by the Special Court.  

The case was about unauthorized diversion of public funds belonging to certain public 

sector banks and financial institutions by employees of such banks and institutions in collusion 

with some brokers, the Act was enacted for constitution of a Special Court for trial of criminal 

offences in respect of transactions during the period 1st April, 1991 to 6th June, 1992 as 

provided under the Act. The object of the Act was speedy recovery of public money allegedly 

diverted in security transactions and to punish the guilty and to restore confidence and credibility 

of the banks and the financial institutions. The Special Court was to try notified persons jointly 

with other connected persons. One of such named persons was the broker- Harshad S. Mehta 

who died during the trial.  

The appellant was Assistant Manager of the UCO Bank, Hamam Street Branch who was 

jointly tried with Mehta on the allegation that during the period 12th March, 1991 to 24th April, 

1991, he diverted funds of the Engineering Export Promotion Council ( “EEPC”) amounting to 

Rs.7.75 crores to the private account of Harshad S. Mehta. Though the said funds were 

transferred back to the EEPC, conduct of the appellant amounted to offences under Sections 120-

B95, 40996, 46797, 47198 of the Indian Penal Code and Sections 13(1)(c) and (d) 99of the 

Prevention of Corruption Act, 1988. 

 The contentions raised, on behalf of the appellant is that the documents in question were 

prepared by Mehta and the money was handed over by the EEPC to Mehta. No loss was suffered 

by the EEPC nor any gain was made by the appellant. The appellant had no dishonest intention 

and acted as officer of the Bank in routine. Learned counsel for the CBI supported the impugned 
"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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95 (Punishment of criminal conspiracy) 
96 (Criminal breach of trust by public servant, or by banker, merchant or agent) 
97 (Forgery of valuable security, will, etc.) 
98 (Using as genuine a forged document) 
99 (Criminal misconduct by a public servant)"
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order made by the Special Court. Procedural History: The charge has been held proved by the 

Special Court. It may be noted that the appellant’s conviction by the Special Court for abusing 

his official position in relation to five other transactions involving diversion of funds to the 

account of late Mehta, has been earlier upheld by this Court in Criminal Appeal No.1141 of 1999 

decided on 14th January, 2003 reported in Ram Narayan Popli vs. Central Bureau of 

Investigation.100Reference to the conviction of the appellant was also found by the Special Court 

in two other cases giving rise to the filing of Criminal Appeal No.687 of 2006 and Criminal 

Appeal No.335 of 2005 in the Apex Court.  

Issue:  

The question for consideration is whether conviction of the appellant is sustainable on the basis 

of evidence on record.  

Holdings:  

The Apex Court observed that: 

1. the EEPC is functioning under the control of Ministry of Commerce to help export of 

engineering goods and services. It was operating International Price Reimbursement 

Scheme with a view to neutralize the price of Steel for domestic exporters. It had funds 

for disbursement. Further it had funds on account of sale of office. IPRS was being 

operated by PW 3, Girish Chandra. He made a deposit of a sum of Rs.7.75 crores with 

the UCO Bank by way of three cheques in favour of the UCO Bank.  

2. The appellant acting as Assistant Manager of the UCO Bank transferred the amount to 

the account of Mehta which was apparently in collusion with Mehta without any 

authority by EEPC. He issued Bank Receipts in lieu of physical delivery of securities 

without such securities being in existence.  

3. The EEPC never instructed purchase of securities through Mehta nor allowed the transfer 

of the amount in question to Mehta but the EEPC was made to sign documents under a 

mistaken belief at the instance of the appellant. PW-3, Girish Chandra who represented 

the EEPC fully supported the prosecution version of having made deposit with the Bank 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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and having not authorized the diversion of the said amount in favour of any private party. 

The said evidence has been duly accepted by the Special Court. The appellant 

unauthorisedly credited the amount to Mehta’s account by abusing his position in 

conspiracy with Mehta. The accused also issued bank receipts for security transactions 

without physical existence of securities which amounted to forgery. It is thus, safe to 

infer the abuse of position by the accused-appellant in conspiracy with and to the benefit 

of Mehta. Diversion of public funds by the accused amounted to criminal breach of trust 

by committing forgery/use of forged documents as well as offence under the provisions 

of the Corruption Act. PW-10, Pinjani and PW-12, Mrs. Kini who were maintaining 

register for sale and purchase of securities could not show that the securities in question 

were physically available with the Bank when the bank receipts were issued by the 

accused which could be done only if securities were available. Decision: The Special 

Court thus rightly held the charge to be proved. It was not necessary to prove that the 

accused had derived any benefit or caused any loss to the Bank. The fact remains that 

action of the appellant involved unauthorized conversion of public funds to private funds 

of an individual. Issuing of Bank receipts for securities without existence of securities 

could not be justified except for illegal benefit to a private individual. Patent illegality 

cannot be defended in the name of practice or direction of higher authorities.  

Mens rea is established from the fact that false Bank Receipts were issued for non-existent 

securities.   Thus, the offences of conspiracy, forgery, misappropriation and corruption stand 

established. It is not necessary to discuss the ingredients of the said offences in detail as the 

matter has been gone into earlier by this Court in respect of the appellant himself in the reported 

judgment in Ram Narayan Popli. 101 

We may only quote the conclusions arrived at in the said case: “About the offence of 

conspiracy : After referring to some judgments of the United States Supreme Court and of this 

Court in Yash Pal Mittal v. State of Punjab 102and Ajay Aggarwal v. Union of India103 the Court 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
101 Supra, at Note 6. 
102 [(1977) 4 SCC 540] 
103 [(1993) 3 SCC 609] 
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in State of Maharashtra v. Som Nath Thapa104summarized the position of law and the 

requirements to establish the charge of conspiracy, as under105 

The aforesaid decisions, weighty as they are, lead us to conclude that to establish a charge of 

conspiracy knowledge about indulgence in either an illegal act or a legal act by illegal means is 

necessary. In some cases, intent of unlawful use being made of the goods or services in question 

may be inferred from the knowledge itself. This apart, the prosecution has not to establish that a 

particular unlawful use was intended, so long as the goods or service in question could not be put 

to any lawful use.   Finally, when the ultimate offence consists of a chain of actions, it would not 

be necessary for the prosecution to establish, to bring home the charge of conspiracy, that each of 

the conspirators had the knowledge of what the collaborator would do, so long as it is known that 

the collaborator would put the goods or service to an unlawful use.”106.  

Much has also been submitted that repayment has been made. That itself is not an indication 

of lack of dishonest intention. Sometimes, it so happens that with a view to create confidence the 

repayments are made so that for the future transactions the money can be dishonestly 

misappropriated.   This is a part of the scheme and the factum of repayment cannot be considered 

in isolation. The repayment as has been rightly contended by the Solicitor-General can be a 

factor to be considered while awarding sentence, but cannot be a ground for proving innocence 

of the accused. About the offence of criminal breach of trust : To constitute an offence of 

criminal breach of trust, there must be an entrustment, there must be misappropriation or 

conversion to one’s own use, or use in violation of a legal direction or of any legal contract; and 

the misappropriation or conversion or disposal must be with a dishonest intention. When a 

person allows others to misappropriate the money entrusted to him that amounts to a criminal 

breach of trust as defined by Section 405.  

The section is relatable to property in a positive part and a negative part. The positive part 

deals with criminal misappropriation or conversion of the property and the negative part consists 

of dishonestly using or disposing of the property in violation of any direction and of law or any 

contract touching the discharge of trust. About the offence of forgery: In order to constitute an 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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offence of forgery the documents must be made dishonestly or fraudulently. But dishonest or 

fraudulent are not tautological. Fraudulent does not imply the deprivation of property or an 

element of injury. In order to be fraudulent, there must be some advantage on the one side with a 

corresponding loss on the other. Every forgery postulates a false document either in whole or in 

part, however small. The accused persons have tried to take shelter behind what they have 

described as “market practices”. Such practices even if existing, cannot take the place of 

statutory and regulatory functions. There is no public interest involved in such practices and they 

cannot be a substitute for compliance with the regulatory or statutory prescriptions. An attempt 

was made to show that there was subsequent disapproval of the market practices; at the point of 

time when the transactions took place there was no embargo. It is their stand that the practices 

were a part of accepted norms. We do not find anything plausible in these explanations. A 

practice even if was prevailing, if wrong, is not to be approved. The subsequent clarifications do 

not in any way put seal of approval on the practices adopted in the past, on the other hand it 

condemns it. About the Corruption Act: Section 13(2) of the PC Act is intended to deal with 

aberrations of public servants.  

CBI Hyderabad vs. Subramani Gopalakrishnan And Anr107 

Hon’ble Judges:"P. Sathasivam, B.S. Chauhan 

Facts of the Case: 

On   07.01.2009,   B.   Ramalinga   Raju   (A1),   the   then Chairman of M/s Satyam 

Computer Services Limited ("M/s SCSL") addressed a confessional letter to the Board of 

Directors revealing certain financial irregularities in M/s SCSL. As per this letter, the balance-

sheet as on 30.09.2008 showed inflated (non-existent) cash and bank balances of Rs. 5,040/- 

crores, an accrued interest of Rs. 376/- crores which is non-existent and an understated liability 

of Rs.1,230/- crores on account of funds arranged by him and an overstated debtors position of 

Rs. 490/- crores (as against Rs. 2,651/-crores reflected in the books). He also revealed several 

other factual details which resulted an increase in artificial cash and bank balances. 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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Due to the fraud on the part of the persons in Management including the Financial 

Advisors, Auditors, etc., many investors suffered loss and on the complaint of one of such 

investors, a First Information Report was registered on 09.01.2009 by the Andhra Pradesh State 

Crime Investigation Department against the then Chairman, Directors and Auditors of M/s SCSL 

and others under Section 120-B read with Sections 409, 420, 467, 468, 471 and 477A of the 

Indian Penal Code (“IPC'). Considering the magnitude of the offence, investigation was 

entrusted to the CBI and a regular case being RC.No.4(S)/2009 was registered by the CBI, Anti-

Corruption Branch, Hyderabad, on 20.02.2009. 

Due to fudging of the company accounts and manipulation of records by showing 

incorrect and inflated figures in the balance-sheets by the Chairman, M.D. and other Directors of 

the Company which were certified by the Auditors, the value of the shares of the Company 

suddenly dropped causing huge financial loss to the shareholders. The drop in the value of the  

shares was due to dishonest and fraudulent acts committed by the aforesaid functionaries, who 

were managing the affairs of the Company and were associated with its functioning and day-to-

day affairs. 

In the present appeal, CBI has challenged the order of the High Court granting bail in 

respect of the two accused, namely, S. Gopalakrishnan (A4)"Partner and In-charge of M/s Price 

Waterhouse and V.S. Prabhakara Gupta (A10) by imposing certain conditions. 

It was submitted before the Hon’ble court that release of the accused-respondents from 

judicial custody will jeopardize the trial, particularly, when these two respondents, A4 and A10 

who were the external and internal auditors of the Company, would have influenced the 

witnesses and it would be difficult for the employees to come and depose against them. I was 

also submitted that considering the seriousness of the offence, impact on the society as a whole 

and magnitude of the offence, the respondents are not entitled for bail and the High Court has 

committed an error in granting the bail to them. 

Held 

The Court opined that “As per the complaint and investigation, A4 and A10 along with 

the other accused are involved in one of the greatest corporate scams of the commercial world. 

It has caused a financial storm not only throughout the country but also worldwide and by their 
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action and conduct, lakhs of shareholders and others have been duped and the corporate 

credibility of the nation has received a serious setback. It is not in dispute that nobody can 

underestimate the sufferings of the shareholders and others due to the scam in question.” 

The order of High Court granting bail in favour of the respondents i.e., A4 and A10 was 

set aside"in view of the specific allegation that A4 and A10 were party to the criminal conspiracy 

showing inflated (non-existent) cash and bank balances reflected in the books, inflated proceeds 

over a period of last several years, frauds and cooking books of accounts. 

The Court opined that the High Court is not justified in granting bail as the Respondent 

Nos. A4 and A10 being external and internal auditors respectively, their role being paramount in 

inflating processing assets and bank balances of M/s SCSL. 

Central Bureau Of Investigation vs State Of Rajasthan108 

Hon’ble Judges: G.N. Ray and B.L. Hansaria 

Facts of the Case: 

Present case is an appeal directed against the order of the High Court of Rajasthan (Jaipur 

Bench) under Section 482 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, affirming the order passed by the 

learned Chief Judicial Magistrate (Economic Offices) Jaipur, arising out of CBI case No. RC 

8(s)/91/SIU (IX), New Delhi.  

Deputy Superintendent of Police, CBI/SIU (IX), New Delhi, made an application under 

Section 155 (2) of the CrPC, before the Chief Judicial magistrate (Economic Offences), Jaipur 

for grant of permission to the said Deputy Superintendent of police, CBI, to investigate case No. 

RC 8/91/STU/(IX)/CBI/New Delhi under Section 25(1) read with Section 56 of the Foreign 

Exchange (Regulating ) Act, 1973 ( FERA) against respondent No.3 Shri Arvind Singh Mewar 

of Udaipur, Rajasthan.  

It was stated in the said application that the aforesaid case was registered against Shri 

Arvind Singh Mewar on the allegation that Shri Mewar, an Indian National and a resident in 

India, had purchased three properties in United Kingdom and got them repaired and renovated 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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involving total expenditure of Rs. 228 lakhs (782790 pounds) approximately. The said Arvind 

Singh had also incurred heavy expenditure on the education of his daughter in U.K., journey 

expenditure to and fro United Kingdom and on the purchase of Rolls Royace Car etc. All such 

expenditure were incurred by Shri Mewar without any permission from Reserve Bank of India or 

Government of India. Accordingly, he had committed an offence under Section 25(2) read with 

Section 56 of FERA. It was further stated in the said application that as per Section 62 of FERA, 

the offences punishable under Section 56 of FERA were non-cognizable within the meaning of 

CrPC and it was submitted that in order to investigate the non-cognizable offence, the aforesaid 

application for permission was file and was dismissed on the finding that under Section 5 of 

FERA, the State Government may by order and subject to such conditions and limitations as it 

thinks fit to impose, authorise any officer of Customs of any Central Excise such of the powers 

and discharge such of the duties of the Director Enforcement or any other officer of the 

Enforcement under FERA as may be specified in the order; but no notification could be 

produced before the said learned Chief Judicial Magistrate which had empowered CBI under 

Sections 4 and 5 of FERA to cause investigation in respect of the offence under FERA.  

The learned Chief Judicial Magistrate also noted that the FIR had been registered by the 

CBI under Section 154 (1) of the CrPC and that the offence alleged against respondent NO. 3 

was non- cognizable offence under Section 62 FERA and FIR under Section 154 (1) of the CrPC 

could be registered for cognizable offences and not for non-cognizable offence and that in the 

FIR it was alleged that the violation of the provisions of FERA had been committed in a 

foreign country. For investigation of offences committed in foreign countries, it was necessary to 

take permission of the Government of India under Section 188 of the CrPC, but permission from 

Central Government had not been taken, Accordingly, the learned Judicial Magistrate held that 

the permission to investigate the offences alleged against Shri Arvind Singh Mewar by the CBI 

could not be given and the said application was dismissed. 

Being aggrieved by the said order of the learned Judicial Magistrate, the appellant made 

an application which was dismissed by the Single Bench of Rajasthan High Court (Jaipur 

Bench). 

Contentions Raised:  
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From the Appellants side, it was contended that the offences under FERA were notified 

for investigation by CBI in exercise of the powers conferred on the central Government vide 

Sections 3 and 5 read with Section 6 of the Delhi Special Police Establishment Act, 1946 (DSPE 

Act). The Government of Rajasthan had conveyed its consent for the purpose of the members of 

the DSPE exercising powers and jurisdiction in the whole of the State of Rajasthan for 

investigation of offences punishable under FERA. Further, the CBI, Special Police 

Establishment, is a specialised Investigating Agency constituted under the DSPE Act for the 

investigation of special class of crimes having interstate and international ramifications 

irrespective of the fact that the offences therein are covered by a special legislation. Entrustment 

of an offence of a special nature to any for the reputed agencies for investigation is purely a 

"State subject" and the same is within the inherent powers of a State Government. Therefore, the 

consent given by the Government of Rajasthan is within the inherent powers and jurisdiction of 

the State Government and such exercise of power and jurisdiction are out of the scope of judicial 

interference. It was further contended that the CBI having legal authority took up the case for 

investigation and made the application under Section 155(2) Cr.P.C. before the Chief Judicial 

Magistrate for permission to investigate a non-cognizable offence. Due to refusal of permission 

by the Chief Judicial Magistrate, no enquiry could be held by the CBI. 

R. Jayaram has also submitted that the CBI has initiated the case by registration of FIR 

No. RC 8(S)/91-SIU.IX/CBI/New Delhi on September 17, 1991 which is much before any action 

taken by the Director of Enforcement. A copy of the FIR has also been sent to the Director of 

Enforcement. The Directorate of Enforcement is free to investigate the lapses under FERA other 

than the offences under Section 25(1) read with Section 56 of FERA. Such investigation of the 

CBI does not amount to parallel investigation. In any event, there is no question of double 

Jeopardy unless the accused has been prosecuted for the same offence by two authorities. Mr. 

Jayaram has submitted that it is not necessary to give specific authority to officers of the CBI 

individually to cause investigation relating to the offences under FERA. A general notification 

authorising the officers of the DSPE to investigate the offences under FERA must be held to be 

proper authorisation to all the members of the CBI to cause investigation.  

Held: 
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A member of DSPE is not competent to investigate into offences under FERA without a 

Notification issued under FERA authorising him to discharge such duties and functions. In the 

absence of such a Notification issued under FERA he cannot be held to be an officer under 

FERA. A Notification issued under DSPE Act authorising him to investigate into a FERA 

offence is of no avail. 

Sections 4 and 5 of the Code of Criminal Procedure will not come in aid of investigation 

of offences under FERA by a member of DSPE when there are provisions under any other law 

regulating investigation, enquiry or trial of non-IPC offences. FERA is a self-contained Code 

containing comprehensive provisions in this respect and therefore Section 5 of Cr.P.C. is not 

applicable in respect of offences under FERA. 

Moreover, the authority under DSPE Act is confined to investigate offences committed in 

the Union Territory or in such other State where the jurisdiction of a member of DSPE is 

extended u/s. 5 of the Act. A member of DSPE is therefore not clothed with authority to 

investigate offence committed outside India. Even under Cr.P.C. S. 188 investigation of an 

offence committed outside Indian Territory may be made only with the permission of the Central 

Government. 

Ram Narain Popli vs Central Bureau Of Investigation109 

Hon’ble Judges: M.B. Shah, B. N. Agrawal and Arijit Pasayat 

Facts of the Case: 

Maruti Udyog Limited ('MUL') entered into five transactions through United Commercial 

Bank (‘UCO Bank') wherein Harshad S. Mehta was the payee or recipient of the amount and he 

got the loan. 

A-1 Pramod Kumar Pritam Lai Manocha was an employee (Dy. Manager) of MUL-a 

government Company as provided under Section 6(l)(vii) of the Companies Act; A-2 Ambuj 

Sushilkumar Jain was also an employee (Senior Executive) of MUL, who joined MUL on 

19.4.1989; A-3 Vinayak Narayan Deosthali was an employee (Assistant Manager) of UCO Bank 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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at Hamam Street Branch, Mumbai; A-4 Ram Narayan Popli was an employee (Officer attached 

to the Remittance/ Clearance Section) of ANZ Grindlays Bank, Delhi Branch; and A-5 Harshad 

Shantilal Mehta was a financial broker operating in money market and securities.  

A-1 to A-5 entered into a criminal conspiracy to siphon off the funds of MUL in favour 

of A-5 for which afore-quoted five transactions took place, even though there was prohibition on 

granting loan by MUL to individuals. A-l and A-2 were working closely and they had dominion 

over the property of MUL. A-1 used to place the proposal before the Board and obtain approval 

for the investments. A-l and A-2 used to give instructions on the basis of which letters addressed 

to banks were prepared. It was alleged that they misappropriated the property in violation of the 

law as well as their duty (express and implied) by making it available for use of A-5. They were 

authorised to invest the money in the defined securities in a transaction with Public Sector 

Undertakings only. They, however, knowingly entered into a series of transactions, which had 

the result of making the funds of MUL available to A-5. Al, A2 and A3 being public servants 

during the material time, abused their position and thereby conferred a pecuniary advantage upon 

A-5 and in any event while holding office as a public servant obtained a pecuniary advantage for 

A-5 against public interest. Thus, they were charged with an offence u/s 13(1)(c) of the PC Act. 

Further, A-l alongwith A-3, A-4 and A-5 conspired to obtain funds from MUL under the 

pretence that the funds were being drawn for purchasing securities from UCO Bank but diverted 

these funds to the accounts of A-5 for which A-l and A-2 played the role of misrepresenting to 

MUL and withdrawing the funds. A-3 forged documents which helped A-l to secure the release 

of monies from MUL. A-l conspired alongwith A-3 and A-4 for making money available to A-5, 

who became the prime beneficiary of the money. The bankers' cheques were handed over, on the 

instructions of A-l and A-2, to Anuj Kalia an employee of A-5. 

The Special Court, Bombay under Special Court (Trial of Offences Relating to 

Transactions In Securities) Act, 1992, ("SCAM Act") tried five accused for the offences of 

cheating, criminal breach of trust, forgery by using forged documents, abuse of public offices 

and dishonest misappropriation of the public funds under Section 120B read with Sections 420, 

409, 467 and 471 of the Indian Penal Code (IPC) and Section 13(lXc) read with Section 13(2) of 

the Prevention of Corruption Act, 1988 ("the PC Act").  
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By judgment and order dated 27th/28th September, 1999, the learned Special Judge 

acquitted A-2 and convicted accused Nos. l, 3, 4 and 5 as under:- 

A-l is convicted for furtherance of criminal conspiracy in his capacity as a public servant, an 

offence punishable under Section 13(l)(c) read with 13(2) of the PC Act, 1988; under Section 

409 of IPC for committing criminal breach of trust in respect of property of Maruti Udyog 

Limited, Delhi. 

A-3 is convicted for an offence under Section 13(lXc) read with Section 13(2) of PC Act 

in furtherance of criminal conspiracy, in his capacity as a public servant viz. being Asstt. 

Manager of UCO Bank, Government of India undertaking being a nationalised bank for abusing 

his position as a public servant and allowing use of funds of MUL to be wrongfully gained by A-

5; under Section 467 of IPC in furtherance of criminal conspiracy, having forged a letter with the 

dishonest intent of authorizing remittance of MUL's funds by A-5 to MUL, Delhi and further 

dishonestly authorizing the delivery of valuable securities of 35 lacs of units of UTI belonging to 

MUL to Mr. Mohan D. Khandelwal, an attorney of A-5; under Section 468 IPC for having 

forged letter; under section 471 r/w section 467 and 468 of IPC for having forged a letter 

knowing it to be a false and forged document. 

A-4 is convicted under Section 409 IPC for having dishonestly credited banker's cheques. 

A-5 is convicted under Section 403 of IPC for having dishonestly misappropriated four 

bankers' cheques. During pending hearing disposal of these appeals, A-5 expired on 31.12.2001. 

However, his wife filed Criminal Misc. Petition No.574 of 2002 on 16.1.2002 for continuing the 

said appeal. By order dated 24.1.2002, permission was granted and appeal was heard on merits. 

Held: 

"It is thus well established that the transaction of call money which was shown to be 

between the National Housing Bank and the UCO Bank was not a real transaction of call money 

between the National Housing Bank and the UCO Bank. It was really a transaction between the 

National Housing Bank and Harshad Mehta and the officers of the UCO Bank permitted the 

name of the UCO Bank to be used to facilitate the transactions between the National Housing 

Bank and UCO Bank. Therefore, about the nature of the transaction, there is no dispute." 
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Law making conspiracy a crime is designed to curb immoderate power to do mischief 

which is gained by a combination of the means. The encouragement and support which co-

conspirators give to one another rendering enterprises possible which, if left to individual effort, 

would have been impossible, furnish the ground for visiting conspirators and abettors with 

condign punishment. ..." 

To constitute an offence of criminal breach of trust, there must be an entrustment, there 

must be misappropriation or conversion to one's own use, or use in violation of legal direction or 

of any legal contract : and the misappropriation or conversion or disposal must be with a 

dishonest intention. When a person allows others to misappropriate the money entrusted to him 

that amounts to a criminal appropriation of trust as defined by Section 405. The section relatable 

to property in a positive part and a negative part. The positive part deals with criminal 

misappropriation or conversion of the property and the negative part consists of dishonestly 

using or disposing of the property in violation of any direction and of law or any contract 

touching the discharge of trust."110 

The offence in these cases were not of the conventional or traditional type. The ultimate 

objective was to use public money in a carefully planned manner for personal use with no right 

to do it. 111 

Funds of the public bodies were utilized as it they were private funds. There was no 

legitimacy in the transactions. ... Their acts had serious repercussions on the economic system of 

the country, and the magnitude of financial impact involved in the present appeal is only tip of 

the iceberg. There were several connected cases and interestingly some of the prosecution 

witnesses in the present case are stated to be accused in those cases. That itself explains the 

thread of self-perseverance running through their testimony. Therefore, the need to pierce the 

facadial smoke screen to unravel the truth to lift the veil so that the apparent, which is not real 

can be avoided. The proverbial red herrings are to be ignored, to find out the guilt of the 

accused.112  

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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The cause of the community deserves better treatment at the hands of the Court in the 

discharge of its judicial functions. The Community or the State is not a persons non grata whose 

cause may be treated with disdain. The entire community is aggrieved if economic offenders 

who ruin the economy of the State are not brought to book. A murder may be committed in the 

heat of moment upon passions being aroused. An economic offence is committed with cool 

calculation and deliberate design with an eve on personal profit regardless of the consequence to 

the Community."113 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
113 Supra, at Note 20, para 102 



!$# "
"

EXTRADITION OF FUGITIVES: ROLE OF CBI COURTS 

In the leading treatise entitled, Oppenheim’s International Law, 114the expression, 

“extradition” has been defined in the following articulate terms: “Extradition is the delivery of an 

accused or a convicted individual to the state where is he accused of, or has been convicted of, a 

crime, by the state on whose territory he happens for the time to be.”115   

In a famous case decided by the Supreme Court of India, Daya Singh Lahoria Vs. Union 

of India and Others,116the Supreme Court has rather eloquently described the importance of 

extradition in the following illuminating terms: “Extradition is a great step towards international 

cooperation in the suppression of crime. It is for this reason the Congress of Comparative Law 

held at the Hague in 1932, resolved that States should treat extradition as an obligation ‘resulting 

from the international solidarity in the fight against crime’117”. 

Position In India118 

In India the extradition of a fugitive from India to a foreign country or vice-versa is 

governed by the provisions of Indian Extradition Act, 1962. The basis of extradition could be a 

treaty between India and a foreign country. Under section 3 of this Act, a notification could be 

issued by the Government of India extending the provisions of the Act to the country/countries 

notified.  

Information regarding the fugitive criminals wanted in foreign countries is received 

directly from the concerned country or through the General Secretariat of the ICPO-Interpol in 

the form of red notices. The Interpol Wing of the Central Bureau of Investigation immediately 

passes it on to the concerned police organizations. The red notices received from the General 

Secretariat are circulated to all the State Police authorities and immigration authorities. 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
114 Congress of Comparative Law at the Hague, 1932 
115 Taneja ramini, “International Crime and Extradition: An Obligation Resulting From the International Solidarity 
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last retrieved on 29th July, 2015. 
116 2008 (2) SCC 417 
117 9th Edition,  2008, edited by Sir Robert Jennings QC and Sir Arthur Watts KCMG, QC:  Volume I, parts 2 to 4, 
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The question arises that what action, if any, can be taken by the Police on receipt of an 

information regarding a fugitive criminal wanted in a foreign country. In this connection the 

following provisions of law are relevant: 

Action can be taken under the Indian Extradition Act Article No. 34 (b) of 1962. This act 

provides procedure for the arrest and extradition of fugitive criminals under certain conditions 

which includes receipt of the request through diplomatic channels only and under the warrant 

issued by a Magistrate having a competent jurisdiction. 

 Action can also be taken under the provisions of Section 41 (1) (g) of the Cr.P.C., 1973 

which authorizes the police to arrest a fugitive criminal without a warrant, however, they must 

immediately refer the matter to Interpol Wing for onward transmission to the Government of 

India for taking a decision on extradition or otherwise. 

In case the fugitive criminal is an Indian national, action can also be taken under Section 

188 Cr.P.C., 1973 as if the offence has been committed at any place in India at which he may be 

found. The trial of such a fugitive criminal can only take place with the previous sanction of the 

Central Government. 

Daya Singh Lahoria Vs. Union of India and others119 

Hon’ble Judges: G.B. Pattanaik, U.C. Banerjee 

In this case the Supreme Court has elaborately considered the background and rationale 

of the Extradition Act, 1962 and has juxtaposed it with the applicable Extradition Treaty.  

“The question for consideration…whether an accused, who is being tried in respect of 

offences under the Extradition Treaty can be tried for any other offence which does not form a 

part of the decree in view of the specific provisions contained in Section 21 of the Extradition 

Act, 1962.To consolidate and amend the law relating to the extradition of fugitive criminals and 

to provide for matters connected therewith, or incidental thereto, the Extradition Act of 1962 has 

been enacted. Prior to the enactment of the aforesaid Act the law of extradition applicable to 

India was found scattered in the United Kingdom Extradition Act, 1870, the Fugitive Offenders 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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Act, 1881 and the Indian Extradition Act, 1903…The rights of a citizen not to be sent out to 

foreign jurisdiction without strict compliance with law relating to extradition is a valuable right”   

ÒIn the modern world interdependence of States is natural and essential and 

consequently the importance of extradition and problems of extradition would arise. It has 

become so easy for a fugitive to escape from the law of the land and if law has to take its course 

and pursue the offender, extradition proceedings is a necessary instrument to secure the return 

of the offender to the altar of law. Laxity in the extradition efforts would only increase the 

offenderÕs appetite to commit crimes with impunity by fleeing to a foreign territory where he 

cannot be touched except through extradition. There is a natural tendency on the part of the 

State of asylum to facilitate the surrender of the fugitive. But extradition of a fugitive is not that 

smooth as one thinks. The liberty of an individual being an inalienable right, many States, 

particularly the United States of America and the United Kingdom, prescribe that no fugitive will 

be extradited in the absence of an extradition treaty between the two countries...Extradition is a 

great step towards international cooperation in the suppression of crimeÓ.  

Sarabjit Rick Singh v Union of India 120 

Hon’ble judges: S.B. Sinha, Harjit Singh Bedi 

Facts of the case: 

In this case the Appellant is a citizen of India He allegedly holds an Indian Passport. He, 

however, indisputably is a resident of United States of America. Allegedly he had been running 

an event management company and promoting clubs into organizing entertainment, cultural 

events and shows in various parts of the United States of America for a long time. 

The Government of the United States of America made a formal request to the 

Government of India for his extradition alleging that the appellant had conspired in aiding and 

abetting the sale and supply of MDMA, a controlled substance and other offensive substances. 

He is said to be one of the members of a criminal organization involved in drug trafficking and 

money laundering. His organization has been found to be responsible for distributing millions of 

tablets of MDMA and laundering millions of dollars in drug proceeds. The organization is said to 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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have purchased large quantities of MDMA from various sources in Netherlands and obtained 

them in USA through couriers and exchanged them for cash to be distributed to the lower levels 

of the organization, who in turn, would sell MDMA to buyers/consumers in Houston. 

United States of America is a Treaty State. An Extradition Treaty was entered into 

between the Government of the Republic of India and the Government of the United States of 

America on or about 21st July, 1999. 

Held: 

 “In a proceeding for extradition no witness is examined for establishing an allegation 

made in the requisition of the foreign State. The meaning of the word ÒevidenceÓ has to be 

considered keeping in view the tenor of the Act. No formal trial is to be held. Only a report is 

required to be made. The Act for the aforementioned purposes only confers jurisdiction and 

powers on the Magistrate which he could have exercised for the purpose of making an order of 

commitment. Although not very relevant, we may observe that in the Code of Criminal 

Procedure, 1973, the powers of the committing Magistrate has greatly been reduced. He is now 

required to look into the entire case through a very narrow hole. Even the power of discharge in 

the Magistrate at that stage has been taken awayÓ. 

Maninder Pal Singh Kohli vs Union Of India And Ors.121 

Hon’ble Judges: M Mudgal, P Bhasin 

In Maninder Pal Singh Kohli case the grievance before yet another Division Bench was 

only that the findings recorded by the Extradition Magistrate under Section 7(4) of the Act far 

from being prima facie were conclusive. This Court nevertheless on interpretation of the law 

held that any finding under Section 7(4) of the Act necessarily has to be prima facie and could 

never be conclusive.  

Held: 

It was held that: “the object of extradition proceedings is mainly to find out if the request 

made by the foreign State has a sound basis and material which would justify the extradition of 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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the person sought to be extradited. It was further held that the inquiry before the Magistrate in 

extradition proceedings cannot be converted into trial of the offence for which the extradition of 

the fugitive is sought. At the inquiry the Magistrate has only to find out if based on the evidence 

and material produced in support of the requisition of foreign State and that produced by the 

fugitive, a prima facie case is made out in support of the requisition and nothing more’’. 

Smt. Nina Pillai and Ors. v. Union of India and Ors.122 

Hon’ble Judges: M J Rao, Manmohan Sarin 

Facts of the Case: 

In this case Late Mr. Rajan Pillai, an Indian citizen, was convicted in Singapore for 24 

offences punishable under the Singapore Penal Code. The case was adjourned, at the request of 

counsel for the accused, to hear arguments on the question of sentence. Mr. Rajan Pillai instead 

of presenting himself for receiving sentence, left Singapore and came to India very next date and 

sought anticipatory bail from the Bombay High Court, which was rejected by the High Court of 

Bombay. The High Commission of Singapore, in the meanwhile, on 19-4-1995 presented a letter 

of request and sought the provisional arrest for purposes of extradition of Mr. Rajan Pillai. The 

Union Government passed the order dated 2-6-1995, appointing a Magistrate under Section 5 of 

the Act to conduct an inquiry into the case and submits his report. This was followed by warrants 

of arrest, pursuant to which Mr. Rajan Pillai was arrested. It is the petitioners' grievance that Mr. 

Rajan Pillai was denied proper medical facilities and was assaulted in jail, culminating in his 

death on 7-7-1995.  

Held: 

ÒWe may notice here that upon receiving information with sufficient particulars from a 

requesting State that a fugitive criminal is wanted for any alleged offence committed in the 

requesting State or for undergoing trial or sentence, the Central Government passes an order 

under Section 5 of the Act, appointing a Magistrate to inquire into the case. The Criminal 

Procedure Code also provides for the arrest of a person without warrant who is concerned in 

any cognizable offence or against whom a reasonable complaint has been made or credible 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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information has been received or a reasonable suspicion exists of his having been so concerned 

in the offence, under Section 41 of the Code. Accordingly, on credible information being 

received from a requesting State, with sufficient particulars, about a person having been 

involved in any offence, the said person could be arrested in India without warrant. It is now 

fairly well-settled that the Magisterial inquiry which is conducted pursuant to the request for 

extradition is not a trial. The said enquiry decides nothing about the innocence or guilt of the 

fugitive criminal. The main purpose of the inquiry is to determine whether there is a prima facie 

case or reasonable grounds which warrant the fugitive criminal being sent to the demanding 

State. The jurisdiction is limited to the former part of the request and does not concern itself with 

the merits of the trial, subject to exceptions, as outlined in the preceding paragraph 7, in which 

case the request for extradition is denied by the Central Government. 

“It is clear from the scheme of the Extradition Act that pursuant to a request made under 

section 4 of the Act, the order contemplated to be passed for a Magisterial inquiry under section 

5 does not contemplate a pre-decisional or prior hearing. Section 5 of the Act is an enabling 

provision by which, a Magistrate is appointed to inquire into the case. The Magistrate on the 

order of inquiry being passed by Central Government issues a warrant of arrest of the fugitive 

criminal. The whole purpose is to apprehend or prevent the further escape of a person who is 

accused of certain offences and/or is convicted and wanted by the requesting State for trial or for 

undergoing the sentence passed or to be passed. The Act contains sufficient safeguards in the 

procedure to be followed in the inquiry by the Magistrate to protect the fugitive criminal. The 

Magistrate is to receive evidence from the requesting State as well as of the fugitive criminal. 

The fugitive criminal is entitled to show that the offences of which he is accused or convicted are 

offences of political character or not an extradition offence. Besides, the Magistrate, if he comes 

to a conclusion that a prima facie case is not made in support of the requisition by the requesting 

State, he is required to discharge fugitive criminal. The Act also has provisions under section 25 

of the Act for grant of bail. The Act under section 29 confers wide powers on the Central 

Government to discharge the accused or cancel any warrants issued, if it finds that the 

application for surrender of return of the fugitive criminal has not been made in good faith. It 

may also discharge the fugitive criminal in the interest of justice or for political reasons if it is 

unjust or inexpedient to surrender or return the fugitive criminal. We are of the view that the 
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challenge to Section 5 of the Act on the ground that it does not provide any pre-decisional 

hearing or is violative of natural justice is without any merit and misconceived and it must fail”. 

Differences between preventive detention and extradition 

Kubic Dariusz Vs. Union of India123 

A judgment which contrasts and analyses the differences between preventive detention 

and extradition is Kubic Dariusz Vs. Union of India.  

Held: 

ÒPreventive detention of a foreign national who is not resident of the country involves an 

element of international law and human rights and the appropriate authorities ought not to be 

seen to have been oblivious of its international obligations in this regard.  ÉThe system of 

extradition of criminals represents an act of legal assistance by one State (the requestee) to 

another State (the requestor) with the aim of carrying out a criminal prosecution, finding and 

arresting a suspected criminal in order to bring him to court or for executing the sentence. In 

concluding such convention the States base themselves on principles of humanitarianism in their 

efforts to contribute to the more effective achievement of the objectives of the correction and re-

education of violators of the lawÓ.  

Where such conventions exist, the citizens of a State who were convicted to deprivation 

of freedom in another signatory State are in accordance with mutual agreement of the States, 

transferred to the country of which they are citizens to serve their sentences. The transfer of the 

convicted person may take place only after the verdict has entered into legal force and may be 

carried out on the initiative of either of the interested States. The punishment decided upon with 

regard to a convicted person is served on the basis of the verdict of the State in which he was 

convicted. On the strength of that verdict the competent court of the State of which the person is 

a citizen adopts a decision concerning its implementation and determines, in accordance with the 

law of its own State, the same period of deprivation of freedom as was assigned under the 

verdict. While such ameliorative practices may be available in case of a foreign national being 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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criminally prosecuted, tried and punished, no such proceedings are perhaps possible when he is 

preventively detained.  

A preventive detention as was held Rex v. Halliday124 “is not punitive but precautionary 

measure”. …There may, therefore, be cases where while a citizen and resident of the country 

deserves preventive detention apart from criminal prosecution, in case of a foreign national not 

resident of the country he may not be justifiably subjected to preventive detention in the event of 

which no international legal assistance is possible unlike in case of criminal prosecution and 

punishment”.  

In this case, due to the particular facts and circumstances enumerated therein, the 

Supreme Court has held that “the continued detention of the detenu has been rendered illegal by 

non-consideration of his representation by the appropriate Government according to law 

resulting in violation of Article 22(5) of the Constitution; and he is to be set at liberty forthwith 

in this case”. 

Abu Salem's extradition: 

Abu Salem Abdul Qayoom Ansari vs State Of Maharashtra & Anr.125 

Hon’ble Judges: P. Sathasivam, Asok Kumar Ganguly 

Facts: 

When Abu Salem entered the US, they tipped off the Federal Bureau of Investigation 

(FBI), which tailed him. Abu managed to get out of the US and entered Portugal through Lisbon 

after rigging up his papers. They went on to tip the Lisbon authorities that immediately seized 

the Indian gangster. And, the tables turned. Abu Salem found himself on the receiving end and, 

the Mumbai police, on their part had, scores to settle with the gangster whose extradition from 

Portugal is shrouded with as much controversy as his role in the city's blackest blasts. 

The extradition of underworld don Abu Salem was a tribute to the co-ordination among 

the Central Bureau of Investigation, the ministry of home affairs, the ministry of external affairs 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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and the Indian embassy in Lisbon, Portugal, and was made possible by the excellent co-operation 

received from the Portuguese authorities. The extradition was a landmark event for many 

reasons. 

The Difficulty& The International Obligations: 

There is no extradition treaty between India and Portugal. The absence of such a treaty 

initially created legal difficulties. Therefore this becomes an area where political considerations 

play a prominent role, unless there is an applicable bilateral extradition treaty. 

Indeed, a country does not need a treaty to decide that a fugitive found within its 

jurisdiction should be extradited to another country that requests extradition. It can, if it wants to, 

take that decision without any treaty obligations whatsoever, even by exercise of executive 

discretion. Where there is a bilateral extradition treaty, the states party to it normally goes by its 

terms.  

The process of extradition usually involves interposition of the Judiciary in both 

countries, and this has permitted the emergence of some discernible principles of international 

law governing extradition. 

International law recognizes four points as a basis of exercise of criminal jurisdiction by a 

sovereign state, namely, territoriality (the state where the offence has been committed), 

nationality (the national state of the offender or the accused), the protective principle (the state 

whose essential economic or other interests have been directly and adversely affected by the 

offence), and universality (the offence being an international crime). 

While these are situations largely governed by the political relations between the two 

countries involved, yet even a political/administrative decision to extradite or deport is likely to 

go before the law dispensing authorities including the judiciary in the extradition-requested state. 

Indian government sought his extradition under the United Nations Convention on 

Suppression of Terrorism of 2000 under which all member nations have to help each other in the 

war against terrorism. Portugal and India are both signatories to the Convention. In the 

meantime, the Portuguese court sentenced Salem and his girlfriend Monica Bedi to four years 

imprisonment for illegally entering and staying in Portugal on forged passports. The court also 
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ordered that their extradition could be made only after they have completed their prison term. 

When the CBI got to know of Salem's plea the Portuguese lawyer representing the Indian 

government rushed to the court to remind the judge about his previous order about extraditing 

the duo on completing their 4-year sentence. 

Held: 

The term `extradition' denotes the process whereby under a concluded treaty one State 

surrenders to any other State at its request, a person accused or convicted of a criminal offence 

committed against the laws of the requesting State, such requesting State being competent to try 

the alleged offender. Though extradition is granted in implementation of the international 

commitment of the State, the procedure to be followed by the courts in deciding, whether 

extradition should be granted and on what terms, is determined by the municipal law of the land. 

Extradition is founded on the broad principle that it is in the interest of civilised communities 

that criminals should not go unpunished and on that account it is recognised as a part of the 

comity of nations that one State should ordinarily afford to another State assistance towards 

bringing offenders to justice. 

Because of the negative attitude of the customary international law on the subject, 

extradition is by and large dealt with by bilateral treaties. These treaties, inasmuch as they 

affected, the rights of private citizens, required in their turn alterations in the laws and statutes of 

the States which had concluded them. The established principle requires that without formal 

authority either by treaty or by statute, fugitive criminals would not be surrendered nor would 

their surrender be requested. 

There is no general rule that all treaty rights and obligations lapse upon external changes 

of sovereignty over territory nor is there any generally accepted principle favouring the 

continuity of treaty relations. Treaties may be affected when one State succeeds wholly or in part 

to the legal personality and territory of another. The conditions under which the treaties of the 

latter survive depend on many factors including the precise form and origin of the succession and 

the type of treaty concerned. The emancipated territories on becoming independent States may 

prefer to give general notice that they were beginning with a "clean slate" so far as their future 

treaty relations were concerned, or may give so-called "pick and choose" notifications as to 
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treaties as were formally applicable to it before achieving independence. The "clean slate" 

doctrine was ultimately adopted in the relevant provisions of the Vienna Convention of 1978. 

The sound general working rule which emerges is to look at the text of the relevant treaty and 

other arrangements accompanying change of sovereignty and then ascertain as to what was the 

intention of the State concerned as to the continuance or passing of any rights or obligations 

under the treaty concerned. The question whether a State is in a position to perform its treaty 

obligations is essentially a political question which has to be determined keeping in view the 

circumstances prevailing and accompanying the change of sovereignty. 
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MEDIA TRIAL IN CBI CASES 

Introduction 

The subject of ‘Trial by Media’ is discussed by civil rights activists, constitutional 

lawyers, judges and academics almost everyday in recent times. With the coming into being of 

the television and cable-channels, the amount of publicity which any crime or suspect or accused 

gets in the media has reached alarming proportions. Innocents may be condemned for no reason 

or those who are guilty may not get a fair trial or may get a higher sentence after trial than they 

deserved. There appears to be very little restraint in the media in so far as the administration of 

criminal justice is concerned.126 

We are aware that in a democratic country like ours, freedom of expression is an 

important right but such aright is not absolute in as much as the Constitution itself, while it 

grants the freedom under Article 19(1)(a), permitted the legislature to impose reasonable 

restriction on the right, in the interests of various matters, one of which is the fair administration 

of justice as protected by the Contempt of Courts Act, 1971.127 

A Bench of this Court in the case of R.K. Anand v. Delhi High Court128, clearly stated it 

would be a sad day for the court to employ the media for setting its own house in order and the 

media too would not relish the role of being the snoopers for the Court. Media should perform 

the acts of journalism and not as a special agency for the Court. The impact of television and 

newspaper coverage on a person's reputation by creating a widespread perception of guilt, 

regardless of any verdict in a Court of law. This will not be fair. Even in the case of M.P. Lohia 

v. State of W.B. & Anr.129, the Court reiterated its earlier view that freedom of speech and 

expression sometimes may amount to interference with the administration of justice as the 

articles appearing in the media could be prejudicial, this should not be permitted. 

 

Presumption of innocence of an accused is a legal presumption and should not be 

destroyed at the very threshold through the process of media trial and that too when the 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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128 (2009) 8 SCC 106 
129 (2005) 2 SCC 686"
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investigation is pending. In that event, it will be opposed to the very basic rule of law and would 

impinge upon the protection granted to an accused under Article 21 of the Constitution [Anukul 

Chandra Pradhan v. Union of India & Ors].130  

 

Sidhartha Vashisht @ Manu Sharma vs State (Nct Of Delhi)131 

(Jessica Lal Murder Case) 

Hon’ble Judges: P. Sathasivam, Swatanter Kumar 

 

Facts of the Case: 

On night intervening 29-30.04.1999, a `Thursday Party' was going on at Qutub 

Colonnade at "Once upon a time" restaurant also called "Tamarind Cafi". The liquor was being 

served by the bartenders, namely, Jessica Lal (since deceased) and one Shyan Munshi132. At 

about 2.00 a.m., Sidhartha Vashisht @ Manu Sharma 133along with his friends came there and 

asked for two drinks. The waiter did not serve him liquor as the party was over. Jessica Lal and 

Malini Ramani134, who were also present there, tried to make him understand that the party was 

over and there was no liquor available with them. On refusal to serve liquor, the appellant took 

out a pistol and fired one shot at the roof and another at Jessica Lal which hit near her left eye as 

a result of which she fell down. Beena Ramani135, who was present there, stopped the appellant 

and questioned him as to why he had shot Jessica Lal and demanded the weapon from him but he 

did not hand over the pistol and fled away. Jessica Lal was rushed to Ashlok Hospital from 

where she was shifted to Apollo Hospital. On 30.04.1999, in the early morning hours, Jessica Lal 

was declared brought dead at Apollo Hospital.136 

The statutory appeals were filed in The Supreme Court under Section 2(a) of the Supreme 

Court (Enlargement of Criminal Appellate Jurisdiction) Act, 1970 and under Section 379 of the 

Criminal Procedure Code against the final judgment and order passed by the High Court 
137whereby the High Court reversed the order of acquittal passed by the Additional Sessions 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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131 (2010) 6 SCC 1 
132 (PW-2) 
133 (appellant in Crl. A. No. 179 of 2007) 
134 (PW-6) 
135 (PW-20) 
136 Supra, at note 7, Para 2(a). 
137 Order dated 18/20.12.2006 passed by the High Court of Delhi in Criminal Appeal No. 193 of 2006. 
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Judge, Delhi138, and convicted Sidhartha Vashisht @ Manu Sharma  under Section 302, 

201/120B IPC and Section 27 of the Arms Act and sentenced him to undergo imprisonment for 

life for the offence under Section 302 IPC together with a fine of Rs.50,000/- to be paid to the 

family of the victim and in default of payment of fine, to undergo further imprisonment for three 

years and also sentenced him to undergo imprisonment for four years for the offence under 

Section 27 of the Arms Act with a fine of Rs.2000/- and in default to further undergo 

imprisonment for three months.  

 

Issues: 

Points for consideration in these appeals are:- 

a) Whether the prosecution has established its case beyond reasonable doubt against all the three 

accused? 

b) Whether the trial Court is justified in acquitting all the accused in respect of charges leveled 

against them? 

c) Whether the impugned order of the High Court imposing punishment when the trial Court 

acquitted all the accused in respect of the charges leveled against them is sustainable? 

 

Issue of trial by media v right to fair trial: 

The newspapers and the other media channels have quite been rejoicing over their 

‘success’ in bringing Jessica lal to justice. The trial court had acquitted Manu Sharma of all the 

charges depending upon the obvious lacunae in the prosecution case. The High Court however 

reversed the trial court judgment. The High Court has interpreted the evidence given by the 

witnesses differently as clear from the following sentence: 

“The trial court grossly erred in the manner of appreciation of testimonies of the said 

witnesses by reading into the said testimony what was not there. The key witnesses’ evidence 

which did not exist, for instance, while dealing with PW-20, the trial court arrived at a factually 

wrong finding, not borne out from the evidence on record, to the effect that she thought that he 

had fired a shot at Jessica Lal and that she was not an eye witness.” 

Basically what the high court did was do so just undo what the trial court had done. 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
138 dated 21.02.2006 passed by the Additional Sessions Judge, Delhi, in Sessions Case No. 105 of 2001"



!%' "
"

“The testimony of PW-6, Malini Ramani, has been discarded by the trial court being of 

little importance. since she was not an eye witness.However, she is certainly a witness to 

identifying Sidhartha Vashisht @ Manu Sharma along with four or five persons present at the 

Tamarind Court as also having asked her for whisky and later misbehaving with her. We find it 

quite strange that at one stage the trial court has returned a categorical finding that four accused 

were present inside Tamarind Cafe and that finding has been given only on the evidence of PWs 

1, 6, 20 and 24, yet their evidence has been doubted and that too without even making real 

analysis of their evidence.” 

The High Court held Beena Ramani’s testimony to be clinching evidence against the 

accused. Then the court proceeded to view the testimony given by the other witnesses in the light 

of in its own interpretation placed upon the statement of Beena Ramani. 

“This witness was cross-examined by counsel for Sidhartha Vashishta @ Manu Sharma, 

but to no meaningful end. In other words, her testimony remained unchallenged. The trial court 

while dealing with this witness has held that this witness does not further the case of the 

Prosecution as the witness was not an eye witness to the occurrence but a witness to the presence 

of Sidhartha Vashishta @ Manu Sharma, Amardeep Singh Gill,Alok Khanna and Vikas Yadav at 

the Qutub Colonnade. The trial court also held that the deposition of this witness was vague 

since she thought that Manu Sharma was carrying a gun and also felt that he may have shot 

Jessica Lal. The Court also held that mere feelings were not enough and did not mean that 

Sidhartha Vashisht @ Manu Sharma had actually fired a shot at Jessica Lal. The trial court 

further went totally wrong in holding that PW-20 had admitted not seeing Sidhartha Vashisht 

firing a shot at Jessica Lal, but it was only her feeling. With great respect to the learned Judge, 

we find this is 'a complete misreading of evidence'. There is no suggestion let alone an admission 

on the part of PW-20, Beena Ramani, that she had not seen the accused Sidhartha Vashisht firing 

a shot at Jessica Lal.” 

The court found the testimony of Beena Ramani alone enough for convicting Manu 

Sharma for the murder of Jessica Lal. If we try to see through the judgment of the High Court we 

can see that the high court is proceeding with the assumption that Manu Sharman is guilty. The 

high court links all the evidence together and does not take into account the various lacunae in 
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the prosecution case. The court has clearly been influenced by the popular opinion and the media 

publicity of the case. 

If we look at the various comments in the newspapers after the trial of the judgment the 

whole thing becomes crystal clear. Even before the trial started the media started naming Manu 

Sharma as an accused in the Jessica lal murder case. His photographs were flashed across the 

media and created practical difficulties in the test identification parade of the accused persons. 

This point has also been pondered over by the high court in its judgment. 

The question that arises at this moment is that why was Manu Sharma acquitted by the 

court and then again convicted by the High Court on the basis of same facts. First we shall deal 

with as to why the trial court had to acquit Manu Sharma. If we look at the evidence the whole 

thing becomes clear. The car he came in to reach the restaurant was not recovered on the spot: 

the court does not know how he got there. The weapon he used was never recovered: the court 

cannot equate the fatal bullets with the gun he owns. Actually, the court does not even know if 

one gun or two guns were used in the shooting. The court has no site plan to help it understand 

where the shooter stood, where the empty cartridges were found or where Jessica fell. The 

restaurant floor was washed clean: the court does not know if there ever was a pool of blood. 

Indeed, there was no hard evidence of any celebration or party at the place: the booze bottles 

were gone, so why would Manu Sharma kill another guest? The post mortem report is way short 

on cause of death details. There are no eyewitnesses: no one saw the shooter. The man recording 

the first information report says he does not understand his own report because he is not 

particularly good with written Hindi (though we know he can speak well enough). Evidence-

collection in the case has been seriously botched; the holes would take some filling. We don't 

have a chain of circumstances to connect Manu Sharma to the killing. Are we going to send a 

man to the gallows just because the police arrested the man? Evidence-collection in the case has 

been seriously botched; the holes would take some filling. The evidence isn't going to now 

appear just because the High Court has the power to introduce additional evidence. 

The Judge possibly believed that if said facts were inconsistent and did not offer 

conclusive proof of the guilt of the accused, he was bound to give the benefit of the doubt to the 

accused. Prima facie, such a strictly judicial perception seems unexceptionable 
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However, persons well versed with the Cr.P.C. would know that Section 311 invests in 

the Judge the prerogative to summon suo moto more material witnesses in addition to those 

produced by the prosecution. This can be done at any stage of the trial. The Judge has also the 

authority to recall and re-examine any person already examined 

Section 311 is a potent weapon in the hands of a Judge who is confronted with a number 

of witnesses reneging on their previous statements to the police. Public interest demanded that 

the trial Judge strain every nerve of the law to arrive at the truth. All reports indicate that Judge 

Bhayana did not appreciate the significance of the grave crime that had taken place and his own 

moral responsibility to arrive at the truth. Viewed in this light, the failure is not only that of the 

police but of the trial Judge as well. 139The reasons cited by the judge behind decision[4] are: 

Three key witnesses — model-turned actor Shayan Munshi, one Karan Rajput and 

electrician Shiv Dass had turned hostile. They re-tracted their initial statement given to the Delhi 

Police. The weapon of murder was never recovered from the place of the crime. The CFSL140, 

which examined the bullets —one recovered from the spot and the other lodged in Jessica’s body 

— found they were not fired from the same weapon. 

The above reasons basically compelled the judge to let go of the accused and once again 

put forth the loopholes in our legal justice system. It showed the inefficiency and lack of 

credibility in our Police force and also how easy it is for the ‘high class’ people to buy their 

freedom. 

It is now quite clear that there was not adequate evidence to nail Manu Sharma in this 

case. Even in the lack of evidence in this case Manu Sharma was held guilty by the Delhi High 

Court. There is a clear influence of media as will become clear from some examples of Media 

Coverage given below. The coverage of the media is noteworthy in this case. Sify reported the 

incident as “Jessica Lall: Murder in jungle of Indian justice.” Tehelka141: reported that: The trial 

court gave Manu the benefit of doubt on his version that the Tata Safari was recovered from 

Karnal. The police says the ‘court grossly erred’ because the seizure memo records a Noida 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
139 FRONTLINE.Volume 23 - Issue 05 :: Mar. 11 - 24, 2006. 
140 Central Forensic Science Laboratory 
141Available at,  http://www.tehelka.com/story_main17.asp?filename=Ne032506_Is_there_CS.asp, Last retrieved on 
20th July, 2015 
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recovery “Is there any hope Jessica will get justice? Many do hope — and groups are promising 

to keep the campaign for justice alive — that both the police and the courts will ensure what 

every outraged voice is demanding: justice for Jessica, and thereby a change in the criminal 

justice system.” The Delhi Police has finally gone in appeal against a trial court judgement that 

outraged the nation. But will the law continue pushing for justice once public focus shifts from 

the case?” “Justice for Jessica 142Is it realistic to expect convictions in this high-profile murder 

case?” Jessica Lal Case: Justice not served.143 

Held: 

There is danger, of serious risk of prejudice if the media exercises an unrestricted and 

unregulated freedom such that it publishes photographs of the suspects or the accused before the 

identification parades are constituted or if the media publishes statements which out rightly hold 

the suspect or the accused guilty even before such an order has been passed by the Court. 

Despite the significance of the print and electronic media in the present day, it is not only 

desirable but least that is expected of the persons at the helm of affairs in the field, to ensure that 

trial by media does not hamper fair investigation by the investigating agency and more 

importantly does not prejudice the right of defence of the accused in any manner whatsoever. It 

will amount to travesty of justice if either of this causes impediments in the accepted judicious 

and fair investigation and trial.144\ 

In the present case, certain articles and news items appearing in the newspapers 

immediately after the date of occurrence, did cause certain confusion in the mind of public as to 

the description and number of the actual assailants/suspects. It is unfortunate that trial by media 

did, though to a very limited extent, affect the accused, but not tantamount to a prejudice which 

should weigh with the Court in taking any different view. The freedom of speech protected under 

Article 19 (1) (a) of the Constitution has to be carefully and cautiously used, so as to avoid 

interference in the administration of justice and leading to undesirable results in the matters sub 

judice before the Courts. 

 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
142Available at,  http://www.businessworld.in/APR1706/web_exclusive05.asp, Last retrieved on 20th July, 2015 
143Anil Dharker, An abortion of justice, Sunday, March 05, 2006, Available at,  
http://sakshijuneja.com/blog/2006/02/22/jessica-lal-case-justice-not-served/, Last retrieved on 20th July, 2015 
144 Supra, at note 7, Para 148. 
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R.K. Anand vs Registrar,Delhi High Court145 

Hon’ble Judges: Aftab Alam , B.N. Agrawal, G.S. Singhvi.  

Facts of the case 

The present case is a fall out from a criminal trial arising from a hit and run accident on a 

cold winter morning in Delhi in which a car travelling at reckless speed crashed through a police 

check post and crushed to death six people, including three policemen. Facing the trial, as the 

main accused, was a young person called Sanjeev Nanda coming from a very wealthy business 

family. According to the prosecution, the accident was caused by Sanjeev Nanda who, in an 

inebriated state, was driving a black BMW car at very high speed. The trial, commonly called as 

the BMW case, was meandering endlessly even after eight years of the accident and in the year 

2007, it was not proceeding very satisfactorily at all from the point of view of the prosecution. 

The status of the main accused coupled with the flip flop of the prosecution witnesses evoked 

considerable media attention and public interest. To the people who watch TV and read 

newspapers it was yet another case that was destined to end up in a fiasco.  

 

It was in this background that a well known English language news channel called New 

Delhi Television (NDTV) telecast a programme on May 30, 2007 in which one Sunil Kulkarni 

was shown meeting with IU Khan, the Special Public Prosecutor and RK Anand, the Senior 

Defence Counsel (and two others) and negotiating for his sell out in favour of the defence for a 

very high price. Kulkarni was at one time considered the most valuable witness for the 

prosecution but afterwards, at an early stage in the trial, he was dropped by the prosecution as 

one of its witnesses. 

	
  

Nearly eight years later, the trial court had summoned him to appear and give his 

testimony as a court witness. The telecast came a few weeks after the court order and even as his 

evidence in the trial was going on. According to NDTV, the programme was based on a 

clandestine operation carried out by means of a concealed camera with Kulkarni acting as the 

mole. What appeared in the telecast was outrageous and tended to confirm the cynical but widely 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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held belief that in this country the rich and the mighty enjoyed some kind of corrupt and extra-

constitutional immunity that put them beyond the reach of the criminal justice system. 

 

Issues: 146    

 

1. Whether the conviction of the two appellants for committing criminal contempt of court 

is justified and sustainable? 

2.  Whether the procedure adopted by the High Court in the contempt proceedings was fair 

and reasonable, causing no prejudice to the two appellants? 

3. Whether it was open to the High Court to prohibit the appellants from appearing before 

the High Court and the courts sub-ordinate to it for a specified period as one of the 

punishments for criminal contempt of court? 

4. Whether in the facts and circumstances of the case the punishments awarded to the 

appellants can be said to be adequate and commensurate to their misdeeds?  

5. The role of NDTV in carrying out sting operations and telecasting the programme based 

on the sting materials in regard to a criminal trial that was going on before the court. 

6.  The declining professional standards among lawyers, and 

7. The root-cause behind the whole affair; the way the BMW trial was allowed to go 

directionless 

Role of NDTV147 

In this case senior counsel Mr. Gopal Subramanium148 submitted that this case raised the 

important issue regarding the nature and extent of the right of the media to deal with a pending 

trial. He submitted that a sting operation was, by its nature, based on deception and hence, 

overriding public interest alone might justify its publication/telecast. Further, since the operation 

was based on deception the onus would be heavy on the person behind the sting and 

publication/telecast of the sting materials to establish his/her bona fide, apart from the 

genuineness and truthfulness of the sting materials. In regard to sting operations bona fide could 

not be assumed. In this case, therefore, it was the duty of the High Court to inquire into and 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
!%'"Ibid, Para 59 
!%("Supra at note 1, Para 168"
!%)"Senior advocate and amicus in this case4"
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satisfy itself whether the sting operation was a genuine exercise by the TV channel to expose the 

attempted subversion of the trial. 

Held: 

In this case The submissions of the counsel was based on two premises:  

1. one, the sting programme telecast by NDTV was of the genre, `trial by media'  

2. and two, the programme interfered or tended to interfere with or obstructed or tended to 

obstruct the proceedings of the BMW trial that was going on at the time of the telecast. If 

the two premises are correct then the rest of the submissions would logically follow. But 

are the two premises correct? What is trial by media? The expression `trial by media' is 

defined to mean: 

"the impact of television and newspaper coverage on a person's reputation by creating a 

widespread perception of guilt regardless of any verdict in a court of law. During high 

publicity court cases, the media are often accused of provoking an atmosphere of public 

hysteria akin to a lynch mob which not only makes a fair trial nearly impossible but means 

that, regardless of the result of the trial, in public perception the accused is already held guilty 

and would not be able to live the rest of their life without intense public scrutiny." 

 

In light of the above it can hardly be said that the sting programme telecast by NDTV 

was a media trial. Leaving aside some stray remarks or comments by the anchors or the 

interviewees, the programme showed some people trying to subvert the BMW trial and the state 

of the criminal administration of justice in the country (as perceived by the TV channel and the 

interviewees). There was nothing in the programme to suggest that the accused in the BMW case 

were guilty or innocent. The programme was not about the accused but it was mainly about two 

lawyers representing the two sides and one of the witnesses in the case. It indeed made serious 

allegations against the two lawyers. The allegations, insofar as RK Anand is concerned, stand 

established after strict scrutiny by the High Court and this Court. Insofar as IU Khan is 

concerned, though this Court held that his conduct did not constitute criminal contempt of court, 

nonetheless allegations against him too are established to the extent that his conduct has been 

found to be inappropriate for a Special Prosecutor. In regard to the witness the comments and 

remarks made in the telecast were never subject to a judicial scrutiny but those too are broadly in 
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conformity with the materials on the court's record. We are thus clearly of the view that the sting 

programme telecast by NDTV cannot be described as a piece of trial by media. 

The Hon’ble Court also added that this indifferent and passive attitude is not confined to 

the BMW trial or to the Delhi High Court alone. It is shared in greater or lesser degrees by many 

other High Courts. From experience in Bihar, the author of these lines can say that every now 

and then one would come across reports of investigation deliberately botched up or of the trial 

being hijacked by some powerful and influential accused, either by buying over or intimidating 

witnesses or by creating insurmountable impediments for the trial court and not allowing the trial 

to proceed. But unfortunately the reports would seldom, if ever, be taken note of by the 

collective consciousness of the Court. The High Court would continue to carry on its business as 

if everything under it was proceeding normally and smoothly.  

The trial would fail because it was not protected from external interferences. Every trial 

that fails due to external interference is a tragedy for the victims of the crime. More importantly, 

every frustrated trial defies and mocks the society based on the rule of law. Every subverted trial 

leaves a scar on the criminal justice system. Repeated scars make the system unrecognisable and 

it then loses the trust and confidence of the people. Every failed trial is also, in a manner of 

speaking, a negative comment on the State's High Court that is entrusted with the responsibility 

of superintendence, supervision and control of the lower courts. It is, therefore, high time for the 

High Courts to assume a more pro-active role in such matters. A step in time by the High Court 

can save a criminal case from going astray. An enquiry from the High Court Registry to the 

concerned quarters would send the message that the High Court is watching; it means business 

and it will not tolerate any nonsense. Even this much would help a great deal in insulating a 

criminal case from outside interferences. In very few cases where more positive intervention is 

called for, if the matter is at the stage of investigation the High Court may call for status report 

and progress reports from police headquarter or the concerned Superintendent of Police. That 

alone would provide sufficient stimulation and pressure for a fair investigation of the case.149 

In the light of the facts and discussions the orders and directions passed by the court were: 

The appeal filed by IU Khan was allowed and his conviction for criminal contempt was 

set aside. The period of four month's prohibition from appearing in Delhi High Court and the 

courts sub-ordinate to it is already over. The punishment of fine given to him by the High Court 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
!%/"Supra at note 1, Para 205."
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is set aside. The Full Court of the Delhi High Court may still consider whether or not to continue 

the honour of Senior Advocate conferred on him in light of the findings recorded in this 

judgment. 

The appeal of RK Anand was dismissed subject to the notice of enhancement of 

punishment issued to him as indicated in paragraph 165 of the judgment. He is allowed eight 

weeks time from the date of service of notice for filing his show-cause. 

On Fair Trial 

The Supreme Court, on various occasions, had opportunity to discuss the importance of 

fair trial in Criminal Justice System and various circumstances in which a trial can be transferred 

to dispense fair and impartial justice. It would be advantageous to notice a few decisions of this 

Court with regard to the scope of Section 406 of Code of Criminal Procedure.  

 

Gurcharan Dass Chadha vs.State of Rajasthan150 

Hon’ble Judge: M. Hidayatullah,  

 

The Hon’ble Supreme Court in this case held as under: - 

"A case is transferred if there is a reasonable apprehension on the part of a party to a 

case that justice will not be done. A petitioner is not required to demonstrate that justice will 

inevitably fail. He is entitled to a transfer if he shows circumstances from which it can be 

inferred that he entertains an apprehension and that it is reasonable in the circumstances 

alleged. It is one of the principles of the administration of justice that justice should not only be 

done but it should be seen to be done. However, a mere allegation that there is apprehension 

that justice will not be done in a given case does not suffice. The Court has further to see 

whether apprehension is reasonable or not. To judge the reasonableness of the apprehension the 

state of the mind of the person who entertains the apprehension is no doubt relevant but that is 

not all. The apprehension must not only be entertained, but must appear to the court to be a 

reasonable apprehension." 

 

Maneka Sanjay Gandhi vs. Rani Jethmalani151 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
!&+"AIR 1966 SC 1418 
151 (1979) 4 SCC 167"
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Hon’ble Judge: V.R. Krishnaiyer 

 

In, this case Court has observed as under: -  

"Assurance of a fair trial is the first imperative of the dispensation of justice and the 

central criterion for the court to consider when a motion for transfer is made is not the 

hypersensitivity or relative convenience of a party or easy availability of legal services or like 

mini-grievances. Something more substantial, more compelling, more imperilling, from the point 

of view of public justice and its attendant environment, is necessitous if the Court is to exercise 

its power of transfer. This is the cardinal principle although the circumstances may be myriad 

and vary from case to case. We have to test the petitioner's grounds on this touchstone bearing in 

mind the rule that normally the complainant has the right to choose any court having jurisdiction 

and the accused cannot dictate where the case against him should be tried. Even so, the process 

of justice should not harass the parties and from that angle the court may weigh the 

circumstances." 

 

K. Anbazhagan vs. Superintendent of Police152 

Hon’ble Judges: S.N. Variava, H.K. Sema. 

 

In this case Court held as under: 

"Free and fair trial is sine qua non of Article 21 of the Constitution. It is trite law that 

justice should not only be done but it should be seen to have been done. If the criminal trial is 

not free and fair and not free from bias, judicial fairness and the criminal justice system 

would be at stake shaking the confidence of the public in the system and woe would be the rule 

of law. It is important to note that in such a case the question is not whether the petitioner is 

actually biased but the question is whether the circumstances are such that there is a 

reasonable apprehension in the mind of the petitioner." 

 

Abdul Nazar Madani vs. State of Tamil Nadu153 

Hon’ble Judges: K Thomas, R Sethi 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
!&#"(2004) 3 SCC 767 
153 (2000) 6 SCC 204 
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In, this case Court observed as under: - 

"The purpose of criminal trial is to dispense fair and impartial justice uninfluenced by 

extraneous considerations. When it is shown that public confidence in the fairness of a trial 

would be seriously undermined, any party can seek the transfer of a case within the State 

under Section 407 and anywhere in the country under Section 406 Cr.P.C. The apprehension 

of not getting a fair and impartial inquiry or trial is required to be reasonable and not 

imaginary, based upon conjectures and surmises. If it appears that the dispensation of criminal 

justice is not possible impartially and objectively and without any bias before any court or even 

at any place, the appropriate court may transfer the case to another court where it feels that 

holding of fair and proper trial is conducive. No universal or hard-and-fast rules can be 

prescribed for deciding a transfer petition which has always to be decided on the basis of the 

facts of each case. Convenience of the parties including the witness to be produced at the trial is 

also a relevant consideration for deciding the transfer petition. The convenience of the parties 

does not necessarily mean the convenience of the petitioners alone who approached the court on 

misconceived notions of apprehension. Convenience for the purposes of transfer means the 

convenience of the prosecution, other accused, the witnesses and the larger interest of the 

society." 
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FLAWS IN INVESTIGATION IN CBI TRIALS: ROLE OF SPECIAL JUDGES 

Power of Special Judge to direct investigation by Central Bureau of Investigation154 

As per Section 5 of the Prevention of Corruption Act, 1988, the court of a Special Judge 

shall be deemed to be a Court of Session; however, the Special Judge has to follow the procedure 

prescribed by the Code of Criminal Procedure (Cr.P.C.) for the trial of warrant cases by 

Magistrates. Moreover, as per this section, the Special Judge may take cognizance of offences 

directly without the accused having been committed to him, like any other Magistrate. 

Thus, the Special Judge has the power to directly take cognizance of offences under 

Section 190 Cr.P.C., like any other Magistrate. Now, Section 156(3) Cr.P.C. says that “Any 

Magistrate empowered under Section 190 may order such an investigation as above mentioned”. 

Thus, a Special Judge may have the power to order an investigation under Section 156(3) Cr.P.C. 

However, a Special Judge (for CBI cases) cannot direct the CBI to conduct investigation. 

To understand why a Special Judge, who exercises the powers of a Magistrate under 

Section 156(3) of the Cr.P.C., cannot direct the CBI to conduct investigation, one has to see the 

language of Section 156(3) of Cr.P.C. Section 156 Cr.P.C. is reproduced below: 

156. Police officerÕs power to investigate cognizable case. - (1) Any officer in charge of a 

police station may, without the order of a Magistrate, investigate any cognizable case which a 

Court having jurisdiction over the local area within the limits of such station would have power 

to inquire into or try under the provisions of Chapter XIII. 

(2) No proceeding of a police officer in any such case shall at any stage be called in question on 

the ground that the case was one which such officer was not empowered under this section to 

investigate. 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
154 Dhamija Ashok, “Power of Special Judge to direct investigation by Central Bureau of Investigation (CBI)” 
available at http://tilakmarg.com/answers/power-of-special-judge-to-direct-investigation-by-central-bureau-of-
investigation-cbi/, Last retrieved on 29th July 2015."
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(3) Any Magistrate empowered under Section 190 may order such an investigation as above 

mentioned.”  

Section 156 Cr.P.C. is mainly concerned with the powers of the officer in charge of a 

police station to conduct investigation into cognizable offences without orders of a Magistrate. 

This is what is clear from Section 156(1) of Cr.P.C. It is in continuation of sub-section (1) that 

sub-section (3) of Section 156 speaks of the power of the Magistrate to order investigation by 

using the language “as above mentioned”, and it has been interpreted by the Supreme Court that 

such order can be given only to the officer-in-charge of the police station and not to other police 

officers. CBI is not a regular police station of the State Police in that sense. It is a special 

investigation agency of the Central Government. It is in view of these reasons that it has been 

held by the Supreme Court that the Special Judge cannot direct the CBI to conduct investigation. 

Central Bureau of Investigation, Jaipur v. State of Rajasthan155  

 Hon’ble Judge: K.T Thomas, R.P Sethi  

In this case the question before the Supreme Court was as to whether a Magistrate has 

power to direct the Central Bureau of Investigation (CBI) to conduct investigation into any 

offence. The Supreme Court held that the magisterial power under S. 156(3) of Cr.P.C. cannot be 

stretched beyond directing the officer in charge of a police station to conduct the investigation. A 

Magistrate therefore has no power to direct the CBI to conduct investigation into any offence. 

The Supreme Court observed that Section 156 of Cr.P.C. deals with investigation into cognizable 

offences. If the power of a magistrate to order investigation by the CBI in non-cognizable cases 

cannot be traced in S. 156 it is not possible to trace such power in any other provision of the 

Code. What is contained in sub-section (3) of S. 156 is the power to order the investigation 

referred to in sub-section (1) because the words “order such an investigation as above-

mentioned” in sub-section (3) are unmistakably clear as referring to the other sub-section. Thus 

the power is to order an “officer in charge of a police station” to conduct investigation. The 

Supreme Court further clarified that from the definitions of “police station” and “officer-in-

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
155 AIR 2001 SC 668 
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charge of a police station” it is clear that a place or post declared by the Government as police 

station, must have a police officer-in-charge of it.  

The primary responsibility for conducting investigation into offences in cognizable cases 

vests with such police officer. S. 156(3) of the Cr.P.C. empowers a Magistrate to direct such 

officer-in-charge of the police station to investigate any cognizable case over which such 

magistrate has jurisdiction. Moreover, S. 36 of the Cr.P.C. authorises any other police officer, 

who is superior in rank to an officer in charge of a police station to exercise the same powers of 

the officer-in-charge of a police station. But when a Magistrate orders investigation under S. 

156(3) of Cr.P.C. he can only direct an officer-in-charge of a police station to conduct such 

investigation and not a superior officer. S. 36 of the Cr.P.C. is not meant to substitute the 

magisterial power envisaged in S. 156(3) of the Cr.P.C., though it could supplement the powers 

of an officer-in-charge of a police station. It was further observed that what is envisaged in Ss. 5 

and 6 of the Delhi Special Police Establishment Act, 1946 (under which Act, CBI has been 

constituted) is not one of conferring power on a Magistrate to order the CBI to conduct 

investigation in exercise of S. 156(3) of the Cr.P.C. Therefore, it was held that the plea that when 

the State Government gives consent for the CBI to investigate any offence within the area of the 

State, it would be permissible for the Magistrate to direct the officer of the CBI to conduct such 

investigation is not tenable. 

Atul Chandra Buragohain v. State of Assam156 

Hon’ble Judge: I. Ansari 

Likewise, relying upon the aforesaid judgment of Supreme Court in Central Bureau of 

Investigation, Jaipur v. State of Rajasthan, in the case of Atul Chandra Buragohain v. State of 

Assam, , the Gauhati High Court held that when S. 156 of Cr.P.C. is read, in the light of the 

definitions of “police station” and “officer-in-charge of a police station”, as contained under S. 

2(o) and S. 2(s) of Cr.P.C., respectively, it becomes clear that the primary responsibility of 

conducting investigation into cognizable offences rests in the officer-in-charge of a police station 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
156 (2007) 1 GLR 707 
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or such other officer, who may be deemed to be officer-in-charge in terms of S. 2(o) of Cr.P.C., 

i.e., an officer, who performs the function of an officer-in-charge of a police station in the 

absence of its in-charge.  

Thus, when a magistrate orders investigation, under S. 156(3) of Cr.P.C., this direction is 

really meant for the officer-in-charge of a police station. It is worth pointing out though an 

officer, superior in rank to an officer-in-charge of a police station, may conduct investigation into 

a case by virtue of S. 36 of Cr.P.C., the magistrate cannot direct anyone other than the officer-in-

charge of a police station to conduct investigation in terms of S. 156(3) of Cr.P.C. Therefore, a 

police personnel, whether from the CBI or from any other department, who does not fall within 

the definition of the officer-in-charge of a police station, cannot be directed to investigate any 

case under S. 156(3) of Cr.P.C. Considered thus, it is clear that a magistrate cannot direct anyone 

including the CBI to investigate or further investigate a case, for, a magistrate’s power to direct 

investigation must necessarily remain confined to the officer-in-charge of a police station. Thus, 

a magistrate cannot direct the CBI to investigate or further investigate a case. Accordingly, in the 

instant case, the direction given to the CBI to conduct further investigation in the case by the 

Special Judicial Magistrate was held to be contrary to law and was set aside. 

Similarly, in the case of CBI v. State of Gujarat157, the order issued by the Special Judge 

of directing the CBI under S. 156(3) of Cr.P.C. to conduct investigation in a private complaint 

case under S. 13(2) read with S. 13(1)(d) of Prevention of Corruption Act, 1988, and Ss. 120-B, 

467, 468, 471, 471(a), 211 of IPC, was set aside by the Gujarat High Court on the ground that the 

Special Judge had no such power to direct CBI to investigate a case. 

In view of the reasons mentioned above, it is not possible for the Special Judge for CBI to 

direct the CBI to conduct investigation in a case even though the Special Judge may have the 

powers under Section 156(3) of Cr.P.C., mainly because CBI is not a police station and such 

direction can be given only to the officer in charge of a police station. 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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At the same time, it is pertinent to point out that the superior Constitutional Courts such 

as the High Courts and the Supreme Court have the powers to direct the CBI to conduct 

investigation in any case. 

For example, in the case of Sakiri Vasu v. State of U.P158, the Supreme Court held that 

no doubt the Magistrate cannot order investigation by CBI but the Supreme Court or the High 

Court has power under Article 136 or Article 226 (respectively) to order investigation by CBI. It 

was further held that this should however be done only in some rare and exceptional case, 

otherwise, CBI would be flooded with a large number of cases and would find it impossible to 

properly investigate all of them. 

In the case of State of W.B. v. Committee for Protection of Democratic Rights159 a 

Constitution bench of the Supreme Court has held that the Supreme Court and the High Courts 

have the power to direct investigation by CBI even without taking consent of the State 

Government which is otherwise required for CBI investigation under Section 6 of the Delhi 

Special Police Establishment Act, 1946, when the investigation is within the territorial 

jurisdiction of a state. 

Thus, the conclusion is that while the Special Judge (for CBI) cannot direct investigation 

into a case by CBI, the Supreme Court and the High Courts can direct such investigation by CBI. 
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PRESUMPTIONS UNDER PC ACT VIS A VIS PRESUMPTION OF INNOCENCE 

Presumption Where Public Servant Accepts Gratification other than Legal Remuneration 
(Section 20) 

This is a special provision in the Prevention of Corruption Act, 1988. It is also contained 

under Section No.4 of the earlier P.C. Act of 1947. Presumption has the effect of over-riding the 

provisions contained in Part III - Chapter VII -sections 101 to 114 of the Indian Evidence Act, 

1872. Presumption is not however a fact, because it is open to the accused to let in evidence to 

establish that he is still innocent. This is indicated by presence of the phrase "unless the contrary 

is proved". Presumption is valid only when the contrary could not established by the accused. 

The presumption of law refers to following offences under the ACT: 

1. Clause 1 of Section 20: In respect of any Trial of an Offence Punishable under Section 7, 

or Section 11, 

2. or Clause (a) or clause (b) of sub-section (1) of Section 13 

In respect of any Trial of an Offence Punishable under Section 12 or under clause (b) of Section 

14 (Clause 2 of Section 20:) 

To invoke this Section successfully with reference to the above offences, the prosecution 

must prove that any gratification (other than legal remuneration) or any valuable thing has been 

given or offered to be given or attempted to be given by an accused person, and if the 

prosecution proves accordingly, it shall be presumed- that unless the contrary is proved, that he 

gave or offered to give or attempted to give that gratification or that valuable thing, as the case 

may be, as a motive or reward such as is mentioned in Section 7, or as the case may be, without 

consideration or for a consideration which he knows to be inadequate. 

Exception to the law of presumption (Clause 3 of Section20) 

Notwithstanding anything contained in sub-Sections (l) and (2), the court may decline to 

draw the presumption referred to in either of the said sub-sections, if the gratification or thing 

aforesaid is, in its opinion, so trivial that no interference of corruption may fairly be drawn. 

Parallel Provisions from CVC Manual explaining the concept of Presumptions under the Act: 
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"Section 20 of the Prevention of Corruption Act, 1988 makes it obligatory for the court to 

make certain presumptions against the accused. When it has been proved that the accused who is 

charged of an offence under Section 7 or 11 or 12 has received any gratification other than legal 

remuneration or any valuable thing without adequate consideration, the court is bound to 

presume under Section 20 (1) of the Prevention of Corruption Act that the gratification or the 

valuable thing was received with a motive or as a reward as is mentioned in Section 7, or for an 

inadequate consideration as is mentioned in Section 11 of the Act. All that the prosecution has to 

prove is the mere receipt of gratification or the valuable thing by the accused, for when receipt of 

such gratification or valuable thing is admitted by the accused, the prosecution is not required to 

prove affirmatively anything more to show that the gratification was received as a bribe or illegal 

gratification. If the accused wants to suggest that he had not accepted the gratification or the 

valuable thing with the motive or as a reward for exercising any official favour or disfavour, it 

would be for him to establish that. 

To raise the presumption under Section 20 (1) of Prevention of Corruption Act, the 

prosecution has to prove that the accused has received 'gratification other than legal 

remuneration'. When it is shown that the accused has received a certain sum of money, which 

was not his legal remuneration, the condition prescribed by the Section is satisfied and the 

presumption must be raised. Further mere receipt of 'money' is sufficient to raise the 

presumption.160 

An impression may be created in some quarters that in view of the presumption under 

Section 20 (1) of the Prevention of Corruption Act, the task of prosecution has become very easy 

inasmuch as whenever receipt of money is proved, the authority deciding to launch a prosecution 

or great sanction under Section 19 of the Prevention of Corruption Act, need not concern itself 

with the probable defence of the accused person. Nothing could be further clarified that the 

burden of proof lying upon the accused under Section 20 (1) of the Prevention of Corruption Act 

will be satisfied if he establishes his case by a preponderance of probability as is done by a party 

in civil proceedings. It is not necessary that he should establish his case by the test of proof 

beyond a reasonable doubt. Consequently, before launching prosecution one has to rule out a 

possibility of defence put up by the accused person which, if proved, may amount to 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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preponderance of probability in his favour and it must be clearly understood that the quantum of 

proof expected of the accused is less than that expected from the prosecution which has to prove 

the case beyond a reasonable doubt. The Supreme Court in Harbhajan Singh vs. State of 

Punjab161 has reiterated this principle thus "there is a consensus of judicial opinion in favour of 

the view that where the burden of an issue lies upon the accused, he is not required to discharge 

that burden by leading evidence to prove his case beyond a reasonable doubt. This, however, is 

the test prescribed while deciding whether the prosecution has discharged its onus of proving the 

guilt of the accused". 

Under Section 20 (2) of the Prevention of Corruption Act, a similar presumption is to be 

made against the accused charged under Section 12 or 14(b) of the Prevention of Corruption Act, 

1988 as soon as it is proved that any valuable thing had been given or attempted to be given to a 

public servant. 

The only exception when such presumption may not be drawn by the court is provided 

for in sub-section (3) of Section 20 of the Prevention of Corruption Act, 1988, which lays down 

that the court may decline to draw the presumption if the gratification in its opinion is so trivial 

that no inference of corruption could fairly be drawn." 

V.D. Jhingan v. State of Uttar Pradesh162 

Hon’ble Judges: V Ramaswami 

Facts:  

The appellant was employed as Assistant Director, Enforcement, Government of India, 

Ministry of Commerce at Kanpur and used to deal with matters regarding the cancellation of 

licences of cloth dealers at Kanpur. On or about September 5, 1951 the appellant received a 

confidential letter, dated August 30, 1951 from the District Magistrate, Kanpur. On the same date 

the appellant called one Ram Lal Kapoor who was the Legal Adviser of New Victoria Mills Ltd. 

at his house. The appellant showed him the letter of the District Magistrate and on the strength of 

that letter he demanded through Ram Lal Kapoor a bribe of `30,000 from Sidh Gopal for saving 

his licence from being cancelled. It appeared that Sidh Gopal was a partner of various firms 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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dealing in cloth and it was suspected that these firms were indulging in black-marketing in cloth. 

Sidh Gopal came to the appellant on September 9, 1951 to talk over the matter and the appellant 

made the same demand of bribe from him. On September 11, 1951, the appellant was alleged to 

have agreed with Ram Lal Kapoor to receive a sum of `10,000 as first instalment of the bribe 

from Sidh Gopal through Ram Lal Kapoor. Accordingly on September 11, 1951 at about 8 p.m. 

the appellant went to the house of Ram Lal Kapoor and accepted the bribe of ` 10,000 in 

currency notes and also a Than of long cloth from Ram Lal Kapoor undertaking that in lieu 

thereof the appellant would not report against Sidh Gopal and thereby save his licence from 

cancellation. A raid had been pre-arranged and the raiding party consisting of Shri Satish 

Chander and Shri Omkar Singh, the District Magistrate and the Senior Superintendent of Police, 

respectively, was lying in wait at the premises of Ram Lal Kapoor. At about 9:45 p.m. the 

appellant came out of the bungalow of Ram Lal Kapoor and on the agreed signal being given, the 

raiding party came and on search of the appellant an amount of ` 10,000 was found from his 

person. At the time of the recovery of the money the appellant made a statement that the amount 

received by him was a loan as he wanted to purchase a bungalow. The defence of the appellant 

was that he never negotiated with Ram Lal Kapoor or Sidh Gopal regarding the bribe and had 

been falsely implicated because he had prosecuted one Bhola Nath of one of the firms of Sidh 

Gopal under section 7 of the Essential Supplies Act and the District Magistrate had arrested 

Bhola Nath and kept him under detention under the powers conferred by the Preventive 

Detention Act. In order to take revenge for the arrest of Bhola Nath, Sidh Gopal and Ram Lal 

Kapoor had conspired together and falsely implicated the appellant.  

The Special Judge disbelieved the case of the appellant and held that the prosecution 

evidence sufficiently established the charges under section 161, Indian Penal Code and section 

5(2) read with section 5(1)(d) of the Prevention of Corruption Act. The findings of the trial Court 

had been affirmed by the Allahabad High Court in appeal which also rejected the case of the 

appellant as untrue and held that the amount of `10,000 was received by the appellant from Ram 

Lal Kapoor by way of illegal gratification and not as a loan for purchasing a house. 

Issues:  

(1) If the word ‘gratification’ is construed to mean money paid by way of bribe then it would be 

futile or superfluous to prescribe for the raising of the presumption. 
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(2) Where the burden of an issue lies upon the accused, he is not required to discharge that 

burden by leading evidence to prove his case beyond a reasonable doubt.  

Judgment 

To raise the presumption under section 4(1) of the Prevention of Corruption Act, the 

prosecution has to prove that the accused has received “gratification other than legal 

remuneration’’. When it is shown that the accused has received a certain sum of money which is 

not his legal remuneration, the condition prescribed by the section is satisfied and the 

presumption must be raised. The mere receipt of “money’’ is sufficient to raise the presumption. 

Further the burden of proof lying upon the accused under section 4(1) of the Prevention of 

Corruption Act will be satisfied if he establishes his case by a preponderance of probability as is 

done by a party in civil proceedings. It is not necessary that he should establish his case by the 

feat of proof beyond a reasonable doubt.  

The appeal for acquittal by the appellant was dismissed and his conviction by the High 

Court was restored by the Supreme Court. 

In the case of Dhanvantrai Balwantrai Desai v. State of Maharashtra 163 it was held that 

that in order to  raise the presumption under this sub-section what the prosecution has to prove is 

that the accused person has received "gratification other than legal remuneration" and when it is 

shown that he has received a certain sum of money which was not a legal remuneration, then 

the condition prescribed by this section is satisfied and the presumption there under must be 

raised. It was contended in that case that the mere receipt of any money did not justify the 

raising of the presumption and that. 

Two English cases on similar lines can be cited here: 

Woolmington v. Director of Public Prosecutions164 

It was observed by Viscount Sankey that "no matter what the charge or where the trial, 

the principle that the prosecution must prove the guilt of the prisoner is part of the common law 

of England and no attempt to whittle it down can be entertained". This principle is a fundamental 
"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
163 A.I.R. 1964 S.C. 575 
164 [1935]A.C. 462. 
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part of the English Common Law and the same position prevails in the Criminal Law of India. 

That does not mean that if the statute places the burden of proof on an accused person, he is not 

required to establish his plea; but the degree and character of proof which the. accused is 

expected to furnish in support of his plea, cannot be equated with the degree and character of 

proof expected from the prosecution which is required to prove its case.  

Rex v. Carr-Briant 

In Rex v. Carr-Briant 165a somewhat similar question arose before the English Court of 

Appeal. In that case, the appellant was charged with the offence of corruptly making a gift or 

loan to a person in the employ of the War Department as an inducement to show, or as a reward 

for showing, favour to him. The charge was laid under the Prevention of Corruption Act, 1916, 

and in respect of such a charge, s. 2 of the Prevention of Corruption Act, 1916, had provided that 

a consideration shall be deemed to be given corruptly unless the contrary is proved. The question 

which arose before the Court. was: what is the accused required to prove if he wants to claim the 

benefit of the exception? At the trial, the Judge had directed the jury that the onus of proving his 

innocence lay on the accused and that the burden of proof resting on him to negative corruption 

was as heavy as that ordinarily resting on the prosecution. The Court of Criminal Appeal held 

that this direction did not correctly represent the true position in law. It was held by the Court of 

Appeal that where, either by statute or at Common Law, some matter is resumed against an 

accused person "unless the contrary is proved," the jury should be directed that the burden of 

proof on the accused is less than that required at the hands of the prosecution in proving the case 

beyond a reasonable doubt, and that this burden may be discharged by evidence satisfying the 

jury of the probability of that which the accused is called on to establish. 

B. Jayaraj v. State of A.P166 

Hon’ble Judges: P Sathasivam, Ranjan Gogoi, N.V. Ramana 

Facts of the Case: 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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In this case the appeal is directed against the judgment and order dated 25.04.2011 passed 

by the High Court of Andhra Pradesh affirming the order of conviction passed by the Additional 

Special Judge for SPE & ACB cases, City Civil Court Hyderabad, whereby the accused appellant 

has been found guilty of commission of the offences under Sections 7 and 13 (1)(d)(i)(ii)read 

with Section 13(2) of the Prevention of Corruption Act, 1988 (for short “the Act”). 

Held: 

In so far as the offence under Section 7 is concerned, it is a settled position in law that 

demand of illegal gratification is sine qua non to constitute the said offence and mere recovery of 

currency notes cannot constitute the offence under Section 7 unless it is proved beyond all 

reasonable doubt that the accused voluntarily accepted the money knowing it to be a bribe. The 

above position has been succinctly laid down in several judgments of this Court. By way of 

illustration reference may be made to the decision in C.M. Sharma Vs. State of A.P167 

 In the present case, the complainant did not support the prosecution case in so far as 

demand by the accused is concerned. The prosecution has not examined any other witness, 

present at the time when the money was allegedly handed over to the accused by the 

complainant, to prove that the same was pursuant to any demand made by the accused. When the 

complainant himself had disowned what he had stated in the initial complaint and there is no 

other evidence to prove that the accused had made any demand, the evidence of PW-1 and the 

contents of Exhibit P-11 cannot be relied upon to come to the conclusion that the above material 

furnishes proof of the demand allegedly made by the accused. We are, therefore, inclined to hold 

that the learned trial court as well as the High Court was not correct in holding the demand 

alleged to be made by the accused as proved. The only other material available is the recovery of 

the tainted currency notes from the possession of the accused. In fact such possession is admitted 

by the accused himself. Mere possession and recovery of the currency notes from the accused 

without proof of demand will not bring home the offence under Section 7. The above also will be 

conclusive in so far as the offence under Section 13(1)(d)(i)(ii) is concerned as in the absence of 

any proof of demand for illegal gratification, the use of corrupt or illegal means or abuse of 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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position as a public servant to obtain any valuable thing or pecuniary advantage cannot be held to 

be established. 

In so far as the presumption permissible to be drawn under Section 20 of the Act is 

concerned, such presumption can only be in respect of the offence under Section 7 and not the 

offences under Section 13(1)(d)(i)(ii) of the Act. In any event, it is only on proof of acceptance 

of illegal gratification that presumption can be drawn under Section 20 of the Act that such 

gratification was received for doing or forbearing to do any official act. Proof of acceptance of 

illegal gratification can follow only if there is proof of demand. As the same is lacking in the 

present case the primary facts on the basis of which the legal presumption under Section 20 can 

be drawn are wholly absent. 

C.M.Girish Babu v CBI, Cochin, High Court Of Kerala168 

Hon’ble judges: Lokeshwar Singh Panta, B. Sudershan Reddy 

Held: 

It is well settled that the presumption to be drawn under Section 20 is not an inviolable 

one. The accused charged with the offence could rebut it either through the cross-examination of 

the witnesses cited against him or by adducing reliable evidence. If the accused fails to disprove 

the presumption the same would stick and then it can be held by the Court that the prosecution 

has proved that the accused received the amount towards gratification. 

It is equally well settled that the burden of proof placed upon the accused person against 

whom the presumption is made under Section 20 of the Act is not akin to that of burden placed 

on the prosecution to prove the case beyond a reasonable doubt. "It is well established that where 

the burden of an issue lies upon the accused he is not required to discharge that burden by 

leading evidence of proof his case beyond a reasonable doubt. That is, of course, the test 

prescribed in deciding whether the prosecution has discharged its onus to prove the guilt of the 

accused; but the same test cannot be applied to an accused person who seeks to discharge the 

burden placed upon him under Section 4 under the Prevention of Corruption Act. It is sufficient 

if the accused person succeeds in proving a preponderance of probability in favour of his case. It 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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is not necessary for the accused person to prove his case beyond a reasonable doubt or in default 

to incur verdict of guilt. The onus of proof lying upon the accused person is to prove his case by 

a preponderance of probability. As soon as he succeeds in doing so, the burden shifts to 

prosecution which still has to discharge its original onus that never shifts, i.e.; that of establishing 

on the whole case the guilt of the accused beyond a reasonable doubt." 

Narendra Champaklal Trivedi v. State Of Gujarat169 

Hon’ble Judges: B.S. Chauhan, Dipak Misra 

Facts of the Case: 

The present appeals are directed against the judgment of conviction and order of sentence 

dated 14.10.2011 passed by the learned Single Judge of the High Court of Gujarat at Ahmedabad 

in Criminal Appeal No. 31 of 1999 whereby the appellate court has confirmed the judgment and 

order of conviction and sentence dated 1st of December, 1998 passed by the learned Additional 

Special Judge, Bhavnagar in Special Case No. 6 of 1994, wherein the learned Additional Special 

Judge had convicted the appellants for the offence punishable under Section 7 of the Prevention 

of Corruption Act, 1988. 

The broad essential facts of the prosecution case are that the complainant, Gajendra 

Jagatsinh Jadeja, was residing in Virbhadranagar Society. As in the City Survey Office record, 

the name of his grandfather stood recorded in respect of the premises in question, the 

complainant in order to obtain the property card and the sketch of the same, went to the office of 

the City Survey Office, Bhavnagar on 11th March, 1994, to submit an application for the 

aforesaid purpose and he was asked by Mr. Jagani, Clerk in the said office to come on 15th of 

March, 1994. On the said date, the complainant at about 1.30 p.m. went to the City Survey 

Office and gave the application to Mr. Jagani, who asked him to hand over the application to 

Narendra Champaklal Trivedi, the appellant in Criminal Appeal No. 97 of 2012, sitting in the 

opposite room who told him that it would take a week’s time to prepare the said copies. The 

complainant made a request to Shri Jagani to expedite the matter as he had to go to meet his 

father with the copies and Mr. Jagani replied that it would cost him Rs.50/- to get the copies 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
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immediately. As the complainant had no money at that time he was asked by Jagani to meet 

Trivedi and Harjibhai Devjibhai Chauhan, the appellant in Criminal Appeal No. 98/2012 who 

told him that the copies would be given to him on payment and he could receive the copies 

between 4.30 to 4.50 p.m. As the appellant had no intention to make the payment, he approached 

the office of the Anti Corruption Bureau which was situate on the ground floor of his premises 

and gave a complaint to the Police Inspector. The concerned inspector sought assistance of two 

panch witnesses who were made to understand the case and thereafter experiment of U.V. Lamp 

was carried out with the help of anthrecene powder. Thereafter, the complainant produced the 

currency notes and necessary instructions were given to the complainant as well as to the 

witnesses. A preliminary part of the panchnama was drawn and signatures of the panchas were 

taken and thereafter, the complainant, the panchas and the members of the raiding party 

proceeded to the City Survey Office. 

As the narration of the prosecution case proceeds, Jagani asked the complainant to meet 

said Chauhan and pay the money. Being instructed, they went to the room of said Chauhan and 

he was directed to pay Rs. 7.10 paise as fees to said Trivedi and obtain the property card and 

sketch. Thereafter, said Chauhan demanded money from the complaint as decided and on being 

asked whom to hand over the amount, Chauhan said to give it to Trivedi and Trivedi was asked 

to accept the amount. Thereafter, the complainant took out the money from his left pocket of the 

shirt and handed over to Trivedi which was accepted by Trivedi by his right hand. He counted 

the money by both hands and put the same in the left side pocket of his shirt. As pre-decided, the 

signal was given to the raiding party which rushed to the place of the incident. Thereafter, the 

experiment of U.V. Lamp was carried out on the fingers of both the hands and palms of Trivedi 

and pocket also and thereon light blue fluorescent marks were found. Panch witness No. 1 took 

out the currency notes from Trivedi. There were two ten rupee notes and one five rupee note. On 

those currency notes, light blue fluorescent marks were found with the numbers mentioned on 

the first part of the panchnama. On being asked about the rest of the money, Trivedi had said that 

he had given it to Chauhan. Experiment of U.V. Lamp was made on the hands and pockets of 

Trivedi and Chauhan and light blue fluorescent marks of anthrecene powder was found. The 

currency notes were tallied with the numbers mentioned on the first part of the panchnama. From 

both the accused-appellants, currency notes were recovered, marks of anthrecene powder were 

found and the second part of the panchnama was prepared. The Investigating Officer carried out 



!(# "
"

further investigation, recorded the panchnama and after obtaining requisite sanction, he laid the 

chargesheet before the Competent Court on 25th of August 1994. 

The learned counsel for the State gave immense emphasis on the version of the Panch 

witnesses, the scientific proof and the testimony of the trapping officer. The principle of 

presumption was pressed into service and the said contention was edificed by putting forth the 

stance that the cumulative effect of the evidence on record clearly satisfied the ingredients of 

Sections 7 and 13(2) read with Section 13(1)(d) of the Act to bring home the charges levelled 

against the accused persons. 

Held: 

In the case at hand, the money was recovered from the pockets of the accused-appellants. 

A presumption under Section 20 of the Act becomes obligatory. It is a presumption of law and 

casts an obligation on the court to apply it in every case brought under Section 7 of the Act. The 

said presumption is a rebuttable one. In the present case, the explanation offered by the accused-

appellants has not been accepted and rightly so. There is no evidence on the base of which it can 

be said that the presumption has been rebutted. 

The learned counsel for the appellant has submitted with immense force that admittedly 

there has been no demand or acceptance. To bolster the said aspect, he has drawn inspiration 

from the statement of the complainant in examination-in-chief. The said statement, in our 

considered opinion, is not to be read out of context. He has clarified as regards the demand and 

acceptance at various places in his examination and the cross- examination. The shadow witness 

has clearly stated that there was demand of bribe and giving of the same. Nothing has been 

brought on record to doubt the presence of the shadow witness. He had given the signal after 

which the trapping party arrived at the scene and did the needful. All the witnesses have 

supported the case of the prosecution. The currency notes were recovered from the possession of 

the appellants. In the lengthy cross- examination nothing has really been elicited to doubt their 

presence and veracity of the testimony. The appellants in their statement under Section 313 of 

the Code of Criminal Procedure have made an adroit effort to explain their stand but we have no 

hesitation in stating that they miserably failed to dislodge the presumption. PW-2 has 

categorically stated that the complainant took out Rs.50/- from his pocket and gave it to the 
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accused appellant as directed. Thus analysed and understood, there remains no shadow of doubt 

that the accused-appellants had demanded the bribe and accepted the same to provide the survey 

report. Therefore, the conviction recorded by the learned trial Judge which has been affirmed by 

the learned single Judge of the High Court, does not warrant any interference. 

The learned counsel for the appellants had, in the course of arguing the appeal, submitted 

that the appellants have suffered enough as they have lost their jobs and the amount is petty, the 

said aspects should be considered as mitigating factors for reduction of the sentence. Sympathy 

has also been sought to be drawn on the foundation that the occurrence had taken place almost 

18 years back and the amount is paltry. On a perusal of Section 7(1) of the Act, it is perceptible 

that when an offence is proved under the said section, the public servant shall be punished with 

imprisonment which shall not be less than six months but which may extend to five years and 

shall also be liable to fine. Section 13(2) of the Act postulates that any public servant who 

commits criminal misconduct shall be punishable with imprisonment for a term which shall not 

be less than one year but which may extend to seven years and shall also be liable to fine. As is 

demonstrable from the impugned judgment, the learned trial court has imposed the minimum 

sentence and the High Court has affirmed the same. 
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CHALLENGES FACED IN CBI COURTS: A PRACTICAL INSIGHT 

Introduction 

Retired Supreme Court judge Hon’ble Justice GS Singhvi while speaking on "Challenges 

before Indian Judiciary" has said on CBI and CBI courts' functioning, that fifty per cent of posts 

were lying vacant in special CBI courts. When the states were directed by the Prime Minister 

that 65 additional special courts must be set up, no state paid any heed to it, he added. He said: 

1. ÒYoung lawyers should show their commitment to their duty right from the beginningÓ. 

2. "We have not adopted a system of governance of judiciary. Judges must be educated and 

undergo refresher courses as there are multiple challenges of new subjects like surrogacy, 

inter-state adoption, cyber crime... all needs better education,"  

3. ÒThere was a lack of commitment not only in judiciary, but also in bureaucracy, legislature, 

adding that it was "our duty to protect legal rights of a litigant".170 

Hon’ble Justice K.G. Balakrishnan while addressing on ‘Criminal justice system Ð growing 

responsibility in light of contemporary challenges’ said that “the lower judiciary has also been 

expanded with the creation of Special CBI Courts in many districts. Even though the CBI Courts 

have been functioning more efficiently than the ordinary criminal courts, their existing number 

is inadequate to handle the case-load. Recently gathered statistics indicate that approximately 

9,000 cases involving the CBI are pending before the various courts. There is obviously an 

urgent need for creating more CBI Courts which should be manned by judicial officers who 

have expertise in criminal law”.171 

Vineet Narain & Others vs Union Of India & Another172 173 

Hon’ble Judges: S.P. Bharucha, S.C. Sen 

Background of the case 

The Judgment of the Court was delivered by Verma, C.J. - These writ petitions under 

Article 32 of the Constitution of India brought in public interest, to begin with, did not appear to 
"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
170Justice Singhvi G.S, “Pendency of cases, vacancies major challenges before judiciary”, available at 
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have potential of escalating to the dimensions they reached or to give rise to several issues of 

considerable significance to the implementation of rule of law, which they have during their 

progress. They began as yet another complaint of inertia by the Central Bureau of Investigation 

(CBI) in matters where the accusation made was against high dignitaries. It was not the only 

matter of its kind during the recent past.  

Issues 

The primary question was:  

1. Whether it is within the domain of judicial review and it could be an effective instrument 

for activating the investigative process which is under the control of the executive?  

2. Whether any judicial remedy is available in such a situation?  

However, as the case progressed, it required innovation of a procedure within the 

constitutional scheme of judicial review to permit intervention by the court to find a solution to 

the problem. This case has helped to develop a procedure within the discipline of law for the 

conduct of such a proceeding in similar situations. It has also generated awareness of the need of 

probity in public life and provided a mode of enforcement of accountability in public life. Even 

though the matter was brought to the court by certain individuals claiming to represent public 

interest, the procedure devised was to appoint the petitioners’ counsel as the amicus curiae and to 

make such orders from time to time as were consistent with public interest. Intervention in the 

proceedings by everyone else was shut out but permission was granted to all, who so desired, to 

render such assistance As they could, and to provide the relevant material available with them to 

the amicus curiae for being placed before the court for its consideration. In short, the proceedings 

in this matter have had great educative value and it does appear that it has helped in future 

decision-making and functioning of the public authorities. 

Facts of the Case 

According to the facts of this case on 25.3.1991, one Ashfak Hussain Lone, alleged to be 

an official of the terrorist organisation Hizbul Mujahideen, was arrested in Delhi. Consequent 

upon his interrogation raids were conducted by the Central Bureau of Investigation (CBI) on the 

premises of Surender Kumar Jain, his brothers, relatives and businesses. Along with Indian and 

foreign currency, the CBI seized two diaries and two notebooks from the premises. They 

contained detailed accounts of vast payments made to persons identified only by initials. The 

initials corresponded to the initials of various high-ranking politicians, in power and out of 



!(' "
"

power, and of high-ranking bureaucrats. Nothing having been done in the matter of investigating 

the Jains or the contents of their diaries, the present writ petitions were filed on 4.10.1993, in the 

public interest under Article 32 of the Constitution of India.  

The gist of the allegations in the writ petitions is that government agencies like the CBI 

and the Revenue authorities had failed to perform their duties and legal obligations in as much 

as they had failed to investigate matters arising out of the seizure of the "Jain Diaries"; that the 

apprehension of terrorists had led to the discovery of financial support to them by clandestine 

and illegal means using tainted funds obtained through "havala" transactions; that this had also 

disclosed a nexus between politicians, bureaucrats and criminals, who were recipients of money 

from unlawful sources, given for unlawful considerations that the CBI and other government 

agencies had failed to investigate the matter take it to its logical conclusion and prosecute all 

persons who were found to have committed an offence; that this was done with a view to protect 

the persons involved, who were very influential and powerful; that the matter disclosed a nexus 

between crime and corruption at high places in public life and it posed a serious threat to the 

integrity, security and economy of the nation; that probity in public life, the rule of law and the 

preservation of democracy required that the government agencies by compelled to duly perform 

their legal obligations and to proceed in accordance with law against every person involved, 

irrespective of where he was placed in the political hierarchy.  

The writ petitions prayed, inter alia for the following reliefs: 

[a] that the above said offences disclosed by the facts mentioned in the petition be directed to be 

investigated in accordance with law; 

[b] that this Hon’ble Court may be pleased to appoint officers of the police or others in whose 

integrity, independence and competence this Hon’ble Court has confidence for conducting and/or 

supervising the said investigation; 

[c] that suitable directions be given by this Hon’ble Court and orders issued to ensure that the 

culprits are dealt with according to law; 

 [f] that directions be given so that such evil actions on the part of the investigating agencies and 

their political superiors are not repeated in future." 

It will be seen that the reliefs sought in the writ petitions fall into two broad classes. The 

first class relates to investigations in the matter of the "Jain Diaries". The second class (prayer 
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(f)) relates to the manner in which investigations of offences of a similar nature that may occur 

hereafter should be conducted. 

Independent Review Committee 

The IRC is a body constituted by the Central Government itself as a result of its 

perception that the constitution and functioning of the CBI, CVC and Directorate of Enforcement 

require a close scrutiny in the background of the recent unsatisfactory functioning of these 

agencies with a view to improve their functioning. The view taken by the IRC is a reaffirmation 

of this belief shared by everyone. The preface to the report indicates the reason for the 

constitution of the IRC and says that : 

"In the past several years, there has been progressive increase in allegations of corruption 

involving public servants. Understandably, cases of this nature have attracted heightened media 

and public attention. A general impression appears to have gained ground that the Central 

investigating agencies concerned are subject to extraneous pressures and have been indulging in 

dilatory tactics in not bringing the guilty to book. The decisions of higher courts to directly 

monitor investigation in certain cases have added to the aforesaid belief." 

There can thus be no doubt that there is need for the exercise we were called upon to 

perform and which has occasioned consideration of this crucial issue by this Court in exercise of 

its powers conferred by the Constitution of India. The conclusions reached by the IRC and the 

recommendations it has made for improving the functioning and thereby the image of these 

agencies is a further reaffirmation of this general belief. There can also be no doubt that the 

conclusions reached by the IRC and its recommendations are the minimum which require 

immediate acceptance and implementation in a bid to arrest any further decay of the polity. It 

follows that the exercise to be performed now by this Court is really to consider whether any 

modifications/additions are required to be made to the recommendations of the IRC for 

achieving the object for which the Central Government itself constituted the IRC. We are 

informed by the learned Attorney General that further action on the report of the IRC could the 

learned Attorney General that further action on the report of the IRC could not be taken so far 

because of certain practical difficulties faced by the Central Government but there is no negative 

reaction to the report given by the Central Government. 

The only caveat entered by the Attorney General is on the basis of a note by an individual 

Minister in the Central Cabinet in which emphasis has been laid that the ultimate responsibility 
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for the functioning of these agencies to Parliament is that of the Minister concerned and this 

aspect may be kept in mind. It has been specifically mentioned that the Minister would remain 

the final disciplinary authority and would have the power to refer complaints against the agency 

or its officers to an appropriate authority for necessary action. There can be no quarrel with the 

Minister’s ultimate responsibility to Parliament for the functioning of these agencies and he 

being the final disciplinary authority in respect of the officers of the agency with power to refer 

complaints against them to the appropriate authority. Some other specific powers of the Minister 

were indicated as under: 

1. The Minister has the power to review the working of the agencies which are under his 

Department. 

2. The Minister has the power to give broad policy directions regarding investigation and 

prosecution of classes or categories of cases. 

3. The Minister has the power to appraise the quality of the work of the Head of the agency as 

well as other senior officers of the agency. 

4. The minister has the power to call for information regarding progress of cases. 

It is sufficient to say that the Minister’s general power to review the working of the 

agency and to give broad policy directions regarding the functioning of the agencies and to 

appraise the quality of the work of the head of the agency and other officers as the executive 

head is in no way to be diluted. Similarly, the Minister’s power to call for information generally 

regarding the cases being handled by the agencies is not to be taken away. However, all the 

powers of the Minister are subject to the condition that none of them would extend to permit the 

Minister to interfere with the course of investigation and prosecution in any individual case and 

in that respect the officers concerned are to be governed entirely by the mandate of law and the 

statutory duty cast upon them. 

Validity of Single Directive 

We may now refer to the two decisions on which specific reliance has been placed by the 

learned Attorney General before us as well as the IRC in its report. The Delhi Special Police 

Establishment Act, 1946 is an Act to make provision for the constitution of a special police force 

in Delhi for the investigation of certain offences in the Union Territories for the superintendence 

and administration of the said force and for the extension to other areas of the powers and 

jurisdiction of members of the said force in regard to the investigation of the said offences. 
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Section 6 of the Act requires consent of the State Government to exercise powers and 

jurisdiction under the Act by the Delhi Special Police Establishment. This is because "Police" is 

a State subject, being in List II Entry 2 of the Seventh Schedule. For this reason, the learned 

Attorney General contended that the power and jurisdiction of the State Police in respect of an 

offence within its jurisdiction remains intact and is not inhibited by the Single Directive; and that 

the CBI alone is inhibited thereby.  

Section 2 to the Act deals with constitution and powers of the Special Police 

Establishment (SPE). This is now the CBI has been constituted. Section 3 provides for offences 

to be investigated by the SPE and says that the offences or class of offences to be investigated by 

the agency may be specified by notification in the Official Gazette by the Central government. 

Once the CBI is empowered to investigate an offence generally by its specification under 

Section 3, the process of investigation, including its initiation, is to be governed by the 

statuary processions which provide for the initiation and manner of investigation of the offence. 

This is not an area which can be included within the meaning of "superintendence" in Section 

4(1). 

It is, therefore, the notification made by the Central Government under Section 3 which 

confers and determines the jurisdiction of the CBI to investigate an offence; and once that 

jurisdiction is attracted by virtue of the notification under Section 3, the actual investigation is to 

be governed by the statuary provisions under the general law applicable to such investigations. 

This appears to us the proper construction of Section 4(1) in the context, and it is in harmony 

with the scheme of the Act, and Section 3 in particular. The word "superintendence" in Section 

4(1) cannot be construed in a wider sense to permit supervision of the actual investigation of an 

offence by the CBI contrary to the manner provided by the statuary provisions. The broad 

proposition urged on behalf of the Union of India that is can issue any directive to the CBI to 

curtail or inhibit it jurisdiction to investigate an offence specified in the notification issued under 

Section 3 by a directive under Section 4(1) of the Act cannot be accepted. The jurisdiction of the 

CBI to investigate an offence is to be determined with reference to the notification issued under 

Section 3 ant not by any separate order not having that character. 

This view does not conflict with the decision in State of Bihar v J.A.C. Saldanha174 as 

earlier indicated. In Saldanha8 the question was whether an unsatisfactory investigation already 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
174 (1980) 1 SCC 554] 
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made could be undertaken by another officer for further investigation of the offence so that the 

offence was properly investigated as required by law, and it was not to prevent the investigation 

of an offence. The single Directive has the effect of restraining recording of FIR and initiation of 

investigation and not of proceeding with investigation, as in Saldanha8. No authority to permit 

control of statuary powers exercised by the police to investigate an offence within it jurisdiction 

has been cited before us except K. Veeraswami v Union of India175 which we have already 

distinguished. The view we take accords not only with reason but also with the very purpose of 

the law and is in consonance with the basic tenet of the rule of law. 

Once the jurisdiction is conferred on the CBI to investigate an offence by virtue of 

notification under Section 3 of the Act, the powers of investigation are governed by the statutory 

provisions and they cannot be esteemed or curtailed by an executive instruction issued under 

Section 4(1) thereof.  

There is no similarity between a mere executive order requiring prior permission or 

sanction for investigation of the offence and the sanction needed under the statute for 

prosecution. The requirement of sanction for prosecution being provided in the very statute 

which enacts the offence, the sanction for prosecution is a prerequisite for the court to take 

cognizance of the offence. In the absence of any statutory requirement of prior permission or 

sanction for investigation, it cannot be imposed as a condition precedent for initiation of the 

investigation once jurisdiction is conferred on the CBI to investigate the offence by virtue of the 

notification under Section 3 of the Act.  

The word "superintendence" in Section 4(1) of the Act in the context must be construed 

in a manner consistent with the other provisions of the Act and the general statutory powers of 

investigation which govern investigation even by the CBI. The necessity of previous sanction for 

prosecution is provided in Section 6 of the Prevention of Corruption Act, 1947 (Section 19 of the 

1988 Act) without which no court can take cognizance of an offence punishable under Section 5 

of that Act. There is no such previous sanction for investigation provided for either in the 

Prevention of Corruption Act or the Delhi Special Police Establishment Act or in any other 

statutory provision. The above is the only manner in which Section 4(1) of the Act can be 

harmonised with Section 3 and the other statutory provisions. The Single Directive has to be 

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
175 1991 SCR (3) 189 
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examined in this background. The law does not classify offenders differently for treatment 

thereunder, including investigation of offences and prosecution for offences, according to their 

status in life. Every person accused of committing the same offence is to be dealt with in the 

same manner in accordance with law, which is equal in its application to everyone. The Single 

Directive is applicable only to certain persons above the specified level who are described as 

"decision – making officers". The question is whether any distinction can be made for them for 

the purpose of investigation of an offence of which they are accused. Obviously, where the 

accusation of corruption is based on direct evidence and it does not require any inference to be 

drawn dependent on the decision-making process, there is no rational basis to classify them 

differently. In other words, if the accusation be bribery which is supported by direct evidence of 

acceptance of illegal gratification by them, including trap case, it is obvious that no other factor 

is relevant and the level or status of the offender is irrelevant.  

It is for this reason that it was conceded that such case, i.e., of bribery, including trap 

cases, are outside the scope of the Single Directive. After General to support inclusion within the 

Single Directive of cases in which the offender is alleged to be in possession of disproportionate 

assets. It is clear that the accusation of possession of disproportionate assets by the person is also 

based on direct evidence and no factor pertaining to the expertise of decision –making is 

involved therein. We have, therefore, no doubt that the Single Directive cannot include within its 

ambit cases of possession of disproportionate assets by the offender. The question now is only 

with regard to cases other than those of bribery, including trap case, and of possession of 

disproportionate assets being covered by the Single Directive. There may be other cases where 

the accusation cannot be supported by direct evidence and is a matter of inference of corrupt 

motive for the decision, with nothing to prove directly any illegal gain to the decision-maker. 

Those are cases in which the inference drawn is that the decision must have been made for a 

corrupt motive because the decision could not have been reached otherwise by an officer at that 

level in the hierarchy. This is, therefore, an area where the opinion of persons with requisite 

expertise in decision-making of that kind is relevant and, may be even decisive in reaching the 

conclusion whether the allegation requires any investigation to be made. In view of the fact that 

the CBI or the police force does not have the expertise within it s fold for the formation of the 

requisite opinion in such case, the need for the inclusion of such a mechanism comprising of 

experts in the field as a part of the infrastructure of the CBI is obvious, to decide whether the 
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accusation made discloses grounds for a reasonable suspicion of the commission of an offence 

and it requires investigation. In the absence of any such mechanism within the infrastructure of 

the CBI, comprising of experts in the field who can evaluate the material for the decision to be 

made, introduction therein of a body of experts having expertise of the kind of business which 

requires the decision to be made, can be appreciated. But then, the final opinion is to be of the 

CBI with the aid of that advice and not that of anyone else. It would be more appropriate to have 

such a body within the infrastructure of the CBI itself. The Single Directive cannot, therefore, be 

upheld as valid on the ground of it being permissible in exercise of the power of superintendence 

of the Central Government under Section 4(1) of the Act. The matter has now to be considered 

dehors the Single Directive. Directions of Court As a result of the aforesaid discussion, we 

hereby direct as under:  

Central Bureau of Investigation (CBI) and Central Vigilance Commission (CVC):  

1. The Central Vigilance Commission (CVC) shall be given statutory status.  

2. Selection for the post of Central Vigilance Commissioner shall be made by a Committee 

comprising the Prime Minister, Home Minister and the Leader of the Opposition from a panel of 

outstanding civil servants and others with impeccable integrity, to be furnished by the Cabinet 

Secretary.The appointment shall be made by the President on the basis of the recommendations 

made by the Committee. This shall be done immediately.  

3. The CVC shall be responsible for the efficient functioning of the CBI. While Government 

shall remain answerable for the CBI's functioning, to introduce visible objectivity in the 

mechanism to be established for overviewing the CBI's working, the CVC shall be entrusted with 

the responsibility of superintendence over the CBI's functioning. The CBI shall report to the 

CVC about cases taken up by it for investigation; progress of investigation; cases in which 

charge-sheets are filed and their progress. The CVC shall review the progress of all cases moved 

by the CBI for sanction of prosecution of public servants which are pending with the competent 

authorities, specially those in which sanction has been delayed or refused.  

4. The Central Government shall take all measures necessary to ensure that the CBI functions 

effectively and efficiently and is viewed as a non-partisan agency.  
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5. The CVC shall have a separate section in its Annual Report on the CBI's functioning after the 

supervisory function is transferred to it.  

6. Recommendations for appointment of the Director, CBI shall be made by a Committee headed 

by the Central Vigilance Commissioner with the Home Secretary and Secretary (Personnel) as 

members. The views of the incumbent Director shall be considered by the Committee for making 

the best choice. The Committee shall draw up a panel of IPS officers on the basis of their 

seniority, integrity, experience in investigation and anti-corruption work. The final selection shall 

be made by the Appointments Committee of the Cabinet (ACC) from the panel recommended by 

the Selection Committee. If none among the panel is found suitable, the reasons thereof shall be 

recorded and the Committee asked to draw up a fresh panel.  

7. The Director, CBI shall have a minimum tenure of two years, regardless of the date of his 

superannuation. This would ensure that an officer suitable in all respects is not ignored merely 

because he has less than two years to superannuate from the date of his appointment.  

8. The transfer of an incumbent Director, CBI in an extraordinary situation, including the need 

for him to take up a more important assignment, should have the approval of the Selection 

Committee.  

9. The Director, CBI shall have full freedom for allocation of work within the agency as also for 

constituting teams for investigations. Any change made by the Director, CBI in the Head of an 

investigative team should be for cogent reasons and for improvement in investigation, the 

reasons being recorded.  

10. Selection/ extension of tenure of officers up to the level of Joint Director (JD) shall be 

decided by a Board comprising the Central Vigilance Commissioner, Home Secretary and 

Secretary (Personnel) with the Director, CBI providing the necessary inputs. The extension of 

tenure or premature repatriation of officers up to the level of Joint Director shall be with final 

approval of this Board. Only cases pertaining to the appointment or extension of tenure of 

officers of the rank of Joint Director or above shall be referred to the Appointments Committee 

of the Cabinet (ACC) for decision.  



!)%"
"

11. Proposals for improvement of infrastructure, methods of investigation, etc. should be decided 

urgently. In order to strengthen CBI's in-house expertise, professionals from the Revenue, 

Banking and Security sectors should be inducted into the CBI.  

12. The CBI Manual based on statutory provisions of the CrPC provides essential guidelines for 

the CBI's functioning. It is imperative that the CBI adheres scrupulously to the provisions in the 

Manual in relation to its investigative functions, like raids, seizure and arrests. Any deviation 

from the established procedure should be viewed seriously and severe disciplinary action taken 

against the officials concerned.  

13. The Director, CBI shall be responsible for ensuring the filing of charge-sheets in courts 

within the stipulated time-limits, and the matter should be kept under constant review by the 

Director, CBI.  

14. A document on CBI's functioning should be published within three months to provide the 

general public with a feedback on investigations and information for redress of genuine 

grievances in a manner which does not compromise with the operational requirements of the 

CBI.  

15. Time-limit of three months for grant of sanction for prosecution must be strictly adhered to. 

However, additional time of one month may be allowed where consultation is required with the 

Attorney General (AG) or any other law officer in the AG's office. 16. The Director, CBI should 

conduct regular appraisal of personnel to prevent corruption and/ or inefficiency in the agency. 

Enforcement Directorate  

1. A Selection Committee headed by the Central Vigilance Commissioner and including the 

Home Secretary, Secretary (Personnel) and Revenue Secretary, shall prepare a panel for 

appointment of the Director, Enforcement Directorate. The appointment to the post of Director 

shall be made by the Appointments Committee of the Cabinet (ACC) from the panel 

recommended by the Selection Committee.  

2. The Director, Enforcement Directorate like the Director, CBI shall have a minimum tenure of 

two years. In his case also, premature transfer for any extraordinary reason should be approved 

by the aforesaid Selection Committee headed by the Central Vigilance Commissioner.  
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3. In view of the importance of the post of Director, Enforcement Directorate, it shall be 

upgraded to that of an Additional Secretary/ Special Secretary to the Government.  

4. Officers of the Enforcement Directorate handling sensitive assignments shall be provided 

adequate security to enable them to discharge their functions fearlessly.  

5. Extension of tenure up to the level of Joint Director in the Enforcement Directorate should be 

decided by the said Committee headed by the Central Vigilance Commissioner.  

6. There shall be no premature media publicity by the CBI/ Enforcement Directorate.  

7. Adjudication/ commencement of prosecution shall be made by the Enforcement Directorate 

within a period of one year.  

8. The Director, Enforcement Directorate shall monitor and ensure speedy completion of 

investigations/ adjudications and launching of prosecutions. Revenue Secretary must review their 

progress regularly.  

9. For speedy conduct of investigations abroad, the procedure to approve filing of applications 

for Letters Rogatory shall be streamlined and, if necessary, Revenue Secretary authorised to 

grant the approval.  

10. A comprehensive circular shall be published by the Directorate to inform the public about the 

procedures/ systems of its functioning for the sake of transparency.  

11. In-house legal advice mechanism shall be strengthened by appointment of competent legal 

advisers in the CBI/ Directorate of Enforcement.  

12. The Annual Report of the Department of Revenue shall contain a detailed account on the 

working of the Enforcement Directorate.  

Nodal Agency  

1. A Nodal Agency headed by the Home Secretary with Member (Investigation), Central Board 

of Direct Taxes, Director General, Revenue Intelligence, Director, Enforcement and Director 

CBI as members, shall be constituted for coordinated action in cases having politico-bureaucrat-

criminal nexus.  
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2. The Nodal Agency shall meet at least once every month.  

3. Working and efficacy of the Nodal Agency should be watched for about one year so as to 

improve it upon the basis of the experience gained within this period.  

Prosecution Agency  

1. A panel of competent lawyers of experience and impeccable reputation shall be prepared with 

the advice of the Attorney General. Their services shall be utilized as prosecuting counsel in 

cases of significance. Even during the course of investigation of an offence, the advice of a 

lawyer chosen from the panel should be taken by the CBI/ Enforcement Directorate.  

2. Every prosecution which results in the discharge or acquittal of the accused must be reviewed 

by a lawyer on the panel and, on the basis of the opinion given, responsibility should be fixed for 

dereliction of duty, if any, of the officer concerned. In such cases, strict action should be taken 

against the officer found guilty of dereliction of duty.  

3. The preparation of the panel of lawyers with the approval of the Attorney General shall be 

completed within three months.  

4. Steps shall be taken immediately for the constitution of an able and impartial agency 

comprising persons of unimpeachable integrity to perform functions akin to those of the Director 

of Prosecutions in U.K. On the constitution of such a body, the task of supervising prosecutions 

launched by the CBI/ Enforcement Directorate shall be entrusted to it.  

5. Till the constitution of the aforesaid body, Special Counsel shall be appointed for the conduct 

of important trials on the recommendation of the Attorney General or any other law officer 

designated by him. 
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